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WHO WE ARE

The Group was founded in 1961 as a supplier of
construction steel and materials. In the early 1990s, we
expanded our presence into Mainland China. Today,
the Group is a leading, regional construction materials
processor and a value-add real estate investor. We are
also a relevant player in bathroom and kitchen products
and represent brands like TOTO Japan, KEUCO and
DURBAN Germany, VALDAMA and AXA ltaly as well
as ASI USA. The Group has a strong presence in Hong
Kong and Eastern China. We have a growing presence
in Southern and Northeastern China. Our objective is
to be a relevant player in the markets we choose to
serve and to serve markets where our knowledge and
experience will allow for profitable growth.

We provide downstream processing, inventory
management, logistics and financing solutions for steel,
steel recycling and engineering plastics.

We provide total solutions services including installation,
inventory management, logistics, design and technical
support to developers, architects and designers for our
bathroom and kitchen products.

The Group owns and operates properties in Shanghai.
We specialize in renovation and tenant upgrade in office
buildings so as to maximize rental income and asset
value.
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WHERE WE ARE GOING

The Hong Kong construction market is expected to
remain strong in the coming years. Our Construction
Materials Business will continue to drive top line growth
by maintaining our market share of reinforcement
bar and aggressively growing our share of structural
products.

Our investment in Hong Kong’s first, automated rebar
processing and assembly plant started operations in
early 2016. Strategically located in Tsing Vi, this plant
helps to address labour shortage and aging worker
issues facing by Hong Kong construction industry by
providing automated processing and improving supply
chain efficiency. This investment makes the Hong
Kong construction industry safer, more efficient and
environmentally responsible. Automation helps improve
safety, quality control and allows for contractors to get
product that is tested and ready-to-use.

Property Investment and Project Management Business
will continue to focus on identifying potential investment
opportunities in Shanghai. As Shanghai moves to a
service-based economy, the need for quality office
space with access to metro lines and major roads
will increase. We will continue to focus on renovation
and tenant upgrade opportunities in office buildings in
Shanghai.

Building and Design Solutions Business will continue to
roll out our architectural and design centre concept to
grow retail and project sales while maintaining a strong
link to markets through our growing dealer partner
network. China’s drive for urbanization and growing
middle and upper class will help us drive our top line
strategy while allowing us to remain in the high-end
segment of the market.

Coil Processing and Distribution together with
Engineering Plastics Businesses will continue to
expand geographically to serve Southern, Eastern and
Northeastern China. Both Businesses have established
themselves as strong local players and can use the
same business model to expand throughout Mainland
China.
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MISSION

We will deliver on our vision by being responsible and relevant in
the markets we choose to participate in. We will deliver sustainable
shareholder value and the best total value solution to customers
through excellent service, an efficient supply chain, financing and
value-added processing. We will be knowledgeable of the market
and the needs of our target customers. We will hire people that
raise the average and will invest in the development of all of our
employees.

VISION

We will be a preferred investment option for our SHAREHOLDERS.
We will consistently execute on our strategies to provide desired
returns on investment and sustainable growth. All strategies will have
robust analysis and the proper market intelligence to assure delivery
of our promises to our board of directors.

We will be a preferred supplier to CUSTOMERS. They will think
of us when needing our products. Their purchasing experience
will always be pleasant, informative and helpful in meeting their
objectives.

We will be a preferred employer. We will hire only people that raise
the average. We will hire for attitude and invest in development of
our EMPLOYEES to create loyalty and love of company. We will
provide a safe and pleasant working environment with constant
learning and growth opportunities.

CORPORATE VALUES

Safe and Enjoyable Working Environment
Shareholder Value

Customer Loyalty

Integrity

Honesty and Respect

Responsiveness and Dedication

Clear and Measurable Goals

Embrace of Change

Ambition and Confidence to Excel
Teamwork
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ACIE-¥
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HIGHLIGHTS

BE
Financial Highlights HMBRHE
For the year ended 31st March BHE=ZA=+—HIFE
2018 2017
—EB-N\F 2
HKS$ million HK$ million
BEER BEBTL
Revenue A 3,033 3,023 0.3%
Gross profit E7 224 335 -33.1%
(Loss)/earnings before interests and tax B S BAT (B1B) /BH
(‘EBIT”) (TR 8B ATAF ) (©1) 401 -122.7%
(Loss)/profit attributable to owners of the ARAHEE AEMG(BE),/
Company il (148) 102 -245.1%
Basic (loss)/earnings per ordinary share FREBRER(ER),/
(HK cents) B GBI (23.02) 15.86 -38.88 centsE Il
Proposed final dividend per ordinary share EEEBRTBBRARERE
(HK cents) (BAl) 1.57 249 -0.92 centsiE
Gross profit margin eI 7.4% 1%  -37pp.ERRH
EBIT margin B BB AT BRI R -3.0% 18.3% -16.3 p.p.BED &
Net profit margin P -4.9% 34% -83pp.EDH
Return on equity [N E -14.0% 9.2% -232p.p.EDH

Revenue by Lines of Business

@ Steel Processing, Distribution and Recycling
@ Building and Design Solutions
Engineering Plastics
@ Property Investment and Project Management
Unallocated

FEEEH WA

O HMHMT - HiEKREYK
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Hong Kong &7

+ Corporate Headquarter
EE L
® Sales and Distribution
HE KD TP
® Steel Recycling Plant
S B 5 R
©® Automated Rebar
Processing and Assembly Plant
Sy W&
@ Architectural and Design Centre
BERREHRLO
© Sales Office
gL

OUR NETWORK
HPINE RS

Wuhan Hi&

@ Sales Office
SHE AL

Changshu &2k

@ Coil Processing and Stamping Plant
8 )0 T K% BR TR

i

Shanghai L&

® Sales and Distribution
SHE Koy dg

@ Sales Office
SHE A

® Sales Office
gL,

©® Office Building
WMAKRE

@ Sales and Distribution
SHE R iEh L

Ningbo 23§
® Sales Office
SHER L

Suzhou &M

® Sales Office
SHE A

|

Xiamen EF9

© Sales Office
SHEH L

Guangzhou BEM

© Sales Office
e

% Corporate Headquarter
EEAE

@ Steel Processing, Distribution and Recycling
AT - 58 KB

@ Building and Design Solutions
BEEMRRATR

@ Engineering Plastics
TREE

@ Property Investment and Project Management
PitER & MIAR BB
@ Coil Processing and Distribution
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
IFEUBRE

The following is a summary of these audited consolidated financial UTAEBBBAERERAR(TARNT]) MH
statements of Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited (the MEBEAR (MBI AEBR RN TIZEEZESE
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) for the BREEMBHREBE -

respective years as hereunder stated.

mEBEER

Consolidated Income Statement

Year ended Year ended Year ended Year ended Year ended

31st March 31st March 31st March 31st March 31st March

2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

BE BE BZE BZE BE

—Z-mF —E-FE —E-XE —E—tE = Y-

=f=+—-B =R=+-H =A=+t-H =HA=+—-H Z=R=+-H

tEE tEE tEE tEE tEE

HK$’'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000

THT FHT FHT THT TERT

Revenue WA 3,849,306 3,868,393 3,380,161 3,022,923 3,032,852

Operating profit/(loss) MEEF(FR) 114,411 347,968 212,535 400,749 (90,680)

Net finance costs FUBER (34,635) (55,267) (63,339) (117,121) (65,698)

Profit/(loss) before income tax B & 5% F/ (E548) 149,356 293,575 146,269 247,117 (142,012)

Income tax (expense)/credit  FiEF (X ) /K% (44,537) (74,309) (75,005) (147,981) 1,772

Profit/(loss) for the year FEERA/(EE) 104,819 219,266 71,264 99,136 (140,240)
Attributable to: JE 1

Owners of the Company AREHEE A 103,708 215,533 70,105 101,776 (147,712)

Non-controlling interests FEFE M e 1,111 3,733 1,159 (2,640) 7,472

104,819 219,266 71,264 99,136 (140,240)

Dividends s 31,094 46,785 17,950 30,490 10,057

8 Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited EBESERAR AT



Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
AFEPHRE

maEMBRRR

As at As at As at As at As at
31st March 31st March 31st March 31st March 31st March
2014 2015 2016 2017 2018
R-E-MFE RKR-E-EF RHR-E-XF RHR-E-tF HR-E-N\F
=A=+-B =A=+-B =A=+—-H =A=+—-H =A=+-H
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FET FET FET FATL FET
Non-current assets ERBEE 1,396,632 1,549,725 2,110,217 1,581,056 1,604,281
Current assets TEEE 1,256,341 1,372,081 1,421,542 1,802,843 1,527,607
Current liabilities TEAE (1,197,426) (1,118,052) (1,118,640) (1,666,950) (1,350,186)
Non-current liabilities ERHaE (673,915) (731,653) (1,351,616) (586,051) (694,261)
Net assets BEFHE 781,632 1,072,101 1,061,503 1,130,898 1,087,441
Equity: B
Share capital & 7R 41,770 63,227 64,064 64,188 64,055
Reserves 5 739,422 1,007,954 995,360 1,045,323 993,648
Capital and reserves e ABGERAR
attributable to owners B 781,192 1,071,181 1,059,424 1,109,511 1,057,703
Non-controlling interests e AR 440 920 2,079 21,387 29,738
Total equity BREH 781,632 1,072,101 1,061,503 1,130,898 1,087,441

Annual Report 2017/18 53§
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
TRBES

Favorable policies and
government planning

Creating more opportunities
and higher return

A FI R I BT 5 8l
TREZHE L ESEHK

Yao Cho Fai Andrew
ok 18 &

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board”) of Hong Kong
Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited (“HKSHA” or the “Company”)
and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”), | hereby present the
audited consolidated results of the Group for the year ended 31st
March 2018 (the “Year”).

Last year was undoubtedly a challenging year for steel processors,
where the ambiguous political environment and diverging economic
development have caused excessive fluctuations in steel price.
On the domestic front, the Central government has shown strong
determination in implementing production capacity reduction on
steel, in which, according to the guidelines of the “China Steel
Industry Adjustment and Upgrading Plan (2016 — 2020)”, net
crude steel production capacity will be reduced to between 100
million and 150 million tons by 2020. Significant progress has

Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited SEBESERAR AT
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been made in 2017, with the plan receiving overwhelming support
from local governments, and over 100 million tons of production
capacity was being eliminated in the past two years. In addition to
the aforementioned plan, the National Development and Reform
Commission also announced the elimination of an additional 140
million tons of “poor quality” steel production capacity. As a result of
the merged two key supply-side reform strategies during the Year, it
has led to a significant decrease in steel supply, resulting in a sharp
increase in steel price. At the same time, the uncertainties arose
from the international political environment had also caused material
impact on the commodities market, leading to a further increase
in steel price. As the Group generally requires a project pricing of
as long as one year, the sharp increase in steel price has led to
deteriorating margins on the Group’s pre-signed contracts, thus
causing a negative impact on the Group’s financial performance.

Despite all the negativities in the steel market, the Group remains
optimistic in the long-term development of the construction industry
in Hong Kong, as favourable policies and government planning were
recently announced. Furthermore, the Hong Kong government has
also been proactively promoting the adoption of technologies, as
well as innovative construction methods to improve productivity
and cost-effectiveness. For instance, the Hong Kong government
has started to support the establishment of large-scale, highly-
automated steel reinforcing bar prefabrication plants for the
production of prefabricated steel reinforcement components. This
will create opportunities for the Group to capture, as it continued its
downward migration along the value chain by providing one-stop
solutions covering the processing, logistics and new product needs.

In additional to the prosperous local market, the affluent Greater Bay
Area composing of namely, Hong Kong, Macau and Guangzhou,
also represents another window of opportunities. In terms of
economic power, the area’s total gross domestic product was about
RMB10.49 trillion during the year of 2017, equivalent to 14% of the
national economic aggregate. On top of its flourishing economy,
the population of the area summed to approximately 120 million,
sharing a similar size with Mexico and Japan. In light of these two
conditions, the Group is confident that there will be enormous
potentials to be seized. Other than the advantageous demographics,
the area also carries the aim of becoming a mega-sized economic,
cultural, leisure, and talent hub, and to achieve the goal and support
its exponential growth, the area will demand additional infrastructure
in the medium-to-long-run, as supplement to the current Hong
Kong-Zhuhai-Macao Bridge and Guangzhou-Shenzhen-Hong
Kong Express Rail Link. In view of the vast demand in the near
future, there will be further opportunities for the Group to provide
construction materials and its tailor-made solutions to construction
projects in the area.

CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
TRE/ES

On the other hand, regarding the Group’s Property Investment and
Project Management Business, we continue to position as a value-
added real estate investor and a property enhancement specialist
focusing on office properties in Shanghai. As Shanghai continues its
transition into a global economic hub, the Group sees an expanding
mismatch between the strong demand for quality office space, and
the lack of affordable Grade-A office supply in Shanghai. Through
our project management arm, Hongkong and Shanghai Land Capital
Ltd. (“HSL”), which has proven track record in asset revitalization
and optimization including the re-positioning, re-development, re-
leasing and refurbishment of commercial assets, the Group is now
equipped with a strong business network with leading state-owned
enterprises, local governments and property developers, capable of
capturing future opportunities.

Looking forward, the Group expects the difficult steel market shall
stabilize while there will still be ample opportunities to catch. From
the industry perspective, fluctuations in steel price shall hover,
where reduction on production capacity of steel will be maintained
as environmental concerns continue to grow, and the tension within
the global market shall retain and cause ambiguity. Nevertheless,
with a forecasted growth rate of 6.6% of the China’s economy, the
Group remains confident in our Construction Materials and Property
Investment and Project Management Businesses as favourable
policies and promising microeconomics will prevail.

Furthermore, to realize the aforesaid potentials from the flourishing
Hong Kong construction sector and the Greater Bay area, the
Group has acquired the remaining stake of TVSC Construction
Steel Solutions Limited (“TVSC”, now known as VSC Construction
Steel Solutions Limited) from NatSteel Holdings Pte. Ltd.. This will
allow the Group to further integrate its process flow of combining
steel trading, steel processing, and steel scrap into one, and to fully
enjoy the upcoming infrastructure boom as well as the increasing
emphasis of off-site, prefabricated construction materials in Hong
Kong. In addition, TVSC being one of the two suppliers registered on
the ‘List of Approved Steel Reinforcing Bar Prefabrication Yard for
Public Works’, the Group will be able to further expand its clientele,
by providing construction steel to the ever-growing housing market.

Regarding the Property Investment and Project Management
segment, we will endure to provide one-stop solutions for revitalizing
under-performing commercial buildings to valuable assets under the
professional teams of HSL. In addition, leveraging our proven track
record, the Group will continue to look for quality partners for setting
up joint venture and/or fund partnership for business expansion.
This will allow the Group to enjoy certain flexibility on capital
requirements, while still be able to capture projects which have
higher investment requirement and greater potential and returns.

Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited EBESERAR AT
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With all the aforementioned strategies, the Group is optimistic that
a strong foundation has been laid, setting the ground for a strong
rebound in the coming years.

Last but not least, | would like to take this opportunity to express
gratitude to our employees and stakeholders for your dedicated
effort in supporting the Group’s continuous business transformation,
where we shift our position from a product distributor to a solutions
provider. | would also like to extend my gratitude to the relevant
government entities for facilitating our business transformation, but
more importantly, your unequivocal support in transforming the
Hong Kong construction industry into a safer and more efficient
model. Lastly, | would like to show my utmost appreciation to our
shareholders, for your trust and patience under the wildly-changing
market environment, and the Group will strive to deliver long-term
and greater returns to shareholders.

Yao Choi Fai Andrew
Chairman

22nd June 2018
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEENWE D

One-stop solutions in
asset revitalization and optimization
Building up a strong foundation for greater potential

Central Park Pudong
PBERR

REEH@EIL
M — VAN BRR T =
D REEREERRED

OVERVIEW e

For the Year, the Group recorded a revenue of approximately RARFEE  KNERESE I A 43,032,900,000 74
HK$3,032.9 million, which was comparable to the revenue of JT ¢ ¥ & F U A 4 A 3,022,900,0007 7T ° A
approximately HK$3,022.9 million of last year. However, due to m BRIV EBERRNEEHENTI LS R
the continuous adverse fluctuation of steel price in the Year and 2 ERATMEBEER NG RAEANEmEE
the negative impact arising from the adverse market situation in REFGESEAFERARAEAE ARBMLERED
global commodity market, the Group recorded a loss attributable to 147,700,000 70 * ¥ EF AR Al #HEH AEL
owners of the Company of approximately HK$147.7 million in the S %1 49 5£101,800,0005% 7T °

Year, as compared to a profit attributable to owners of the Company

of approximately HK$101.8 million of last year.

The basic loss per ordinary share was HK23.02 cents for the Year, EEEFEFER LT BEIREARNRF5.868 1 @ ANFE
contrary to the basic earnings per ordinary share of HK15.86 cents EZEBRIEEKRERNEIE 5£23.0281l -
last year.

The Board has recommended a final dividend of HK1.57 cents (2017: EFEeEERNAEESRETEIR157EWL(=
HK2.49 cents) per ordinary share for the Year. T—tF 2498\ KRR E

Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited BB SIERERAT



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS REVIEW

Property Investment and Project Management Business

We are a value-added real estate investor and a property
enhancement specialist. Our Property Investment and Project
Management Business consists of (i) direct acquisitions of properties
for investment such as our wholly-owned Central Park Pudong,
which generates rental income and appreciation in fair value to
the Group; and (i) investments in properties via partnerships or
investment funds where the Group takes equity stake and acts a
general partner and/or investment manager to earn fee income.

The Group focuses on office properties in Shanghai, which is the
most economically-developed, financial and economic center of
China. Its steady-growing GDP, driven by tertiary industries such as
finance, technology and advanced businesses, along with initiatives
such as Shanghai Free Trade Zone and the Shanghai-Hong Kong
Stock Connect introduced by the Central Government, have
together generated sustainable demand in premium-grade offices,
which lead to an increasing rental level.

Our project management arm Hongkong and Shanghai Land
Capital Ltd. is a boutique property project manager, together
with its affiliated companies (collectively, “HSL”) have a team of
industry veterans and proven track record in asset revitalization
and optimization. HSL provides integrated value-add framework
which involves re-positioning, re-development, re-leasing
and refurbishment of commercial assets. It carries out value
enhancement works on the properties and their surrounding
common areas at a minimum renovation cost, while implementing

BELELIES
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEER W R DT

successfully leasing strategy to remix tenants in order to secure
premium tenants and drive up rental income, with the eventual target
of generating significant capital gains for the Group’s investments.
The team’s members have substantial business experience in
Greater China, and HSL has built a strong business network with
leading state-owned enterprises, local governments and property
developers in Shanghai. Through the concerted efforts of these
specialists, HSL carries out refurbishment works to improve tenancy
mix and maximize occupancy rate, which involves active property
management through partnership with experts for accretion of fair
value of our wholly-owned investment property, as well as our non-
controlling investment property via the partnership.

During the Year, our Property Investment and Project Management
Business recorded a net profit of approximately HK$38.3 million
on revenue of approximately HK$63.0 million, versus a net profit
of approximately HK$173.8 million on revenue of approximately
HK$72.9 million of last year. The decrease in net profit was mainly
due to a smaller valuation gain of approximately HK$11.1 million on
our wholly-owned Central Park Pudong was recorded in the Year,
versus valuation gain of approximately HK$272.0 million recorded in
last year.

Central Park Pudong is a 12-storey (plus one basement level) office
building with a total gross floor area of approximately 33,191.02
square meter located in Pudong New District, Shanghai Municipality,
PRC. It is conveniently located near a metro station in a developing
business area of China (Shanghai) Pilot Free Trade Zone, with close
proximity to the central districts of Shanghai and is equipped with
a Grade-A structure. HSL has carried out value enhancement work
(including re-design, renovation, rebranding, sales and marketing
to bring about an improvement in tenant mix, occupancy rate and
rental income) and has successfully transformed Central Park
Pudong into a modern and well-equipped Grade-A office building to
cater for the high demand of premium quality offices in financial and
commercial districts of Shanghai.

As of 31st March 2018, Central Park Pudong’s occupancy rate was
approximately 76.0%, increased by 17.7% year-on-year (“YOY”).
Based on a valuation report issued by an independent international
property valuer, the carrying amount of this investment property
is approximately HK$1,380.6 million (equivalent to approximately
RMB1,108.0 million) at end of the Year, resulted in a valuation gain
of approximately HK$11.1 million and a related deferred tax liability
provision of approximately HK$2.8 million for the Year.

Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited EBESERAR AT
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Our 29.44% investment in Park Lane Shanghai was acquired by
our first investment fund partnership HSL China Metropolitan Fund
| L.P. (the “Partnership”) and managed under HSL. After HSL's
refurbishment plan, Park Lane Shanghai was repositioned as a
high-end residential property, and the Partnership disposed its
investment in Park Lane Shanghai to an independent third party
in September 2017 at a gain. The Partnership distributed our
initial capital investment of RMB106.0 million to the Group in late
September 2017, and the Partnership has made a final distribution
for the disposal gain (net of expenses and tax) of HK$42.6 million to
the Group in the second half of the Year. As a result of the disposal,
HSL has received a disposal fee income and an upside bonus from
the Partnership. During the Year, the Group shared a net profit of
approximately HK$39.4 million, versus a net loss of approximately
HK$13.8 million of last year from the investment. HSL recorded an
asset management fee income and a disposal fee income totaling
approximately HK$31.2 million in the Year, up by approximately
HK$21.1 million over that of last year.

Building and Design Solutions Business

Our Building and Design Solutions Business provides a
comprehensive value proposition that includes design, installation,
inventory management, logistics as well as technical support of
bathroom and kitchen products to developers, architects, designers
and distributor partners. As one of the established players in the
market, we offer an expansive product portfolio covering various
well-known brands.

The Building and Design Solutions Business recorded a net profit
of approximately HK$19.9 million on revenue of approximately
HK$330.1 million in the Year, versus a net profit of approximately
HK$23.5 million on revenue of approximately HK$490.7 million in
last year. The decrease in revenue was mainly caused by a delay
in delivery of major projects and slow supplies from suppliers in the
PRC.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEN N DT

Construction Materials Business

Construction Materials Business comprises Hong Kong construction
products processing and distribution, surface critical coil processing
and distribution, steel recycling and reinforcing bar processing and
assembly business.

The Construction Material Business recorded a total revenue of
approximately HK$2,231.6 million for the Year, up approximately
4.6% compared with last year, primarily due to the increase in
average selling price. Our tons sold decreased by 13.6%, primarily
due to infrastructure projects delay in Hong Kong, caused by the
filibustering at the Legislative Council.

Net loss of Construction Materials Business was approximately
HK$131.2 million, versus a net loss of approximately HK$23.3
million of last year. The increase of net loss in the Year was mainly
due to (i) a net loss of HK$25.0 million from our 50%-owned TVSC
Construction Steel Solutions Limited (“TVSC”, now known as VSC
Construction Steel Solutions Limited); (ii) the continuous adverse
fluctuation of steel price and the negative impact arising from the
adverse market situation in global commodity market; and (iii) the
increase of onerous contract provision by approximately HK$24.7
million to approximately HK$26.7 million in the Year.

e

Automated Rebar Processing and

20
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Surface Critical Coil Solutions
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Engineering Plastics Business

The Engineering Plastics Business recorded a revenue of
approximately HK$378.5 million, increased by approximately 27.5%
YOY, with tons sold also increased by approximately 8.3% YOY,
as we moved away from customers where margins were too low or
credit risk was high, and focused on high growth segments. This
business recorded an audited net profit of approximately HK$13.0
million in the Year, up approximately 331.6% YOY, driven by higher
margins, lower expense, strong growth in selected segments and
geographic expansion.

Plastics

2B B

OUTLOOK

Property Investment and Project Management Business

As Shanghai will be upgrading its innovative manufacturing and
transforming into a global hub by 2020, it is expected that there
will be a massive increase in demand for commercial buildings.
Targeting to unleash such potentials, we will continue to focus on
the Shanghai market for good property investment opportunities.
Our wholly-owned Central Park Pudong targets to increase its
occupancy rate to over 85% in the near future.

The Group will endure to provide one-stop solutions for revitalizing
under-performing commercial buildings to valuable assets under the
professional teams of HSL. In addition, leveraging our proven track
record, the Group will continue to look for quality partners for setting
up joint venture and/or fund partnership for business expansion.
This will allow the Group to enjoy certain flexibility on capital
requirements, while still be able to capture projects which have
higher investment requirement and greater potential and returns.

Building and Design Solutions Business

We will continue to roll out our segment based growth strategy for
our Building and Design Solutions Business. Our brand partners
continue to have a strong market presence and our project strategy
has allowed us to capture large and iconic projects in Hong Kong
and Macau.
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We expect the difficult steel market shall stabilize while there will still
be ample opportunities. From the industry perspective, fluctuations
in steel price shall hover, where reduction on production capacity of
steel will be maintained as environmental concerns continue to grow,
and the tension within the global market shall retain. Nevertheless,
with a forecasted growth rate of 6.6% of the China’s economy, the
Group remains confident in our Construction Materials Business as
favourable policies and promising microeconomics will prevail.

Furthermore, to realize the vast potentials from the flourishing Hong
Kong construction sector and the Greater Bay area, the Group
has acquired the remaining 50% equity interest of TVSC from
NatSteel Holdings Pte. Ltd. in May 2018. This will allow the Group
to further integrate its process flow of combining steel trading,
steel processing, and steel scrap into one, and to fully enjoy the
upcoming infrastructure boom as well as the increasing emphasis
of off-site, prefabricated construction materials in Hong Kong. In
addition, TVSC being one of the two suppliers registered on the “List
of Approved Steel Reinforcing Bar Prefabrication Yard for Public
Works” in Hong Kong, the Group will be able to further expand its
clientele, by providing construction steel to the ever-growing housing
market.

According to the press release dated 29th May 2018 on the “Chief
Executive Hong Kong Special Administrative Region” website, 29
government construction projects totalling HK$68 billion had been
approved by the Public Works Subcommittee of the Hong Kong
Legislative Council (“Legco”), in which 10 government projects
totalling HK$37.4 billion could be kickstarted as they had also been
approved by the Finance Committee of the Legco. With seven
more Finance Committee meetings, seven more Public Works
Subcommittee meetings, and five more Staffing Subcommittee
meetings until the summer recess of the 2017/18 legislative year,
the Chief Executive of Hong Kong remains optimistic towards the
approval of projects, meaning there is a strong project pipeline in
the future. Furthermore, the government’s initiative to set up a HK$1
billion “Construction Innovation and Technology Fund” as proposed
in the 2018-19 Budget will expedite the transformation of the
construction industry through innovation and technology adoption.
The Budget also indicated that the government will adopt building
information modelling technology in the design and construction
of major government capital works projects. It will help equip the
industry and encourage the use of such technology in private works
projects. With the government’s support in large-scale, highly-
automated steel reinforcing bar prefabrication plants for production
of prefabricated steel reinforcement components, it will create
opportunities for the Group to capture, as it continues its downward
migration along the value chain by providing one-stop solutions
covering the processing, logistics and new product needs.

Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited EBESERAR AT
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Our Engineering Plastics Business has been undergoing a major
re-organization over the past two years, as we moved away from
segments such as toys, and moved towards to segments such
as home appliances, consumer electronics and automotive, while
changing our offer to include higher margin products and services.
We remain confident in our new model of specialized segment sales,
as the transformation is yielding margin enhancement, working
capital improvement and sustainable growth.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Compared with the financial year ended 31st March 2017, as at 31st
March 2018, the Group’s total assets decreased from approximately
HK$3,383.9 million to approximately HK$3,131.9 million. The
Group’s inventories decreased from approximately HK$395.6 million
to approximately HK$289.6 million. The average inventory days of
supply decreased by 16 days to 38 days. The Group’s trade and
bill receivables increased from approximately HK$495.0 million to
approximately HK$528.2 million. The average overall day of sales
outstanding increased from 56 days to 61 days. Net assets value
of the Group maintained at approximately HK$1,130.9 million as at
31st March 2017 to approximately HK$1,087.4 million, equivalent to
HK$1.70 per ordinary share as at 31st March 2018.

Compared with the financial position at 31st March 2017, the
Group’s cash and cash equivalents and pledged bank deposits,
decreased by approximately HK$326.5 million to approximately
HK$370.6 million while the Group’s borrowings decreased by
approximately HK$163.5 million to approximately HK$1,558.9
million as at 31st March 2018. Current ratio increased from 1.08 to
1.13, while gearing ratio (net debt, which is total borrowings minus
pledged bank deposits and cash and cash equivalents, divided by
capital and reserves attributable to owners of the Company plus net
debt) increased from 48% to 53%.

The Group’s financing and treasury activities are centrally managed
and controlled at the corporate level. The Group’s overall treasury
and funding policies focus on managing financial risks including
interest rate and foreign exchange risks; on cost efficient funding of
the Company and its subsidiaries; and on yield enhancement from
time to time when the Group’s cash position allows. The Group
has always adhered to prudent financial management principles,
including the selection of investment securities according to the
Group’s treasury investment policy.
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The Group’s trade financing remained primarily supported by its
bank trading and term loan facilities. As at 31st March 2018, about
37.8% of the Group’s interest-bearing borrowings for trade financing
purpose and financing of investment properties were denominated
in HK dollar, about 41.3% in RMB and about 20.9% in US dollar.
These facilities are either secured by the Group’s inventory held
under short-term trust receipts bank loan arrangement and/or
pledged bank deposits and/or corporate guarantee provided by the
Company. All of the above borrowings were on floating rate basis.
Interest costs of import bank loans were levied on interbank offered
rates plus very competitive margin. RMB loans and bill exchange
facilities of the Group have been obtained from domestic and foreign
banks in the amount of RMB90.4 million. Interest costs of RMB
banking facilities were based on standard loan rates set by the
People’s Bank of China adjusted with competitive margin.

As at 31st March 2018, the Group had certain charges on assets
which included (i) bank deposits of approximately HK$57.8 million
which were pledged as collateral for the Group’s bill payables; and
(i) an investment property of approximately HK$1,380.6 million
which were pledged as collaterals for certain bank borrowings of the
Group.

The Group’s businesses are primarily transacted in HK dollars, US
dollars and RMB. As exchange rate between HK dollars and the
US dollars is pegged, the Group believes its exposure to exchange
rate risk arising from US dollars is not material. Facing the volatility
of RMB, the Group will continue to match RMB payments with RMB
receipts to minimise exchange exposure.

Forward foreign exchange contracts would be entered into when
suitable opportunities arise and when management of the Group
considers appropriate, to hedge against major non-HK dollars
currency exposures. It is the Group’s policy not to enter into any
derivative transaction for speculative purposes.

As at 31st March 2018, the Group’s had no material contingent
liability.

Save as disclosed in Note 36 to the accompanying consolidated
financial statements, the Group did not have any material
acquisitions and disposals of subsidiaries and associated companies
during the Year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

KEY RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

We believe the Group’s financial condition, results of operations,
and business prospects may be affected by certain risks and
uncertainties directly or indirectly pertaining to the Group’s
businesses, some of which are beyond our control. The followings
are the major risks and uncertainties identified by the Group. There
may be other possibly risks and uncertainties which we are not
aware of or which may not be material at present but may turn out to
be material in the future.

The Group’s overall treasury and funding policies focus on managing
financial risks including interest rate, foreign exchange and
liquidity risks. The Group has always adhered to prudent financial
management principles. Facing the volatility of RMB, the Group will
match RMB payments with RMB receipts to minimize exchange
exposure. Forward foreign exchange contracts would be entered
into when suitable opportunities arise and when management of
the Group considers appropriate, to hedge against major non-HK
dollars currency exposures. The Group always monitors cash flows
and maintains an adequate level of cash and cash equivalents to
ensure the ability to finance the Group’s operations and reduce the
effects of fluctuation in cash flows to mitigate liquidity risk.

The Group may face operational risk resulting from inadequate or
deficiency in internal processes, people and systems or from external
events. The Group has clear responsibility and accountability rests
with every function at divisional and departmental levels. The Group
are governed and guided by good standard operating procedures,
proper authorization policies and reporting framework. Our
management will identify and assess key operational exposures from
time to time to adjust potential risk response.

The Group’s business performance will be affected by various
factors, including but not limited to economic conditions, competitive
environment of steel industry, performance of property markets
and regulatory changes in regions where our business carry on or
investments locate, which would not be mitigated even with careful
and prudent investment strategy and strict procedure.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEER W R DT

The Group may face the risk of not being able to attract and retain
key personnel and talents with appropriate and required skKills,
experience and competence to meet the business objectives and
strategy. We will provide attractive remuneration package to suitable
candidates and personnel. Through training of existing personnel
and hiring of new personnel that raise the average, we continue to
create a great team capable of making sure we are one of the best
long-term investments for our shareholders and a great place to
work for our employees.

HUMAN CAPITAL

The Group is focusing on building an elite team to help lead the
Group to future success. Our growth strategy has always included
a strong sense of commitment to people. We provide competitive
remuneration package to attract and motivate the employees.
We always provide a safe and pleasant working environment with
constant learning and growth opportunities.

As at 31st March 2018, the Group employed 235 staff. Total staff
costs including contribution to retirement benefit schemes incurred
during the Year amounted to approximately HK$113.1 million. During
the Year, no options have been offered and/or granted to directors
and our employees under the share option scheme adopted on 11th
August 2011.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE

The Group is committed to achieving environmental sustainability.
Our commitment to protect the environment is well reflected by our
continuous efforts in promoting green measures and awareness in
our daily business operations.

We encourage environmental protection and promote awareness
towards environmental protection to the employees. The Group
adheres to the principle of recycling and reducing. It implements
green office practices such as double-sided printing and copying,
setting up recycling bins, promoting using recycled paper and
reducing energy consumption by switching off idle lightings and
electrical appliance.

We care about the communities where we are active and
continuously support social initiatives. The Group has sponsored
and participated in a wide range of charitable activities. Our
employees have also participated in various corporate social
responsibility initiatives. We care about our employees. We will
provide an enjoyable working environment and an integrity platform
to ensure employees’ well-being and safety.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

We were awarded as the “Caring Company” from The Hong Kong
Council of Social Service since 2007, as “Heart to Heart Company”
by the Hong Kong Federation of Youth Group in 2010.

The Group has formulated a clear organisational structure and
accountability for implementation of procedures and monitoring of
risk, which help ensure adequacy and effectiveness of controls over
the reliability of financial reporting, effectiveness and efficiency of
operations and compliance with applicable laws and regulations.

During the Year, as far as the Company is concerned, there was
no material breach of or non-compliance with applicable laws
and regulations by the Group that has a significant impact on the
business and operations of the Group.

In accordance with Rule 13.91 of the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Listing Rules”), the Company will publish an Environmental, Social
and Governance Report within three months after the publication
of this annual report in compliance with the provisions set out in
the “Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide” in
Appendix 27 to the Listing Rules.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH STAKEHOLDERS

We have a deep sense of obligation to our stakeholders. We will
consistently execute our strategies to provide desired returns
on investment and sustainable growth to our shareholders. We
recognise that employees are our valuable assets. We hire people
for attitude and invest in development of our employees to create
loyalty and love to the Company. We understand the importance
of maintaining good relationship with our stakeholders (employees,
customers, suppliers and business partners) to achieve our
long-term goals. To accomplish this, we continue to get closer
to our stakeholders, build lasting relationship, and keep good
communication to understand their needs and share with them our
business development. During the Year, there was no material and
significant dispute between the Company and its stakeholders.

APPRECIATION

We are grateful to our dedicated employees, loyal customers,
suppliers, banking partners and shareholders for their constant
support.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

TEERRSE

The board of directors (the “Board”) of Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance
Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is committed to maintaining high
standards of corporate governance. It believes that high standards
of corporate governance provide a framework and solid foundation
for the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”)
to manage business risks, enhance transparency, maintain high
standards of accountability and protect shareholders’ interest in
general. The Company has applied the principles and complied with
the applicable code provisions of the Corporate Governance Code
(the “CG Code”) as set out in Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Listing Rules”) except for CG Code provision A.2.1 for
the year ended 31st March 2018 (the “Year”).

The Board will continuously review and improve the corporate
governance practices and standards of the Company to ensure that
business activities and decision making processes are regulated in a
proper and prudent manner.

CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY
DIRECTORS AND RELEVANT EMPLOYEES

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers as set out in Appendix
10 of the Listing Rules, as amended from time to time, as its own
code of conduct (the “Company’s Model Code”) regarding securities
transactions by the directors of the Company (the “Directors”).
Having made specific enquiry of all Directors, they all confirmed
that they have complied with the required standard as set out in the
Company’s Model Code during the Year. The Company’s Model
Code also applies to other specified relevant employees of the Group
who are considered to be likely in possession of inside information in
respect of their dealings in the securities of the Company.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

THE BOARD

As at the date of this report, the Board consists of three Executive
Directors and four Independent Non-executive Directors. The
composition of the Board during the Year and up to the date of this
report is set out as follows:

Mr. Yao Cho Fai Andrew (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Ms. Luk Pui Yin Grace
Mr. Lau Chi Chiu

Mr. Tam King Ching Kenny
Mr. Xu Lin Bao

Mr. Tse Lung Wa Teddy
Mr. Yeung Wing Sun Mike

The brief biographical details of the Directors are set out in the “Profile
of Directors and Senior Management” on pages 57 to 60 of this
annual report.

Throughout the Year and up to the date of this report, the Company
has four Independent Non-executive Directors exceeding one-third
of the Board. One of the Independent Non-executive Directors has
the appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related
financial management expertise under Rule 3.10 of the Listing Rules.
Each of the Independent Non-executive Directors has made an
annual confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of
the Listing Rules. The Company is of the view that all Independent
Non-executive Directors meet the independence guidelines set out
in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and are independent in accordance
with the terms of the guidelines. The Board members have no
financial, business, family or other material relevant relationships with
each other.

The Executive Directors are responsible for managing the overall
business. They are mainly involved in the formulation and execution
of the corporate strategies. The Independent Non-executive
Directors consist of eminent business executives from Hong Kong
and Mainland China, who provide independent advices to the
management through their wide range of skills and experiences. The
Executive Directors have regular meetings with general managers
of respective business units and key staff of support units to
discuss major business plans and review operational and financial
performance. The Independent Non-executive Directors are also
invited to participate in special review meetings.
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TEERRSE

The Company has established four Board Committees, namely
Executive Committee, Remuneration Committee, Audit Committee
and Nomination Committee, to oversee various aspects of the
affairs.

The Board has reserved for its decision or consideration matters
covering mainly the Group’s overall strategy, annual operating
budget, annual and interim results, Directors’ appointment or
re-appointment (based on the recommendations made by the
Nomination Committee), material contracts and transactions,
corporate governance as well as other significant policy and financial
matters. The daily operations of the Group’s business are executed
by the management of the respective business units under the
instruction and supervision of the Executive Committee which has its
special written terms of reference.

The Board meets regularly to discuss the overall strategy as well as
the operation and financial performance of the Group, and to review
and approve the Group’s annual and interim results and other ad
hoc matters which need to be dealt with. Individual attendance
records of each Director at the meetings of the Board, Remuneration
Committee, Audit Committee and Nomination Committee as well as
general meeting during the Year are set out below:
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Number of meetings attended/held

HE " BITEBEZRE

Remuneration Audit  Nomination General
Name of Directors Committee Committee Committee Meeting
BEpg yMzEe EKZEE REZEE BRRAE
Executive Directors: HiTEE:
Mr. Yao Cho Fai Andrew hiEBEE 4/4 1 - 11 1

(Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)  (ZEZEEHTE)

Ms. Luk Pui Yin Grace BERALL 3/4 - - - il
Mr. Lau Chi Chiu 2 FHmEL 3/4 - - - 0N
Independent Non-executive Directors: BV F#iTE%
Mr. Tam King Ching Kenny ERELE 4/4 1/1 2/2 1/1 1/1
Mr. Xu Lin Bao GRELAE 3/4 il 2/2 11 11
Mr. Tse Lung Wa Teddy WEELA 4/4 1 2/2 = 11
Mr. Yeung Wing Sun Mike BELEE 4/4 - 2/2 1/ 1/1
Total Number of Meetings Held BIEREY 4 1 2 1 1
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

Board meetings for each year are scheduled in advance to give all
Directors an opportunity to attend, and are structured to encourage
open discussion. At least 14 days’ notice of a Board meeting
is normally given to all Directors who are given an opportunity
to include matters for discussion in the agenda. The Company
Secretary assists the Chairman of the Board in preparing the agenda
for meetings and ensures that all applicable rules and regulations are
complied with. Draft minutes of each Board meeting are circulated
to all Directors for their comment before being tabled at the following
Board meeting for approval. All minutes and resolutions of the Board
are taken and kept by the Company Secretary and these minutes
and resolutions, together with any supporting board papers, are
open for inspection at any reasonable time on reasonable notice by
any Director.

The Board members have access to appropriate business
documents and information about the Group on a timely basis. The
Directors are free to have access to the management for enquiries
and to obtain further information when required. The Directors are
encouraged to update their skills and knowledge, and familiarity
with the Group through ongoing participation at Board and Board
Committees meetings. All Directors also have access to external
legal counsel and other professionals for independent advice at the
Company’s expense if they require it.

DIRECTORS’ CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT

On appointment to the Board, each Director receives a
comprehensive induction package covering policy and procedures
of the Company as well as the general, statutory and regulatory
obligations of being a Director to ensure that he/she is sufficiently
aware of his/her responsibilities under the Listing Rules and other
relevant regulatory requirements. All Directors shall participate in
continuous professional development to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills.

The Directors are from time to time provided materials on
amendments to or updates on the relevant laws, rules and
regulations to ensure that their contribution to the Board remains
informed and relevant. The Company has been encouraging the
Directors and senior management to participate in a wide range
of professional development courses and seminars relating to the
Listing Rules, applicable regulatory requirements and corporate
governance practices organized by professional bodies and/or
independent auditors to further improve their relevant knowledge
and skills.

All Directors have confirmed that they have participated in
appropriate continuous professional development activities by
attending seminar or conference relating to the Company’s business
or corporate governance and regulations or by reading materials
relevant to their duties and responsibilities during the Year.
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TEERRSE

Participation of Directors in continuous professional development
activities for the Year is set out below:

EENAFE2EAFBEERERL
T

ey

Reading Attending

journals, workshops,

updates, articles seminars,

and/or relevant conferences

Name of Directors materials and/or forums

FESH - &5 HETES -

B - XERS g 83

EEpE N AE B E R &/ RimiE

Executive Directors: HITESE -
Mr. Yao Cho Fai Andrew w48 98 S A 4 4
(Chairman and Chief Executive Officer) (FEFREEHITE)

Ms. Luk Pui Yin Grace B M 98 20+ 4 4

Mr. Lau Chi Chiu Bl FiEBL A v v
Independent Non-executive Directors: BIIHFHITESE :

Mr. Tam King Ching Kenny EHIELAE 4 v

Mr. Xu Lin Bao RMERE v =

Mr. Tse Lung Wa Teddy HEEE LA v =

Mr. Yeung Wing Sun Mike B S A 4 4

BOARD DIVERSITY EEEREZ I
The Board has adopted the Board Diversity Policy in July 2013. EFeRN _E—="F+tAERNEFTLZTILEK

Under the Policy, the Company recognizes and embraces the
benefits of having a diverse Board to enhance the quality of its
performance. Selection of candidates will be based on a range
of diversity perspectives, which would include but not limited to
gender, age, cultural and educational background, professional and
industry experience, skills, knowledge and length of service. The
ultimate decision will be based on merit and contribution that the
selected candidates will bring to the Board.

At present, more than half of the Directors on the Board are
Independent Non-executive Directors. The Board composition
reflects various cultural and educational backgrounds, professional
development, length of service, knowledge of the Company and a
broad range of individual attributes, interests and values. The Board
considers the current composition has provided the Company with
a good balance and diversity of skills and experience appropriate to
the requirements of its business. The Board will continue to review
its composition from time to time taking into consideration specific
needs for the Group’s business.
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DIRECTORS’ AND OFFICERS’ INSURANCE

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance coverage in
respect of legal actions against the Directors and officers within the
Group.

ROLES OF CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE

The Chairman of the Board and the Chief Executive Officer (i.e.
the Chief Executive) is now Mr. Yao Cho Fai Andrew. CG Code
provision A.2.1 stipulates that the roles of the chairman and the chief
executive should be separated and should not be performed by the
same individual. The Board believes that the vesting of the roles of
both Chairman and Chief Executive Officer in Mr. Yao will enable him
to continue to provide the Group with strong leadership, efficiency
usage of resources as well as allow for effective planning, formulation
and implementation of the Company’s business strategies which
will enable the Group to sustain the development of its business
efficiently. The day-to-day management and operation of the Group
will continue to be the responsibility of the management team under
the monitor of the Executive Committee and Mr. Yao’s leadership.

SPECIFIC TERMS OF
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company’s Non-executive Directors are appointed for a specific
term. They (including all other Directors) are subject to retirement by
rotation and re-election at the annual general meeting at least once
every three years according to the Company’s Bye-laws.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established various committees, including the
Executive Committee, the Remuneration Committee, the Audit
Committee and the Nomination Committee, each of which has
its specific written terms of reference. Minutes of all committee
meetings and resolutions are taken and kept by the Company
Secretary and, together with any committee papers, are available
to all Board members. The committees are required to report to the
Board on their decision and recommendations where appropriate.

Executive Committee has been in place since March 2006 and now
consists of all Executive Directors, being Mr. Yao Cho Fai Andrew as
chairman, Ms. Luk Pui Yin Grace and Mr. Lau Chi Chiu as members.

When the Board is not in session, the Executive Committee
discharges the specific power and administrative functions
authorised by the Board. The Executive Committee is mainly
responsible for monitoring the daily operations of the Group.
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The Company adopted a new terms of reference of the Executive
Committee in March 2016 in order to conform with the provisions
set out in the CG Code and it is responsible for performing the
corporate governance duties as follows:

(i) implementing and compliance with the laws, regulations,
Listing Rules, Bye-laws and internal regulations applicable to
the Company;

(i) providing a means for timely and accurate disclosure of
information;

(i) ensuring effective communication with the Company’s
shareholders;

(iv)  developing and reviewing the Company’s policies and practices
on corporate governance and make recommendations to the
Board;

(v) reviewing and monitoring the training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior
management;

(vi)  reviewing and monitoring the Company’s policies and practices
on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

(vii)  developing, reviewing and monitoring the code of conduct
and compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and
Directors; and

(viii) reviewing the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in the corporate governance report.

During the Year, the Executive Committee has carried out the
duties on the corporate governance functions of the Company in
accordance with its terms of reference.

The Remuneration Committee has been in place since July 2005
and as at the date of this report consists of four members, including
Mr. Xu Lin Bao (chairman of the Remuneration Committee), Mr.
Tam King Ching Kenny and Mr. Tse Lung Wa Teddy, all being
Independent Nonexecutive Directors, and Mr. Yao Cho Fai Andrew,
being an Executive Director. The Remuneration Committee’s role is
to make recommendation to the Board on the remuneration policy
and structure for Directors and senior management and to ensure
that they are fairly rewarded for their individual contribution to the
Group’s overall performance, having regard to the interests of
shareholders.
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The Remuneration Committee has adopted the model where it has
delegated responsibility to determine the remuneration packages
of individual Executive Directors and senior management as well as
reviewing and approving management’s remuneration proposals
with reference to the Board’s corporate goals and objectives. The
Remuneration Committee also makes recommendation to the Board
on the remuneration of the Non-executive Directors. No Director or
any of his/her associates may be involved in any decisions as to his/
her own remuneration. The Company has adopted new terms of
reference of the Remuneration Committee in March 2016 to conform
with the provisions set out in the CG Code. The terms of reference
of the Remuneration Committee setting out its authority, duties and
responsibilities are available both on the websites of the Company
and Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited (the “HKEX”).

During the Year, the Remuneration Committee has reviewed and
determined the remuneration packages of the Executive Directors
and made recommendations to the Board as to the remuneration
policy and structure for senior management of the Company.

The Remuneration Committee shall meet at least once a year
in accordance with its terms of reference. One Remuneration
Committee meeting was held during the Year and the attendance
record of the Remuneration Committee meeting is stated in the table
under “The Board” of this report.

The Audit Committee has been in place since December 1998
and as at the date of this report consists of four Independent Non-
executive Directors, including Mr. Tam King Ching Kenny (chairman
of the Audit Committee), Mr. Xu Lin Bao, Mr. Tse Lung Wa Teddy
and Mr. Yeung Wing Sun Mike. Mr. Tam King Ching Kenny is an
Independent Non-executive Director with appropriate professional
qualifications or accounting or related financial management
expertise as required under Rule 3.10 of the Listing Rules.

The Audit Committee meetings are held not less than twice a year
to review and discuss the various audit issues as reported by the
external auditor. It also reviews the interim and annual financial
statements. Additional meetings may also be held by the Audit
Committee from time to time to discuss special projects or other
issues, which the members consider necessary.

Scope of the work of the Audit Committee is defined and approved
by the Board in relation to various internal control, risk management
and audit issues with a view to further improve the Company’s
corporate governance. The Company has adopted new terms of
reference of the Audit Committee in March 2016 to conform with
the provisions set out in the CG Code. The terms of reference of the
Audit Committee setting out its authority, duties and responsibilities
are available both on the websites of the Company and the HKEX.
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During the Year, the Audit Committee reviewed the remuneration of
the external auditor. There was no disagreement between the Board
and the Audit Committee on the selection or appointment of the
external auditor. The Audit Committee has reviewed the Company’s
interim and annual consolidated financial statements for the Year
and was content that such statements comply with applicable
accounting standards and legal requirements, and that adequate
disclosures have been made.

The Audit Committee shall meet at least twice a year in accordance
with its terms of reference. Two Audit Committee meetings were
held during the Year and the attendance record of the Audit
Committee meetings is stated in the table under “The Board” of this
report.

The Nomination Committee has been in place since March 2012
and as at the date of this report consists of four members, includes
the Executive Director, being Mr. Yao Cho Fai Andrew (chairman
of Nomination Committee) and three Independent Non-executive
Directors, being Mr. Xu Lin Bao, Mr. Tam King Ching Kenny and Mr.
Yeung Wing Sun Mike. The Nomination Committee is responsible
for formulating policy and making recommendations to the Board on
nominations, appointment or re-appointment of Directors and Board
succession. The principal duties of the Nomination Committee
include reviewing the structure, size and composition (including the
skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board at least annually and
make recommendations on any proposed changes to the Board
to complement the Company’s corporate strategy and accessing
the independence of Independent Non-executive Directors. The
Company has adopted new terms of reference of the Nomination
Committee in March 2016 to conform with the provisions set out in
the CG Code. The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee
setting out its authority, duties and responsibilities are available both
on the websites of the Company and the HKEX.

During the Year, the Nomination Committee has reviewed the
diversity, structure, size and composition of the Board, appointment
and re-appointment of Directors and made recommendations to the
Board to complement the Company’s corporate strategy.

The Nomination Committee shall meet at least once a year in
accordance with its terms of reference. One Nomination Committee
meeting was held during the Year and the attendance record of the
Nomination Committee meeting is stated in the table under “The
Board” of this report.

Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited EBESERAR AT

RAFE BEREZBESCEHINE X EED 2 B
T EFEHRELZTBENINEZ A 2 PR
KRELYBERNFZE -BRZBEEDENAL
RAIZHFHNFESRAMBER RABRR
RO ABER G ERREMNBRE - X FH
RWZWE -

~

F';‘m]n\

J

2

ﬁﬁﬁ%%ﬁl BERLZBESeBFASR
ﬁma CHRAFEERITMAEBEZEZE

~ﬁ%ﬁ§i§§%zﬁﬁ£ﬁaﬂ
%F%%éﬂ-ﬁm

-
+ m oy
& g 35

REZBEEN-_FT-—_F=ZAKYL  RAR
SEHAEAKEMAN  BREANITESFHEE
TERBZEEEIRIR=ZBBILIFNTES
BMELELE BREEERGREXEE - RA
ZESRENESFZIRS ZAEXEHZLELR
%%2%%&%ﬂﬂﬁﬁﬁ&ﬁ%$§¢ﬁk

CRAZEBGZIZEREBRELEF R

ﬁ%Am % AB R (B EREE - MR
R mE) - WHLEM AR S AN QA KBS Y

%%%Wﬁmm@hﬁk PERE: e
EFZENBYIME - ARFAER-_FT-—RF=ZAR
MTREAZEBEGZHBEREE  UNALXRE
ATRMHZGX - RBRZE G ZBBHLER
RERE BEREET HEEHRARAR
BRAZBER °

RAFE REZESCEREFENZTIE
BiE - ABERAK URBEZZEREFZ
EIHEEFLRT AR ERNEZSREEZR
AR A ARNRA B H D E KA -

~

%M\

J

7

BEERESHE REZESFFESE

—REZ - RAFEERIT—KREEZZRE
FOMRBZEEERZEELHE T3
HlEEE]—HA -

a4
&
=R
SN

w3



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTION

While the Board is and remains principally responsible for the
corporate governance functions of the Company, it has delegated
the relevant duties to the Executive Committee to ensure the proper
performance of corporate governance functions of the Company. In
this connection, the terms of reference of the Executive Committee
includes various duties relating to corporate governance matters
which are set out in paragraph “Executive Committee” of this report.

INTERNAL CONTROLS AND RISK MANAGEMENT

The Board and the Audit Committee are responsible for developing
and maintaining the system of internal controls of the Group to
protect shareholders’ interest and to safeguard the Group’s assets
by setting appropriate policies and reviewing the effectiveness of
major control procedures for financial, operational, compliance and
risk management areas. The Company has its internal audit function
to help enhance the effectiveness of risk management, control and
governance processes.

During the Year, the Company has engaged an independent
professional firm to perform an internal control review of the Group.
The Board and the Audit Committee have reviewed the effectiveness
of the Group’s system of internal controls on all major operations,
including financial, operational and compliance controls and risk
management functions, and have considered the adequacy of
resources, qualifications and experience of staff of the Group’s
accounting and financial function, and their training programs and
budget, by reviewing the internal audit reports prepared by the
independent professional firm and management letters submitted
by external auditor. Also, the Board and the Audit Committee met
with the internal and external auditors and management to discuss
findings from their works and recommendations.

The Company is aware of its continuing disclosure obligations as to
inside information and has a policy with regard to the principles and
procedures for handling and disseminating the Company’s inside
information in compliance with the requirements under the Securities
and Futures Ordinance and the Listing Rules.

The Executive Committee and the designated executives of the
Company are responsible for assisting the Board in reviewing
potential inside information and assessing the need for disclosure
and to oversee the internal reporting system and procedures. The
Company has taken reasonable precautions for preserving the
confidentiality of the inside information, including inter alia:

(i) access to inside information is restricted to specific persons on
a need-to-know basis;

(i) enter into appropriate confidentiality agreements when
negotiating on potential and significant transactions;
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(i) codify a strict prohibition on unauthorized use or disclosure of
inside information in employee handbook; and

(iv)  circulate reminder, from time to time, to the Directors and
specified relevant employees of the Group who are considered
to be likely in possession of inside information their duties
and obligations in respect of dealings in the securities of the
Company.

The Company has set up a corporate practices committee in
May 2013, chaired by Mr. Tse Lung Wa Teddy. The committee is
responsible for risk assessment and management in preventing or
reducing operational risk that might damage the Group’s value. The
committee chairman periodically reviews with the Chief Financial
Officer and other members of the leadership team about the
procurement policy, credit policy and other policies and reports to
the Board of any finding, as appropriate. The Director of Financial
Planning and Risk Analysis focuses on risk identification and ensures
high priority issues are aggressively tackled and cost is effectively
managed, thereby minimizing risks and allowing the Group’s
objectives to be achieved optimally.

The Board and the Audit Committee considered that the system
of internal controls and risk management was operating effectively
during the Year.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

During the Year, PricewaterhouseCoopers, the external auditor of
the Company, provided the following services to the Group and their
respective fees charges are set out below:
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Types of services REER HK$’000

FET
Audit fee for the Group AEBZEZER 2,320
Taxation services T 75 B 7% 120
Total 1A =8 2,440
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RESPONSIBILITY FOR PREPARATION AND
REPORTING OF ACCOUNTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
accounts which were prepared in accordance with statutory
requirements and applicable accounting standards. A statement
by the auditor about its reporting responsibilities is set out in the
independent auditor’s report included in this annual report.

There are no material uncertainties relating to events or conditions
that may cast significant doubt upon the Company’s ability to
continue as a going concern.

INVESTOR RELATIONS AND COMMUNICATION

The Group is committed to promoting transparency and maintaining
effective communication with shareholders, investors, analysts
and the press. The Company has its shareholder’s communication
policy established to ensure effective and timely dissemination of
information to shareholders and the investment community. The
management from time to time meets with existing and potential
investors to make corporate presentations. The Group also
promotes communications with non-institutional shareholders
through public announcements of key developments of the
Company as prescribed under the Listing Rules, annual general
meeting and other general meetings of the Company. Such general
meetings are presided over and led by the Chairman, supported by
other Directors. The Company’s user-friendly website, http://www.
hkshalliance.com, provides investors with the latest news, corporate
profile, business information and financial information including
announcements, circulars and annual and interim reports.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary supports the Chairman, the Board and
Board Committees by ensuring good information flow within the
Board and that Board policy and procedures are followed. The
Company Secretary reports to the Board and assists the Board
in functioning effectively and efficiently. The Company Secretary
also advises the Board on governance matters and facilitates the
induction and professional development of Directors. All Directors
may call upon the Company Secretary for advice and assistance at
any time in respect to their duties and the effective operation of the
Board and the Board Committees.

Ms. Lam Yee Fan is the Company Secretary of the Company. She is
a full time employee of the Company and has day-to-day knowledge
of the Company’s affairs. Ms. Lam undertook no less than 15 hours
of relevant professional training during the Year.
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CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the Year, there was no change in the Company’s
constitutional documents.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

The Board endeavours to maintain an on-going dialogue with
shareholders. The Company encourages the shareholders to attend
general meetings and the Chairmen of the Board and the Board
Committees should attend annual general meeting (the “AGM”) to
answer questions.

Pursuant to Bye-law 58 of the Company’s Bye-laws and
section 74 of the Companies Act 1981 (as amended) of
Bermuda (the “Companies Act”), shareholders holding at the
date of deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of
the paid up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting
at general meetings of the Company shall at all times have
the right, by written requisition to the Board or the Company
Secretary, to require a special general meeting to be called
by the Board for the transaction of any business specified in
such requisition; and such meeting shall be held within two
months after the deposit of such requisition. If the Directors
do not within twenty-one days from the date of the deposit
of the requisition proceed duly to convene a meeting, the
requisitionists, or any of them representing more than one-
half of the total voting rights of all of them, may themselves
convene a meeting, but any meeting so convened shall not be
held after the expiration of three months from the said date.

A meeting convened under this section by the requisitionists
shall be convened in the same manner, as nearly as possible,
as that in which meetings are to be convened by Directors.
Any reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionists by
reason of the failure of the Directors duly to convene a meeting
shall be repaid to the requisitionists by the Company.
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Sections 79 and 80 of the Companies Act allow certain
shareholder(s) to make requisition to the Company to give
notice to the shareholders in respect of any resolution which
is intended to be moved at an AGM or circulate a statement
in respect of any proposed resolution or business to be
considered at a general meeting of the Company. Under
section 79 of the Companies Act, at the expense of the
requisitionists unless the Company otherwise resolves, it shall
be the duty of the Company on the requisition in writing by
such number of shareholders:

(@) to give to the shareholders entitled to receive notice
of the next AGM notice of any resolution which may
properly be moved and is intended to be moved at that
meeting;

(b) to circulate to the shareholders entitled to have notice
of any general meeting sent to them any statement of
not more than 1,000 words with respect to the matter
referred to in any proposed resolution or the business to
be dealt with at that meeting.

The number of shareholders necessary to make the
abovementioned requisitions to the Company shall be:

(@) either any number of shareholders representing not less
than one-twentieth of the total voting rights of all the
shareholders having at the date of the requisition a right
to vote at the meeting to which the requisition relates; or

(b)  not less than one hundred shareholders.

Notice of any such intended resolution shall be given, and any
such statement shall be circulated, to shareholders entitled
to have notice of the meeting sent to them by serving a copy
of the resolution or statement on each such shareholder in
any manner permitted for service of notice of the meeting,
and notice of any such resolution shall be given to any
other shareholder by giving notice of the general effect of
the resolution in any manner permitted for giving him notice
of meetings of the Company, provided that the copy shall
be served, or notice of the effect of the resolution shall be
given, as the case may be, in the same manner and, so far
as practicable, at the same time as notice of the meeting
and, where it is not practicable for it to be served or given at
that time, it shall be served or given as soon as practicable
thereafter.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

TEERRSE

Section 80 of the Companies Act sets out the conditions to NaEBKHEBEARRARERFHE LT
be met before the Company is bound to give any notice of ﬁ RERBENEMEMERMEZR MBS

resolution or to circulate any statement. Pursuant to section B2 G - RIEA R /2%80 % BRIERE

80 of the Companies Act, the Company shall not be bound to AT TAIARRGHEN EX Fﬁ L 2%

give notice of any resolution or to circulate any statement as i A 59%5%%%%@?%&5& Al PRt & -

mentioned in the above unless:

(a) a copy of the requisition signed by the requisitionists, (a) r‘uﬂ AARGEMRERIETEZEZRKA
or two or more copies which between them contain the BB MERKEIAXN  EH BN

7@‘ L 2EERALREZMHO A LE

signatures of all the requisitionists, is deposited at the

registered office of the Company: PN
()  in the case of a requisition requiring notice of a () HERABRBEIHEREM
resolution, not less than six weeks before the T RO REENAA R

meeting; and

(i) in the case of any other requisition, not less than iy HEMNEMBKEmMS T
one week before the meeting; and REHI—E: &
(b)  there is deposited or tendered with the requisition a sum b) EMARARIIREHEBERHFTE

K BIEIT EXAat (BN HORFER
ER/AERRAE) TR

reasonably sufficient to meet the Company’s expense
in giving effect to the procedures in the above (i.e.

the giving of notice of resolution and/or circulation of ,TAIE\ °
statement).
Provided that if, after a copy of the requisition requiring notice MINERRZRERBEZCERLERNLRER

of a resolution has been deposited at the registered office
of the Company, an AGM is called for a date six weeks or
less after the copy has been deposited, the copy though not
deposited within the above-mentioned time shall be deemed
to have been properly deposited for the purposes thereof.

Shareholders should direct their enquiries about their
shareholdings to the branch share registrar of the Company
in Hong Kong, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services
Limited of 17M Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road
East, Wanchai, Hong Kong. For other enquiries, shareholders
may send written enquiries to the Company, for the attention
of Company Secretary by mail to Rooms 1103- 05, 11th Floor,

FARQG EMBPEEER - Emﬁxﬂﬁé
NBESAARNBEEREKREREST Kg - B
FZBEARN LM BARRER - TERE
EMEBENZARR -

BRABEFAFERERNARGRNDBREE
REAEBNE HEEFRRBLHEZLER
NEER it AR B ET 2R/ RNER183
A M LATMEE o ﬁfﬁﬁﬂésﬂﬁﬁ%vﬁﬁ
RANEEFEAEFTEHEBREARR 2 A
WE IR E BB RE 41%%%7&
E11#81103-05F & ) °

East Town Building, 41 Lockhart Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong.

RE-ZEFAZBZEFHNER AR E B

(http://www.hkshalliance.com)

The procedures for proposing a person for election as a Director are
made available at the Company’s website (http://www.hkshalliance.com).

On behalf of the Board REREEFS

Yao Cho Fai Andrew FE

Chairman pk4E 2

Hong Kong, 22nd June 2018 'R ZE-N\FAAZT+Z=AH

Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited EBESERAR AT



The board of directors (the “Board”) of Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance
Holdings Limited (the “Company”) presents their annual report
together with the audited consolidated financial statements of the
Company and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) for the year
ended 31st March 2018 (the “Year”).

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Group is principally engaged in stockholding and distribution
of construction materials such as steel products; trading of sanitary
wares, kitchen cabinets and engineering plastics; steel recycling and
property investment and project management businesses.

Details of the Group’s revenue and segment information by business
segment and geographical market are set out in Note 5 to the
accompanying consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

Details of the Group’s results for the Year are set out in the
consolidated income statement on page 69 of this annual report.

The Board has recommended payment of a final dividend of HK1.57
cents per ordinary share of HK$0.10 each in the capital of the
Company (the “Share”), totally approximately HK$10,057,000 (2017:
HK$15,983,000), for the Year. Subject to shareholder’s approval
at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company to be
held on 17th August 2018 (the “2018 AGM”), the final dividend
warrants are expected to be despatched on or about Wednesday,
5th September 2018 to shareholders whose names appear on the
register of members of the Company at the close of business on
Monday, 27th August 2018.

During the Year, no interim dividend was declared and paid to the
shareholders by the Company.
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CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members of the Company will be closed during the
following periods and during these periods, no transfer of Shares will
be registered:

(i) For ascertaining the shareholders’ entitlement to attend and
vote at the 2018 AGM:

From Tuesday, 14th August 2018 to Friday, 17th August
2018, both days inclusive, for the purpose of ascertaining
the shareholders’ entitlement to attend and vote at the 2018
AGM. In order to be eligible to attend and vote at the 2018
AGM, all properly completed transfer forms accompanied by
the relevant share certificates must be lodged with the branch
share registrar of the Company in Hong Kong, Computershare
Hong Kong Investor Services Limited (the “Branch Share
Registrar”) of Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre,
183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong for registration
no later than 4:30 p.m. on Monday, 13th August 2018.

(i) For ascertaining the shareholders’ entitlement to the final
dividend:

From Thursday, 23rd August 2018 to Monday, 27th August
2018, both days inclusive, for the purpose of ascertaining
the shareholders’ entitlement to the final dividend. In order to
qualify for the final dividend, all properly completed transfer
forms accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be
lodged with the Branch Share Registrar for registration no later
than 4:30 p.m. on Wednesday, 22nd August 2018.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Discussion and analysis of the Group’s business as required by
Schedule 5 to the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws
of Hong Kong) covering an analysis of the Group’s performance
using financial key performance indicators, the future development
in the Group’s business, the principal risks and uncertainties facing
the Group, the Group’s environmental policies and performance and
its compliance with the relevant laws and regulations are provided
in the “Highlights”, “Chairman’s Statement” and “Management
Discussion and Analysis” of this annual report, which shall form an
integral part of this “Report of the Directors”.
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SHARE CAPITAL

As at 31st March 2018, there were 641,668,674 Shares issued
and fully paid. As at the date of this report, there were 640,546,674
Shares issued and fully paid.

Details of share capital and share options of the Company are
respectively set out in Notes 32 and 33 to the accompanying
consolidated financial statements.

RESERVES AND RETAINED EARNINGS

Movements in reserves and retained earnings of the Group and the
Company during the Year are respectively set out in Notes 34 and
40 to the accompanying consolidated financial statements.

As at 31st March 2018, approximately HK$53,986,000 (2017:
HK$53,986,000) of the Company’s reserves and approximately
HK$38,189,000 (2017: HK$7,573,000) of the Company’s retained
earnings were available for distribution to its owners.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES

During the Year, pursuant to the mandate to buy-back Shares
obtained from the shareholders at the annual general meeting of the
Company held on 18th August 2017, the Company has bought back
an aggregate of 1,336,000 Shares on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) at an aggregate consideration
of HK$933,500 (before expenses) and all these Shares were
subsequently cancelled by the Company before 31st March 2018.
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Particulars of the Shares buy-backs are as follows:

B BEFEET

Aggregate
consideration
(before
expenses)
Number of (HK$)
Shares Purchase price BE
Month/year bought back per Share (HK$) ($0 BR Xz W AY)
A/ F46 BERGHE BREOBEEET) (& T)
Highest Lowest
Re ®1&
November 2017 26,000 0.79 0.77 20,320
—E—+F+—A
December 2017 188,000 0.78 0.72 138,720
—E—+F+ZA
February 2018 552,000 0.69 0.67 375,460
—ZE-NFZH
March 2018 570,000 0.70 0.70 399,000
—E-NF=A
Total 1,336,000 933,500
5t

The Shares buy-backs were made for the benefit of the Company
and its shareholders as a whole with a view to enhancing the net
asset value per Share and/or earning per Share.

Save as disclosed above, there were no other purchase, sales or
redemptions of the Company’s listed securities by the Company or
any of its subsidiaries during the Year.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
Bye-laws and the laws of Bermuda.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT,
INVESTMENT PROPERTIES AND LAND USE
RIGHTS

Details of movements in property, plant and equipment, investment
properties and land use rights of the Group during the Year are

set out in Notes 14, 15 and 16, respectively, to the accompanying
consolidated financial statements.
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SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES AND JOINT
VENTURES

Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries, associates and joint
ventures are set out in Notes 19, 20 and 21, respectively, to the
accompanying consolidated financial statements.

BORROWINGS

Particulars of borrowings of the Group as at 31st March 2018 are
set out in Note 31 to the accompanying consolidated financial
statements.

PENSION SCHEMES

Details of the pension schemes are set out in Note 8 to the
accompanying consolidated financial statements.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

During the Year, the Group made charitable donations of
approximately HK$11,120,000 (2017: HK$488,000).

DIRECTORS AND DIRECTORS’ SERVICE
CONTRACTS

The directors of the Company during the Year and up to the date of
this report are as follow:

Mr. Yao Cho Fai Andrew (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Ms. Luk Pui Yin Grace
Mr. Lau Chi Chiu

Mr. Tam King Ching Kenny
Mr. Xu Lin Bao

Mr. Tse Lung Wa Teddy
Mr. Yeung Wing Sun Mike

In accordance with Bye-law 84(1) of the Company’s Bye-laws, Ms.
Luk Pui Yin Grace and Mr. Lau Chi Chiu will retire from office by
rotation at the 2018 AGM and, being eligible, will offer themselves for
re-election at such meeting. Mr. Tse Lung Wa Teddy has indicated
that he will retire from office and will not offer himself for re-election
at the 2018 AGM.

None of the Directors has a service contract with the Group which is
not determinable by the Group within one year without payment of
compensation other than statutory compensation.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS
IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES

As at 31st March 2018, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and chief executives of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFQO”)) which (a) were
required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including
interests and short positions which they were taken or deemed
to have under such provisions of the SFO); or (b) were required
pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO to be entered in the register
referred to therein; or (c) were required pursuant to the Model Code
for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model
Code”) as set out in Appendix 10 of the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange, were as follows:

EERKRD  HBEROREEE 2ES

RXRE

RZE-NF=ZA=+—B EFB2EREARAZ
BRITBABR ARG HHEMEBEE(EE

BAxLEHEERA(ZEHREEGD])EXVED)
2ty HBERDLREEETERS 2EE X
ERRB@QREEF RPE GO EXVEEET R ES
DEBANGARA LB (BEREZSH R
HEGRINZZERTRARIRIEREFT 2SR
NoKkE) » o)L BIAREZF REE R
BRIGTUFEZERMA ()R FH#E X E
FEmARUNT ETARRD WM&+ AE 2 £
TAERETEFRRZNRESTR([FETE )
VAMEARARBIRBZMzERSE LRBETI W
™~

Number of
Attributable interest to Number of  Approximate share options Aggregate
Name of Directors Capacity the Directors Shares  percentage (Note c) Interest
BR
EEfg g% EZEGER RO®E  BOESL CHE §:
Mr. Yao Cho Fai Andrew  Interest of controlled corporation, Deemed interest (indirectly) 89,337,806 13.92% = 89,337,806
i LA Perfect Capital International Corp.
(Note a)
24| 1 FlPerfect Capital HAEER 2R (R7)
International Corp. 2 i85 (#1i2a)
Interest of controlled corporation, Deemed interest (indirectly) 190,424,000 29.68% — 190,424,000
Huge Top Industrial Ltd. (Note b)
F42%|2 FHuge Top Industrial Ltd. ~ HR(EEA 2% ()
LTE% (fiztn)
Beneficial owner 100% (directly) 3,918,000 0.61% = 3,918,000
ERBEAA 100% (B#)
283,679,806 44.21% — 283,679,806
Ms. Luk Pui Yin Grace Beneficial owner 100% (directly) — T 4,493,244 4,493,244
ERALL EGAEA 100% (&%)
Mr. Lau Chi Chiu Beneficial owner 100% (directly) = — 2,246,622 2,246,622

i EERAA 100% (B %)
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Number of
Attributable interest to Number of  Approximate share options Aggregate
Name of Directors Capacity the Directors Shares  percentage (Note c) Interest
BREZE
Sz af ESELES RGE#E  BOESW 7c) CHE §5
Mr. Tam King Ching Kenny  Beneficial owner 100% (directly) — — 1,246,622 1,246,622
BHRERE ESRA 100% (E%)
Mr. Xu Lin Bao Beneficial owner 100% (directly) 5,246,622 0.82% - 5,246,622
GRS bied EHAEA 100% (E%)
Mr. Tse Lung Wa Teddy Beneficial owner 100% (directly) — — 1,246,622 1,246,622
MEERE ERBEAA 100% (E%)
Notes: Hiat -
a. Mr. Yao Cho Fai Andrew (“Mr. Yao”) was beneficially interested in these Shares a. e AE A (kL) B BE 2 EHE AR 2 A alPerfect

through his wholly-owned company, Perfect Capital International Corp. (“Perfect
Capital”). Mr. Yao is the sole director of Perfect Capital.

b. Mr. Yao was deemed to be interested in these Shares through his controlling
company, Huge Top Industrial Ltd. (“Huge Top”). Mr. Yao directly held
approximately 48.81% and indirectly through Perfect Capital owned
approximately 42.86% of the issued shares of Huge Top. Mr. Yao is the sole
director of Huge Top.

@ Details of the interests of the Directors in the share options of the Company are
separately disclosed in the section headed “Share Option Scheme” below.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31st March 2018, none of the
Directors, chief executives of the Company and their associates had
any personal, family, corporate or other interests or short positions
in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or
any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV
of the SFO) which (a) were required to be notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV
of the SFO (include interests and short positions which they were
taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO); or (b)
were required pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO to be entered in
the register referred to therein; or (c) were required pursuant to the
Model Code to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange.

Apart from the foregoing, at no time during the Year was the
Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to
enable the Directors or any of their spouses or children under the
18 years of age to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition
of Shares in or debentures of the Company or any other body
corporate, and no Directors or chief executives of the Company or
their respective spouses or children under 18 years of age had been
granted any right to subscribe for equity or debt securities of the
Company nor exercised any such right.

Capital International Corp. ([Perfect Capital | ) & 25 % & %
Z W fn o k5t & ThPerfect CapitalZ M —E 5 ©

b. ok 5t 435 B H ¥ %] 2 A §Huge Top Industrial Ltd. ([Huge
Top )W RIEHBZERD - kLA EEF B L4881%
I 3% iPerfect Capitalfd # #% AHuge Topt & 17 IR 5 49
42.86% ° Bk %t 4 ThHuge Topz HE—E ¥ -

c. EERARABERE RS ZFBEBIETHER
HEATE R E -

BREXHERBEEN RZE-—NF=A=+—
B &8F ARFAZERTHRABRKSE 25
ZAMERARAREEMEBZEZE(ERZLE
7 M B R G SEXVER) 2 Bt - HE R R {0 S
ERHEEQREES KRG GO EXVEETRE
BN BMAMEARART MR FA(BERERS
EHEGRI cZEREREEEFRBIERSE
ZHEBNAR)  ROBEINAREBEF LA
GEPIFE3B2ET AFEZERLMA  HERER
ETRMAMERRE R ZERMEA -
Rk ARIKEMBEDRIAR -

BEdES  RAEE TR AAFARH
EAMBATLET AT AEEESR
REZEARBR+\EAT2 FLE#EB
B AN 2 A SR AE M A R A LR 2 IR A o 1 B
BTN MEERALAZBRATKA
ERRESE I EBRT AR T2 T ABE
M 15 (F {00 7 A S B8 A5 2 ) IR S M 7 B )
BT EZEHR -

Annual Report 2017/18 53§

49



50

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EETHE

PERSONS WHO HAVE INTERESTS OR SHORT
POSITIONS WHICH ARE DISCLOSEABLE UNDER
DIVISIONS 2 AND 3 OF PART XV OF THE SFO

Other than interests disclosed in the section headed “Directors’
Interests and Short Positions in Shares, Underlying Shares and
Debentures” above, as at 31st March 2018, according to the register
of interests kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO, the
following entities had interests or short positions in the Shares and
underlying Shares which fall to be disclosed under Divisions 2 and 3
of Part XV of the SFO:

REFZRBERHEXVIBE2R £3
THEEARERERXKBEZAL

BREXTESERNID  HEAKRD REEE 2 Exn
KRB - EzEmI R2F—-N\F=
A=+—B BARXRRAREZEZF NP EKIE
3HFENE LML - THERBNEN K
MHREE R P A ARIR B 5 R BB IR SEXVED 2
NEIDEARARREE 2 EHZIOAR -

Number of Approximate
Capacity Shares percentage
R4 E BHABED
Perfect Capital Beneficial owner 89,337,806 13.92%
EnEEA
Interest of controlled corporation a 190,424,000 29.68%
ER 2 NI
279,761,806 43.60%
Huge Top Beneficial owner 190,424,000 29.68%
EnfEEA
Mr. Wong Koon Chi Beneficial owner 38,224,000 5.96%
FTRZEE EnEEA
Note: et -
a. These Shares were held by Huge Top. Perfect Capital owned approximately a. % %[5 19 fEiHuge Top#s B ° Perfect Capital#% AHuge Top

42.86% of the issued shares of Huge Top and therefore was deemed to be
interested in these Shares.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31st March 2018, the Directors
were not aware of any other persons (other than Directors or chief
executives of the Company) who had interests or short positions in
the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO)
which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under Divisions 2
and 3 of Part XV of the SFO.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The share option scheme adopted on 12th November 2001 (the
“2001 Share Option Scheme”) was terminated on 11th August 2011.
Upon termination of the 2001 Share Option Scheme, no further
options will be granted thereunder but in all other respects the
provisions of the 2001 Share Option Scheme shall remain in force
and all options granted prior to such termination shall continue to
be valid and exercisable in accordance therewith. The Company
has adopted another share option scheme on 11th August 2011
(the “2011 Share Option Scheme”). The purpose of the 2011
Share Option Scheme is to provide incentives to participants to
contribute to the Group and/or to enable the Group to recruit and/
or to retain high-calibre employees and attract human resources
that are valuable to the Group. The 2011 Share Option Scheme shall
be valid and effective for a period of ten years commencing on the
adoption date (i.e.11th August 2011) and will expire on 10th August
2021. Details of the terms of the 2011 Share Option Scheme were
contained in the Company’s circular dated 8th July 2011.

Details of the movements in the share options granted to the
Company’s employees (including Directors) under the 2001 Share
Option Scheme and 2011 Share Option Scheme during the Year
were as follows:
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EETHE

Number of share options
BREHE
Name or Exercise Granted  Exercised Lapsed  Cancelled
category of price Beginning of during during during during End of
participant Date of grant Validity period per Share  Note the Year the Year the Year the Year the Year the Year
BEEHE
bl RFAH B BRITER AEEY  AFERT AEEFE AFEAN  FEEE#  REER
Director:
s
Mr. Tam King Ching ~ 19th June 2008 19th June 2008 to HKS0.626 1 1,246,622 - - - - 1,246,622
Kenny 18th June 2018
BRLELE ZRENERATAR ZERNERATNAE 0,626
“E-N\E5ATNR
Employees:
E&:
In aggregate 18th September 2009 18th September 2009 to HKS0470 1 937,458 = = = = 937,458
17th September 2019
it ZEEAEAATNE ZEENEAATNEE 047087
Z2-NENATLE
In aggregate 13th October 2009 13th October 2009 to HKS0.404 1 9,089,528 - - - - 9,089,528
12th October 2019
it ZEEAETATZA ZEENEFTATZEE 0404ET
“E-nEtA+ZH
Sub-total 10,026,986 - - - - 10,026,986
gt
Other:
At
In aggregate 13th October 2009 13th October 2009 to HK$0.404 1 3,116,558 - - - - 3,116,553
12th October 2019
it SRENFTATER ZEEAETATZAE 04MER
“Z-ETATH
Total of 2001 Share
Option Scheme
“TT-FERE 14,390,161 - - - - 14,390,161
srEliast

Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
ESERE

Number of share options
ERELE
Name or Exercise Granted  Exercised Lapsed  Cancelled
category of price Beginning of during during during during End of
participant Date of grant Validity period per Share the Year the Year the Year the Year the Year the Year
BRERY
B85 RFAH B BRITER AEEY  AFERT AEEFRE AFEAN  AEERH  REER
Directors:
EE
Ms. Luk Pui Yin 27th November 2013 27th November 2013 to HK$1.043 1,2 2,493,244 - - - - 2,493,244
Grace 26th November 2023
Effzt ZE-ZE1-4 ZE-ZET-AZTCRE 1043ET
ZttH ZECZET-ACTAR
20th January 2015 20th January 2015 to HKS0.928 3 2,000,000 - - - - 2,000,000
19th January 2025
ZE-RF-AtR ZE-RE-ACHAE 098En
“TCRE-RTAR
Mr. Lau Chi Chiu 16th November 2012 16th November 2012 to HK$0.537 1,4 1,246,622 - - - - 1,246,622
15th November 2022
Btk “F-F4-R ZE-ZFT-AtREE  0837ET
TrA Z3-f+-A+aA
20th January 2015 20th January 2015 to HK$0.928 3 1,000,000 - - - - 1,000,000
19th January 2025
“E3-RF-A-tH ZE-RE-A-tAE 09%8%n
ZECRE-AtAA
Mr. Tse Lung Wa 27th November 2018 27th November 2013 to HK$1.043 1 1,246,622 - - - - 1,246,622
Teddy 26th November 2023
MEEEE ZE-ZF1-R ZE-CFET-ACTEAE 1043%T
e ZECZET-AZTAR
Sub-total 7,986,488 - - - - 7,986,488
It
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EETHE

Number of share options
BREHE
Name or Exercise Granted  Exercised Lapsed  Cancelled
category of price Beginning of during during during during End of
participant Date of grant Validity period per Share  Note the Year the Year the Year the Year the Year the Year
AR
B F] RFAH R BRITER AEEY  AEERT AEEFRE AFEAN  AEEEE  AEER
Employees:
E&:
In aggregate 16th November 2012 16th November 2012 to HK$0.537 1,5 6,831,486 - - - - 6,831,486
15th November 2022
it ZF-CE+-5 ZE-ZFT-ATREE  083ER
/A ZECZFt-AtEA
In aggregate 27th November 2013 27th November 2013 to HK$1.043 1,2 5,734,459 = = = = 5,734,459
26th November 2023
At “R-ZET-R ZR-IET-ACTEE 103ER
ZttA ZBIZET-ACTRE
In aggregate 20th January 2015 20th January 2015 to HK$0.928 3 6,800,000 = — - — 6,800,000
19th January 2025
it “E-R%-AtH ZE-RE-A-THE  098ER
ZRRE-ATAE
In aggregate 20th January 2015 20th January 2015 to HK$0.928 6 1,000,000 — — - — 1,000,000
19th January 2025
it ZE-R%-A-tR ZE-RE-ACTHE 098%ER
ZRRE-ATAR
Sub-total 20,366,945 = - - - 20,365%45
gt
Total of 2011 Share 28,352,433 - - - - 28362433
Option Scheme
T FRRE
FrElfast

Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited

BARABESEZERERAR



Notes:

The exercise prices and number of share options granted prior to 17th
December 2014 under the share option schemes were adjusted for the open
offer completed in December 2014.

The share options were vested in four tranches, with each tranche covering
one-fourth of the relevant options, i.e. exercisable to the extent of one-fourth
of the relevant options and with the 1st, 2nd, 3rd and 4th tranche becoming
exercisable from 27th of November in the years 2014, 2015, 2016 and 2017
respectively and the years onwards till 26th November 20283.

The share options were/will be vested in four tranches, with each tranche
covering one-fourth of the relevant options, i.e. exercisable to the extent of
one-fourth of the relevant options and with the 1st, 2nd, 3rd and 4th tranche
becoming exercisable from 20th of January in the years 2016, 2017, 2018 and
2019 respectively and the years onwards till 19th January 2025.

The share options were vested in five tranches, with each tranche covering
one-fifth of the relevant options, i.e. exercisable to the extent of one-fifth of
the relevant options and with the 1st, 2nd, 3rd, 4th and 5th tranche becoming
exercisable from 16th of November in the years 2012, 2013, 2014, 2015 and
2016 respectively and the years onwards till 15th November 2022.

4,986,487 share options were vested in four tranches, with each tranche
covering one-fourth of the relevant options, i.e. exercisable to the extent of
one-fourth of the relevant options and with the 1st, 2nd, 3rd and 4th tranche
becoming exercisable from 16th of November in the years 2013, 2014, 2015 and
2016 respectively and the years onwards till 15th November 2022. 1,844,999
share options were vested in five tranches, with each tranche covering one-fifth
of the relevant options, i.e. exercisable to the extent of one-fifth of the relevant
options and with the 1st, 2nd, 3rd, 4th and 5th tranche becoming exercisable
from 16th of November in the years 2012, 2013, 2014, 2015 and 2016
respectively and the years onwards till 15th November 2022.

The share options were vested in three tranches, with each tranche covering
one-third of the relevant options, i.e. exercisable to the extent of one-third of the
relevant options and with the 1st, 2nd and 3rd tranche becoming exercisable
from 20th of January in the years 2016, 2017 and 2018 respectively and the
years onwards till 19th January 2025.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Company’s Bye-Laws, the Directors shall be
indemnified against all losses and liabilities which they may incur in
connection with their duties. The Company has arranged appropriate
directors’ and officers’ liability insurance coverage for the Directors
and officers of the Group.

DIRECTORS’ MATERIAL INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR
CONTRACTS

No transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance in relation
to the Group’s business to which the Company, its subsidiaries or
its holding companies was a party or were parties and in which a
Director or any entities connected with a Director had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the
Year or at any time during the Year.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EETHE

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of related party transactions for the year are set out in Note
39 to the accompanying consolidated financial statements.

COMPETING INTERESTS

For the year ended 31st March 2018, none of the Directors or the
controlling shareholders of the Company or any of their respective
associates has engaged in any business that competes or may
compete directly or indirectly with the businesses of the Group or
has any other conflict of interests with the Group.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31st March 2018, the five largest customers of
the Group accounted for approximately 16% of the Group’s total
revenue, while the five largest suppliers of the Group accounted for
approximately 45% of the Group’s total purchases. In addition, the
largest supplier of the Group accounted for approximately 16% of
the Group’s total purchases.

None of the Directors, their associates, or any shareholders (which
to the knowledge of the Directors owned more than 5% of the
Company’s share capital) had a beneficial interest in the five largest
suppliers of the Group.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information publicity available to the Company and within
the knowledge of the Directors as at the date of this report, the
Company has maintained the prescribed public float under the
Listing Rules.

AUDITOR

The accompanying consolidated financial statements were audited
by PricewaterhouseCoopers. A resolution for their appointment as
the Company’s auditor for the ensuing year will be proposed at the
2018 AGM. There was no change in auditor of the Company in any
of the preceding three years.

On behalf of the Board
Yao Cho Fai Andrew
Chairman

Hong Kong, 22nd June 2018

Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited EBESERAR AT
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

DIRECTORS

aged 52, was appointed as an Executive Director of the Company
in December 1994. He became the Chairman of the Board in July
1999 and served as the Chief Executive Officer of the Company
from July 1999 to November 2012. Mr. Yao was re-appointed as
the Chief Executive Officer of the Company in November 2015. He
is also the chairman of the Nomination Committee and a member
of the Remuneration Committee of the Company. Mr. Yao is an
independent non-executive director of Kader Holdings Company
Limited which is a company listed on the main board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Hong Kong Stock Exchange”)
and Shanghai Dazhong Public Utilities (Group) Co., Ltd. which
is a company listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange and the
main board of Hong Kong Stock Exchange. Mr. Yao serves as
the Hong Kong Deputy to the 13th National People’s Congress of
the People’s Republic of China, the hon president and founding
chairman of Shanghai Hong Kong Association, the chairman of
Hongkong-Shanghai Economic Development Association, the
vice-chairman of Shanghai Federation of Industry & Commerce
the deputy chairman of the council of Hong Kong Baptist University
and the board member of Fudan University in Shanghai. He was
awarded “Young Industrialist Award of Hong Kong” by Federation
of Hong Kong Industries in 2004, Justice of Peace by Hong Kong
Special Administrative Region (“HKSAR”) in 2008 and “Bronze
Bauhinia Star” by HKSAR in 2016. Mr. Yao graduated from the
University of California, Berkeley with a bachelor’s degree in science
and Harvard Graduate School of Business with a master in business
administration.
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EENEREEAERE

aged 53, was appointed as an Executive Director of the Company
in November 2015. She is also the Chief Financial Officer of the
Group. Prior to joining the Group in May 2013, she was the chief
operating officer and chief financial officer of North Asia Strategic
Holdings Limited (listed on the Growth Enterprise Market of the
Hong Kong Stock Exchange). Ms. Luk has over 10 years of private
equity experience and more than 25 years of financial management
experience in the Greater China region. During the period from 1994
to 2001, Ms. Luk was the director and financial controller of Kleinwort
Benson China Management Limited, the investment manager of
the London-listed China Investment & Development Fund. She was
also the vice president of Dresdner Kleinwort Capital, the private
equity arm of Dresdner Bank from 2001 to 2002. Ms. Luk was the
department head of the category financial management department
at Colgate-Palmolive (H.K.) Limited and was an auditor at Arthur
Andersen & Co in Hong Kong from 1988 to 1994. She graduated
from the Chinese University of Hong Kong with a bachelor’s degree
in business administration. Ms. Luk is a fellow of the UK Association
of Chartered Certified Accountants and an associate of both the UK
Chartered Institute of Management Accountants and the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

aged 51, was appointed as an Executive Director of the Company
in November 2015. He is also the managing director of Hong Kong
Steel and International Trading of the Group. He joined the Group
in June 1991. Mr. Lau is responsible for the daily operations of the
business of the Group and has held various sales and marketing
and supply chain positions in the plastics and steel businesses of
the Group. He was the general manager of Group’s plastic business
from April 2003 to November 2011 and the general manager of the
Group’s steel business from December 2011 to May 2013. Mr. Lau
graduated from Curtin University of Technology in Australia with a
bachelor’s degree in commerce (marketing and management).
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Independent Non-executive Directors

aged 69, was appointed as an Independent Non-executive Director
of the Company in September 2004. He is also the chairman of the
Audit Committee and a member of the Remuneration Committee
and Nomination Committee of the Company. Mr. Tam also serves
as an independent non-executive director of other listed companies
on the main board of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange namely,
BeijingWest Industries International Limited, CCT Fortis Holdings
Limited, CCT Land Holdings Limited, Kingmaker Footwear Holdings
Limited, Shougang Concord Grand (Group) Limited, Starlite Holdings
Limited, West China Cement Limited and Wisdom Education
International Holdings Company Limited. He is a practising Certified
Public Accountant in Hong Kong, a fellow member of the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a member of the
Chartered Professional Accountants of Ontario, Canada. Mr. Tam
serves as a member of the Restructuring and Insolvency Faculty
Executive Committee and the Insolvency SD Vetting Committee in
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. He was
also a Past President of The Society of Chinese Accountants and
Auditors.

aged 69, was appointed as an Independent Non-executive Director
of the Company in April 2006. He is also the chairman of the
Remuneration Committee and a member of the Audit Committee
and the Nomination Committee of the Company. Mr. Xu is currently
the vice chairman of the Institute of Real Estate Shanghai Academy
of Social Sciences. He served as the standing executive of China
Real Estate Association (the 4th and 5th session), the chairman
of operation and management professional committee of China
Real Estate Association (the 4th and 5th session), the chairman of
Shanghai Housing and Land Group, the vice chairman of Shanghai
Real Estate Trade Association (the 5th and 6th session) and the
chairman of executives of Yi-ju China Real Estate Research Center.
He graduated from Fudan University, Shanghai with a degree in
EMBA. Mr. Xu is a senior qualified economist.

aged 54, was appointed as an Independent Non-executive
Director of the Company in August 2012. He is also the chairman
of the Corporate Practice Committee and a member of the Audit
Committee and the Remuneration Committee of the Company. Mr.
Tse worked for Cargill Hong Kong Limited since 1989 till March 2012
and his last position was senior vice president of Cargill Ferrous
International. Mr. Tse is the vice chairman of Smart Timing Steel
Limited since September 2012. He graduated from the University of
Hong Kong with a bachelor’s degree in art.
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EENEREEAERE

aged 65, was appointed as an Independent Non-executive Director
of the Company in March 2014. He is also a member of the Audit
Committee and the Nomination Committee of the Company. Mr. Yeung
is an independent non-executive director of UMP Healthcare Holdings
Limited, a company listed on the main board of The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited. He has over 40 years’ working experience in the
banking industry. Mr. Yeung began his career with the HSBC Group in
1972 and advanced himself in the organisation by taking up different
positions under various business streams including personal banking,
sales and marketing, branch operation and trade service. Since 2001,
Mr. Yeung was relocated to Shanghai and took up the role of branch
manager of HSBC Shanghai. In June 2006, he was seconded to Hang
Seng Bank (China) Limited and appointed as the Head of Personal
Financial Service and Wealth Management. Mr. Yeung assumed the
role of Deputy Chief Executive and Head of Retail Banking and Wealth
Management in May 2007. He retired from HSBC Group in January
2014. Mr. Yeung is the Honorary President of Hong Kong Chamber
of Commerce in Shanghai. He was a member of Chinese People’s
Political Consultative Conference Committee in Shanghai. Mr. Yeung
was awarded the “Magnolia Gold Award” presented by the Shanghai
Municipal government. He was also awarded The Hong Kong Institute
of Directors’ Professional Diploma in Company Direction in April 2017.

aged 63, was appointed as an Independent Non-executive Director of
the Company in July 2018. He is also a member of the Audit Committee
and the Remuneration Committee of the Company. Mr. Li is an
independent non-executive director of Universal Medical Financial &
Technical Advisory Services Company Limited which is a company listed
on the main board of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange. He also served
as an executive director of China Merchants China Direct Investments
Limited which is a company listed on the main board of the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange, and as a non-executive director of China Merchants
Bank Co., Ltd. which is a company listed on the main board of the
Hong Kong Stock Exchange and the Shanghai Stock Exchange. Prior
to joining China Merchants Group, Mr. Li worked in Agricultural Bank
of China and was the vice general manager of its Hong Kong branch.
Mr. Li is a Hong Kong Deputy to the 13th National People’s Congress
of the People’s Republic of China. He graduated from Shaanxi Institute
of Finance and Economics (Bt 78 B4 48 £ [53), China with a bachelor’s
degree in economics. Mr. Li was also awarded a master degree in
economics from the PBC School of Finance, Tsinghua University (&
#ERKE [ E DS 2 B (formerly known as Graduate School of
the People’s Bank of China (7 B A R $R 174877 & R 2T FY)) and a
master degree in banking and finance for development from Finafrica
Institute in Milan, Italy. He is a qualified senior economist in China.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The abovementioned Executive Directors are members of senior
management of the Group.

Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited EBESERAR AT
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

To the Shareholders of Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

Opinion
What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of Hong Kong Shanghai
Alliance Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively, the “Group”) set out on pages 69 to 184, which
comprise:

° the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31st
March 2018;

° the consolidated income statement for the year then ended;

° the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the
year then ended;

° the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year
then ended;

° the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended; and

° the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which
include a summary of significant accounting policies.

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31st
March 2018, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”)
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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B ZHEHRE

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the
Code.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Key audit matters identified in our audit are summarised as follows:
° Valuation of investment properties

° Onerous contract provision relating to unfulfilled rebar sales
contracts

o Recognition of deferred income tax assets

Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited SEBESERAR AT
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Key Audit Matters (Continued)
Key Audit Matter

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

o VEZE 2GR e

FARETSEEE)

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

HRETEIE BMNEANNEEBERENSE
Valuation of investment properties Our procedures in relation to management’s valuation of
REMENGHE the investment properties included:

Refer to notes 4(a) and 15 to the consolidated financial
statements

REGEE A TEIREN iF4(@) K16

As at 31st March 2018, the carrying amount of the
Group’s investment properties in the People’s Republic
of China (“PRC”) was approximately HK$1,389.4 million
and a fair value gain of approximately HK$14.8 million was
recognised in the consolidated income statement during
the year. The Group engaged an independent professional
valuer to perform valuation on the investment properties
as at 31st March 2018 based on income capitalisation
approach and direct comparison approach.
RZE—NF=ZA=+—H ' EEETHFEARLNE
(ATEREIHE])NREYENREIELNR1,380.48 88
T MA48AEBRETHNAANBERENERFENEFEEIE
RRPHER . EEEBEF - EBUEEHEMRKRAER
EERBEELBEHN -F *)\ifﬂ =+—HMIEEY
FHETHG

We focus on this area because the valuation is dependent
on certain key assumptions including market rent, term,
reversionary yield and implied unit rates, which require
significant management judgement.

BMBERNZEE - ARFEDBORRE THRER &
EMEHEE  HR UEXERSENR EREEEE
HY B K )

BPEREUREVENGEFEETNEFERE
— Evaluating the competence, capabilities and
objectivity of the independent external valuer;

— FEBUABEETOERE N RBREE

— Assessing the methodologies used and the key
assumptions with the assistance from our in-house
valuation specialist; and

— HEHRMABEEZROWHET
ERFERFZ

FHEEEMRERNT

— Assessing the reasonableness of the key
assumptions, including market rent, term,
reversionary yield and implied unit rates, adopted
by the valuer by comparing with relevant market
data, comparable market transactions and industry
research.

— BALREETSEE  FIELRMSER S RITEMR

K- AEEEMAEANEERENGEN  BET
%—JH% HIR WamEREaEE-

We found the key assumptions were supportable by the
available and comparable market evidence.

HPER T ERRAVES LA LBOTISEEFT
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VR A TR

Key Audit Matters (Continued)

Key Audit Matter
(Continued)
AREENSEE (&)

ARETSEEE)

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
(Continued)
BANESNAEEERETEE (F)

Onerous contract provision relating to unfulfilled
rebar sales contracts

ERBITHNRGHEETERACEHEZORE

Refer to notes 4(b) and 30 to the consolidated financial
statements

BB & B R B it 4(b) 30

As at 31st March 2018, the Group had certain unfulfilled
rebar sales contracts. If these sales contracts were
fulfilled by purchases at prices higher than the contracted
selling prices, the Group would incur a loss. As a result,
management assessed if any provision for these onerous
contacts is required to be made based on the expected
purchase prices of inventories and forecasted delivery
schedules.

RZZE-—NE=ZA=+—RH  EKEEETKRETHNHH
HEAE - MZEHETENBEBRASRITENHE
BRxTK - BSEHEELER Al EBENGZS
BRARESHFERBHFE 2 HMBE B LB RNEEE
A ] B4 o

Accordingly, management recognised an onerous contract
provision of approximately HK$40.7 million as at 31st
March 2018.

it BBER_ZE-—N\F=ZA=+—H®ER
HHA.7TAEEBT °

EROE

The estimate of the provision requires the estimation of
expected purchase prices of inventories to fulfil rebar sales
contracts and the expected dates of deliveries for these
sales contracts.

HEtBETS R EKHSHE ENRENBETENE
BERZEHETEZRPRINBEEH -

Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited

Our procedures in relation to management’s assessment
on onerous contract provision included:

B EEBE B EROBE ZFEMETHREFEHE

—  Evaluating the basis adopted by management for
determining onerous contract provision relating to
unfulfilled rebar sales contracts;

- AHEEREERETABTHNHAEEITERREE
R BB IR 2 B IE

— Obtaining management analysis and calculation
of onerous contract provision and assessing the
key assumptions adopted in the analysis, including
comparing the expected purchase prices of
inventories with the latest unit purchase price and
comparing the forecasted delivery schedules with the
historical trend and recent delivery;

— DSEEEBHBEERNBEIONNEE ARG
DTHARAFERR  BREEBREREEFEDN
EEEGMEEEEUREBREN RN REMBER
AR BT B A

—  Checking, on a sample basis, the accuracy of the
pre-agreed contractually stated selling prices and the
quantity of goods in the unfulfiled sales contracts;
and

— BT AREEEREREOTREZEELKE
THE BT EmBENERENL : &

— Checking, on a sample basis, the management’s
computation of provision recognised for these
onerous contracts.

— R RAREEEEHZSEEZOMER

HE

<z

We obtained management’s assessment of onerous
contract provision and considered it to be supportable by
the available evidence.
BPMSEEREBHAEROBREGB 2L ERA/AIESE
S

BRBEERERAR



Key Audit Matters (Continued)

Key Audit Matter
(Continued)
AREENSEE (&)

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

o VEZE 2GR e

FARETSEEE)

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
(Continued)
BMNENNAEEERENEE (F)

Recognition of deferred income tax assets

EEFMEHEERR

Refer to notes 4(c) and 22 to the consolidated financial
statements

ZRkE & B KM At 4(c) K22

As at 31st March 2018, the Group has recognised
deferred income tax assets of approximately HK$33.6
million in relation to the cumulative tax losses of certain
subsidiaries of the Company in different jurisdictions.
RZE—NF=ZA=+—H BB BAFTMUNRTAE
AEEBER ETWEB AR Rt B EEBERRELERG
MEERLLSI6EEEBTT °

The recognition involved management’s judgement
on the estimation of whether there would be sufficient
taxable profits in future periods to utilise the tax losses.
Key assumptions adopted in management assessment
included forecasted revenue growth rates and forecasted
operating margins.
BRELEFMENEES R EEBRMEFTAKABRE AR
%0 JRE FR 150 08 M) AR P B 7S IS 1R 4 0 I T o B3R B AT (A PR
Mz FEBRBEEBARAERRRFERLEEN -

Our procedures in relation to management’s assessment
on recognition of deferred income tax assets included:
B EREEFRSEREE BB EMETNIERFE
1’

— Obtaining management’s profit forecast and
discussing with management about the key
assumptions considered in the profit forecast;

—  BUSEIRE 2% N TER K B E IR B 5w 5 & A TRORI P
EREZEFERK:

— Assessing the reliability of management’s profit
forecast by comparing the actual results for the
current year to prior year profit forecast; and

- BRANBRAFEEREEHBEFERMEA -
EREHRNERBREN &

S

— Assessing the key assumptions applied in the
management assessment as to whether there will
be sufficient taxable profits in future periods to
support the recognition of deferred tax assets,
including comparing the forecasted revenue growth
rates and operating margins to historical and recent
performance.

— FIAEBREMAKARRS A RHERT G
BRELEMSHEERANTIERE - BESERIK
AERERSEEFEBERITAEBIELLER -

We consider management’s judgement in the recognition
of deferred income tax assets to be supportable by the
available information.

B A E IR BT A S DA R HIB T SRR
XFF e
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Other Information

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises all of the information
included in the annual report other than the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is
a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of Directors and Audit Committee
for the Consolidated Financial Statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations,
or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.

Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited SEBESERAR AT
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. We report our
opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with Section 90 of
the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda and for no other purpose.
We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any
other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance
is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or
error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial
statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

o VEZE 2GR e
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control
that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters
that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and
where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Mr. Chow Shiu Hay, Antonio.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 22nd June 2018
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT
mERER

For the year ended 31st March2018 HZE_—_Z— \F=A=+—HILFE

2018 2017
—E-N\F —T—tF
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5 FET FAT
Revenue g A 5 3,032,852 3,022,923
Cost of sales =R 7 (2,808,579) (2,687,782)
Gross profit EF 224,273 335,141
Selling and distribution expenses HE R HEZ N 7 (58,610) (129,277)
General and administrative expenses —RRITH 7 (279,270) (295,061)
Other gains — net Hflizs — F58 6 8,109 217,961
Fair value gain on investment properties & W2 A BEKZE 15 14,818 271,985
Operating (loss)/profit K (Fr|) R (90,680) 400,749
Finance income BRI 10 5,010 1,964
Finance costs M ER 10 (70,708) (119,085)
Share of results of joint ventures — net  E(E & & ARl 2 ¥4E& — F5E 21 14,366 (36,511)
(Loss)/profit before income tax BRBLAT (B51]) R F (142,012) 247,117
Income tax credit/(expense) FTisBiEe,/ (ZiH) 11 1,772 (147,981)
(Loss)/profit for the year FE (BB, 55 (140,240) 99,136
(Loss)/profit attributable to: FEfL (BEB) & F
Owners of the Company ViN/NETEF SN (147,712) 101,776
Non-controlling interests FE 98 I 4 R S 7,472 (2,640)
(140,240) 99,136
(Loss)/earnings per ordinary share ARABEBAELFR
attributable to owners of the EREER (BE) EF
Company for the year
Basic (loss)/earnings per share FRRER(FE) BF 13 HK(23.02) cents &fl  HK15.86 cents 7fll
Diluted (loss)/earnings per share SREE (R, &aF 13 HK(23.02) cents #{l  HK15.63 cents 7 fl

The above consolidated income statement should be read in bt E B R EHEER M — R E
conjunction with the accompanying notes.

<]
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
AEETHEHEBE@R

For the year ended 31st March 2018 HZE_—_Z— \F=A=+—HILFE

2018 2017
—E-N\F —T—tF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FAT
(Loss)/profit for the year FE (BB, &R (140,240) = 99,136
Other comprehensive (loss)/income: H#2m (i) A :
Items that have been reclassified or CEHVEREEATEH
may be subsequently reclassifiedto SEAER2ER
profit or loss:
Change in fair value of available-for-sale Rl EZHEEEZ AN BESE
financial asset (220) 19
Currency translation differences EWENR =% 118,928 (109,890)
Realisation of translation reserve upon HEMNBARIEBZENFEZR
disposal of subsidiaries - 87,383
Other comprehensive income/(loss) EEHEMEZEKA S (BE)
fortheyear . 118,708 | (22,488)
Total comprehensive (loss)/income FE2HE(EE) WAHBE
for the year (21,532) 76,648
Total comprehensive (loss)/income EEEE(ER)WMAEE:
attributable to:
— Owners of the Company — NRRIER A (32,114) 79,310
— Non-controlling interests — ISR 10,582 (2,662)
(21,532) 76,648
The above consolidated statement of comprehensive income should FiiGAE S EHERREEBEN A M T —tRIE -

be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited SEBESERAR AT



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
e BB AR R R

As at 31st March2018 R—Z—N\FE=A=+—H

2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+F
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B 5 FET FAT
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment W - E & E 14 131,319 163,489
Investment properties "EY 15 1,389,377 1,002,682
Land use rights & b {0 AR A 16 9,316 9,518
Intangible assets mEEE 17 6,607 -
Investments in joint ventures NEBANTIZEE 21 19,931 110,631
Prepayments, deposits and other FENFRE Zek
receivables H ) JiE U5 BR K 27 22,628 52,860
Deferred income tax assets REFTISREE 22 24,817 21,370
Available-for-sale financial asset AHEEZHBEE 23 286 506
1,604,281 1,581,056
Current assets REBEE
Prepayments, deposits and other FERRIA - ke Rk
receivables H th & U BR R 27 186,102 165,281
Inventories FE 25 289,566 395,628
Amount due from a joint venture FEW A & NTIRIE 21 17,593 34,360
Trade and bill receivables JiE W AR 3 I R AR 26 528,238 495,033
Financial assets at fair value through BEARBEFABRZZ
profit or loss MEEE 24 135,535 15,500
Pledged bank deposits BEIFRITIFE R 28 57,807 68,659
Cash and cash equivalents HeRBESZE 28 312,766 628,382
1,527,607 1,802,843
Total assets EEHARE 3,131,888 3,383,899
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (CONTINUED)

e M RIR R ()

As at 31st March 2018 R=-_Z—N\F=A=+—H

2018 2017
—E-N\EF —E—tF
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B 3T FHExT FET
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES EakE8E
Equity attributable to owners of the & AT#EE AELEZ
Company
Share capital f& 7 32 64,055 64,188
Reserves % & 34 993,648 1,045,323
1,057,703 1,109,511
Non-controlling interests FEEHMER 29,738 21,387
Total equity EREm 1,087,441 1,130,898
Liabilities =R
Non-current liabilities kRBEE
Accrued liabilities and other payables FEEt B EREMENERER 30 11,813 7,223
Deferred income tax liabilities BEMERAE 22 71,156 69,638
Borrowings EE 31 611,292 509,190
694,261 586,051
Current liabilities REBEE
Trade and bill payables EREREEE 29 284,811 143,604
Receipts in advance TR IR 24,174 28,696
Accrued liabilities and other payables EstBENLRHEMEMNER 30 81,604 163,688
Amount due to a joint venture ER—MEEERAER 21 - 49,900
Current income tax liabilities EHEHAaE 12,032 67,916
Borrowings IEs 31 947,565 1,213,146
1,350,186 1,666,950
Total liabilities =RF b 2,044,447 2,253,001
Total equity and liabilities EZLEaERE 3,131,888 3,383,899

The above consolidated statement of financial position should be
read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

The consolidated financial statements were approved by the Board
of Directors on 22nd June 2018 and were signed on its behalf.

Yao Cho Fai Andrew
BiE 1E

Chairman
Ei

b AR BT AR O 3R 8 HL I PR A PR B — BFBIAE o

FEVBRRER-_T-N\FRA-_+-_BE

EEgitE UTRREE-

Luk Pui Yin Grace

Executive Director

HITES
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

For the year ended 31st March 2018 HE-—Z— N\E=A=+—HILFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

RRAEB RS
Non-
Share Other Retained controlling
capital reserves earnings Total interest  Total equity
BAx EpEeE  REER fE FEbtEE  EReR

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEL FEL TEL TAET TAER TER

(Note 32) (Note 34) (Note 34)

(Wsk32)  (P9sE34)  (Kizka4)

As at 1st April 2016 RZZE-R~EWMA—H 64,064 556,908 438,452 1,059,424 2,079 1,061,503
Profit/(loss) for the year FERF/ (BB) - - 101,776 101,776 (2,640) 99,136
Other comprehensive (loss)/income E# 2@ (B1&) /KA
— Change in fair value of available- — A/t HEZHBEE Y
for-sale financial asset (Note 23) AREEZE(MF22) - 19 - 19 - 19
— Currency translation differences ~ — EBER % - (109,868) - (109,868) (22)  (109,890)
— Realisation of translation reserve ~ — HEFBAR B2
upon disposal of subsidiaries ERFEEER
(Note 36) (F33£36) - 87,383 - 87,383 - 87,383
Total comprehensive (loss)/income 2@ (B18) /A 2% - (22,466) 101,776 79,310 (2,662) 76,648

Transactions with owners in their HEBALUHEE AN

capacity as owners HRETHRS
Appropriation of statutory reserves  REETHE - 160 (160) - - -
Lapse of share options K ERE - (345) 345 - - -
Share-based payment URH AER 2 - 1,060 - 1,060 - 1,060
Exercise of share options TR ERE 124 656 - 780 - 780

Change on ownership interestina R —BME AR 2 BAEER
subsidiary without change of control 5 ) fy 32 il & 1~ 2

(Note 37) (Mizka7) - (10,137) - (10,137) 21,970 11,833
Dividends paid to owners of the ENARAIEEAZRE

Company

— 2016 final dividend — 25— FREKRE - - (6,419) (6,419) - (6,419)

— 2017 interim dividend —ZE—tFPHRE - - (14,507) (14,507) - (14,507)
Total transactions with owners in their BB AAERE AN FH

capacity as owners ETNR B 124 (8,606) (20,741) (29,223) 21,970 (7,253)
As at 31st March 2017 R-E-t+t&=Zf=+-H 64,188 525,836 519,487 1,109,511 21,387 1,130,898
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY (CONTINUED)
LEEREER(E

For the year ended 31st March 2018 HE_—_Z— \F=A=+—HILFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

ENGIE ToPN S
Non-
Share Other  Retained controlling
capital reserves earnings Total interest Total equity

Ra  HittRE  REET Al FRHMER BRAR

HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000

TERT TERT TERT TERT TERT TERT
(Note 32)  (Note 34)  (Note 34)
(Wax32)  (Mi34)  (MiEE34)

As at 1st April 2017 W-ZE-t+tEMA—H 64,188 525,836 519,487 1,109,511 21,387 1,130,898
(Loss)/profit for the year EE(BR) /57 - - (147,712) (147,712 1,472 (140,240)
Other comprehensive (loss)/income Ef2E (F8&) /KA
— Change in fair value of available-  — At HEZHBEE Y
for-sale financial asset (Note 23) AREEZE(F22) - (220) - (220) - (220)
— Currency translation differences —EBELZE - 115,818 - 115,818 3,110 118,928
Total comprehensive income/(loss) 2 A/ (F1E) 24 - 115,598  (147,712) (32,114) 10,582 (21,532)

Transactions with owners in their EBAUEEEAN

capacity as owners SRETNRS
Appropriation of statutory reserves  IREETE A - 3,944 (3,944) - - -
Share-based payment PR BER 2 S - 2,861 - 2,861 - 2,861

Change on ownership interestina ~ R—FIME AR 2 BAERER
subsidiary without change of control &) f 15 Hl i 1 &

(Note 37) (MizEa7) - (5,576) (56) (5,632) 8,109 2,477
Shares repurchased and cancelled R {7 B )+t 3 (133) 133 (940) (940) - (940)
Dividends paid to owners of the ERARAEEA

Company ZRE

— 2017 final dividend —ZE-tFREKRE - - (15,983) (15,983) - (15,983)
Dividends paid to a non-controlling R IEYNGIE 2

interest of a subsidiary EazlRe - - - - (10,340) (10,340)
Total transactions with owners in their 5 A E#EH AH

capacity as owners SETNRHEE (133) 1,362 (20,923) (19,694 (2,231) (21,925
As at 31st March 2018 R-E-NE=ZA=+-H 64,055 642,796 350,852 1,057,703 29,738 1,087,441

The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should be Ll aHESEEREHEBEMN M —HEE -
read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
SERTRER

For the year ended 31st March2018 HZE_—_Z— \F=A=+—HILFE

2018 2017
—E-N\EF —E—tF
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B 5 FERT FHET
Cash flows from operating activities K& EIBHHLRE
Cash generated from/(used in) KEEREEL/(FR)
operations Z2HRe 35 (a) 19,399 (254,310)
Interest received =R E NS 5,010 1,715
Interest paid 2 E (67,254) (99,075)
Hong Kong profits tax paid BEREBENEH (6,970) (13,145)
Hong Kong profits tax refund BEARNEHRED 13,348 -
China corporate income tax paid ENPREREMRER (69,520) (11,883)
Net cash outflow from operating LEEB RN 2IRe FE
activities (105,987) (376,698)
Cash flows from investing activities #REEFHI2HLRE
Purchase of property, plant and WEVE BEL
equipment B4 (11,833) (5,581)
Proceeds received from disposals of HEME BMELRXEZ
property, plant and equipment FT 8 318 35 (b) 153 2,003
Purchase of an investment property BE—BKEME - (735,668)
Capital expenditures for investment "EMEZ
properties G 15 (16,170) (16,990)
Net proceeds received from disposal of B U £ & E R &
subsidiaries Fri8 3R FE 36 — 704,510
Payments for acquisition of a WE—RMB AR 2R
subsidiary, net of cash acquired (FBRATERS) 36 (2,694) —
Acquisition of a business ES e 17 (4,703) —
Investment in a joint venture BERNAIEE 21 - (13,784)
Distribution from a joint venture B&ERANE 21 167,123 —
Purchases of financial assets at fair BAUARBAERA
value through profit or loss BN emEE (232,987) —
Proceeds received from disposal of HEURAABERT A
financial assets at fair value through BRENEMEE
profit or loss Fr18 508 111,015 —
Net cash inflow/(outflow) from WEEREZ
investing activities BenrA/ (OfH)F8 9,904 (65,510)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)
%Aiﬁﬁljlbgi (IIE)

For the year ended 31st March 2018 HE_—_Z— \F=A=+—HILFE

2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+F
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B 5 FERT FAT
Cash flows from financing activities ®EITBH2HLRE
Proceeds from bank loans RITERZ TS RIE 331,617 615,681
Repayment of bank loans EERITER (241,494) (462,253)
Net (decrease)/increase in trust receipt SR WIEIRTTERZ
bank loans R 1 hn%E 48 (308,833) 395,003
Decrease/(increase) in pledged bank IR TIOR3 n)
deposits 10,852 (9,493)
Consideration received from HeFEFE AR 2 W B 2 R AE
non-controlling interests 37 2,453 11,833
Dividends paid to owners of the ENAATHEEAZRE
Company (15,983) (20,926)
Dividends paid to non-controlling AT IR IR R 2 IR
interests (10,340) —
Repurchase of shares R 15 B =] (940) —
Exercise of share options 1TERERR R - 780
Net cash (outflow)/inflow from mEFHHRE ORE)
financing activities mAEEE (232,668) 530,625
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and HRekReFBEZ
cash equivalents FCRA) /1 (328,751) 88,417
Cash and cash equivalents, FUzRekBesEE
beginning of the year 628,382 546,261
Currency translation differences EWETE =% 13,135 (6,296)
Cash and cash equivalents, FroBReRReEE
end of the year 312,766 628,382
The above consolidated statement of cash flows should be read in LR EReRERBEEEWAM T —OFBIE -

conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

General information

Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited (the
“Company”) is a limited liability company incorporated in
Bermuda on 12th January 1994 as an exempted company
under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda. The shares of the
Company have been listed on the Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited since 18th February 1994.
The address of its registered office is Clarendon House, 2
Church Street, Hamilton HM11, Bermuda.

The Company and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”)
are principally engaged in stockholding and distribution of
construction materials such as steel products; trading of
sanitary wares, kitchen cabinets and engineering plastics; steel
recycling and property investment and project management
businesses.

These consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollar (“HK$"), unless otherwise stated.

Summary of significant accounting policies

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation
of these consolidated financial statements are set out below.
These policies have been consistently applied to all the years
presented, unless otherwise stated.

2.1 Basis of preparation

These consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with all applicable Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRS”) and disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance
Cap. 622. They have been prepared under the historical
cost convention, as modified by the revaluation of
available-for-sale financial asset, financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss and investment properties,
which are carried at fair value.

The preparation of these consolidated financial
statements in conformity with HKFRS requires the use
of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires
management to exercise its judgement in the process
of applying the Group’s accounting policies. The areas
involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or
areas where assumptions and estimates are significant
to the consolidated financial statements, are disclosed in
Note 4.

e B SRR M R

— R & H
BAEBAERARQAG(ERRA2AD RV
— QW hmE—AB+_-_HBEBREEFTMK
YABRAR  UREBEAFRE-NLN—F
RalE -KAE—HE#BERAR 83—l
FZA+TNBR ARARBROREBBE
RGFABRAREREM - KM ER
i, #F AClarendon House, 2 Church Street,
Hamilton HM11, Bermuda -

ARBREMBAB(GEIAEE]) TR
WEFH R HEEME - PIMA Em
BARE BFHELRIRZBES @O
WIAREHERENIBERBEER

R BHAN  REREMBRRAET
(TBTTI IR -

TEEHBEME

MAZEGEWBERERBZIIEZGHRK
REIWMT - BREHBI  ZEBERR
2 cBFE —BEMER -

21 wWEBUEE

KA BRRKBELEVHRELE
AI(TEEHREENDRBEERQA
RPlIFEeREZHERERSE - AR
FEERAEHRE  LEMEMEAH
HEVBEE HoRBEFARR
ZHBEERREMEELER -

REZENTEBEYBREER 28
EMBBRFTRERE THERLEESF
HE AT EEEBEERALNEE
SR BRRZBEPITELAE - B R
BEZHABRSEEME 2 HBE - X
BRHGEAMBHRERBEBEANREK LI
BZHBCHENFATRE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B SRR M R

2

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

Changes in accounting policies and disclosures

(@)

Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited

Amended standard adopted by the Group

The Group has adopted the following new, revised
and amended standards and interpretations to
existing standards (“new HKFRSs”) that have been
issued and are effective for the Group’s accounting
year beginning on or after 1st April 2017:

HKAS 7 (Amendment)  Disclosure initiative

HKAS 12 (Amendment)  Recognition of deferred tax assets
for unrealised losses
HKFRS 12 (Amendment) Disclosure of interest in other
entities

The adoption of these new HKFRSs did not result
in substantial changes to the accounting policies
of the Group and had no material effect on how
the results and financial position for the current or
prior accounting periods have been prepared and
presented.

BRBEERERAR

2

FESTBEME(H)
21 REEAE(E)
B RRZEBRFE
(@) ANEEFERNAENEETER

AEBERATIEHAMAR
TE-ttFWHA-HBHIEZEF
WMZEAFRERZHE &
BRI REERER REIREE
AlzeB((MEeYHREE
all) -

ERGEN  BEHE
E75 (B3])

BERGHEN HRAEABBERE
125 (B3]) EREEE
ERUBRE BRETHE4TBEOE
RAE12% &

(B3])

R Lo 37 &8 M 5% s R
WA EFRNEEN ST HE N
REREEH NI E Y M ER
K2 ERMABESTHHEZ
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B SRR M R

Summary of significant accounting policies 2 FESTHEMEE)
(Continued)
2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued) 21 FBEEE(E)
Changes in accounting policies and disclosures BB RCEEREE(E)
(Continued)
(b)  New and amended standards and interpretations (b)  ERERAZ FET RATIEETER)
not yet adopted Rt FE

Certain new and amended accounting standards
and interpretations have been published that are
not mandatory for 31st March 2018 reporting
period and have not been early adopted by the

Group:

RZEBE-NF=ZA=+—8B#K
= HIE 8 MR8 3R 58 B £ K
BASEIERFRANE T
el RGBT ER RRE

Effective
for accounting
periods beginning

on or after

RUTAEH 2%

BBzt HELER

Amendments to HKFRS 2 Classification and measurement of share-based 1st January 2018
payment transactions

BRI BREEFER (BITX) WD BERZNRR S 2 ERTE —E-N\F-A-H

Amendments to HKFRS 4 Insurance contracts 1st January 2018

BRUBREEZSE (BITX) REELK —E-N\F-A-H

Amendments to annual improvement Annual improvements 2014 — 2016 cycle 1st January 2018

project HKFRS 1 and HKAS 28
ERERBRERNFEIRR CE-NEEZ-RFREFERE —E-N\F-A-H

BE G ERF28% (B3 X)

HKFRS 9
BRMB RS LA R

HKFRS 15
BRMBRE LA E155

Amendments to HKFRS 15
BBUBHRERE155 (BFIK)

HK(IFRIC)-Int 22

BE(BERMBEREREZES)
2EE225

Amendments to HKAS 40
BEGTHEN B0 (BT K)

Financial instruments
TRIA

Revenue from contracts with customers

REEFPANZ KRG

Clarifications to HKFRS 15
BERBREERE155 2 BB

Foreign currency transactions and advance
considerations

MRS REMNKE

Transfer of investment property

REMEHENBH

1st January 2018 (i)
Z2-\E—-A-8

1st January 2018 (i)

ZZ-NE-A-8 i)
1st January 2018 (i)
ZZ-NE-A-8 i)
1st January 2018
—E-\&—A—H
1st January 2018
—E-\&—A—H
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B SRR M R

2 Summary of significant accounting policies

(Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

Changes in accounting policies and disclosures
(Continued)

(®)

New and amended standards and interpretations
not yet adopted (Continued)

TESTREBEGE)

21 WBEE(HE)
B BRZEBEBR B E (&)

(b) AR FTETRASNEETER)
RipFE(E)
Effective

for accounting
periods beginning

on or after
RUTBEHH 2%
Rz et BBEN
HKFRS 16 Leases 1st January 2019 (i)
BEMBREERE16% HE “Z-AE-A-8 (i)
HK(IFRIC)-Int 23 Uncertainty over income tax treatments 1st January 2019
B (BEREBREARR FEHERE 2 T RE!R —E-NE-A-H
ZEg)RBE2BR
Amendments to HKFRS 9 Prepayment features with negative compensation 1st January 2019
B BRERIES (BITX) ERBRERFE ZERNTE —E-NF-A-H

Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28

BN BREEE105
RER S ERE28% (B3] A)

None of these is expected to have a significant
effect on the consolidated financial statements of
the Group, except those set out below:

U)

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments

Nature of change

HKFRS 9 addresses the classification,
measurement and derecognition of financial
assets and financial liabilities, introduces
new rules for hedge accounting and a new
impairment model for financial assets.

Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited SEBESERAR AT

Sale or contribution of assets between an investor
and its associate or joint venture

REEERABED
BEHEXIE

To be determined

Afz BRETE

BHZEFEIRT@HAKE
ZEHAMBRREREATE
HE T 51 P& B O

) BEUBRSERNFERS
BMIA

BEV KRS ERFEORE
BTG EERMBAERED
DR CFTERKRIEER
SIS & 5 HT R B & B
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B SRR M R

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

Changes in accounting policies and disclosures
(Continued)

(b)  New and amended standards and interpretations
not yet adopted (Continued)

(i) HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (Continued)

Impact

Management is currently assessing the
effects of applying the new standard on the
Group’s financial assets and liabilities and
is expecting the following impact from the
adoption of the new standard on 1st April
2018:

The financial assets held by the Group
include:

(i) Financial instruments currently classified
as available-for-sale for which a fair
value through other comprehensive
income (“FVOCI”) election is available;

(i) Investments currently measured at fair
value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”)
which will continue to be measured on
the same basis under HKFRS 9.

Accordingly, the Group does not expect
the new guidance to affect the classification
and measurement of these financial assets.
However, gains or losses realized on the sale
of financial assets at FVOCI will no longer
be transferred to profit or loss on sale, but
instead reclassified below the line from the
available-for-sale financial assets fair value
reserve to retained earnings.

2 FEEHBEHEE)

21 WEBEXE(HE)
B BRZBEBR K E ()

(b) KRN AT RAEEETER
K2 FE(#&)

)

FEMBREENFIRE
MIAGE)

B2 486
P

&2 B B AT E 12 7 4 8
FERM A EBY L E
REBHEE  LEMR
—E-N\FEmA—BRS
SRR EE T E

AEBABYBEER

() ErESEANMHIEE
Br#EEZAREE
FPAE A 2= @A
([BEAREBEEFAR
HEERADNS &
T H:

(i B ATARRA R EER
AB#Z(BRRA(EE
FPABEBEDAEEE
REFEMBEHREE
RIS 957 AR R & &
AENKRE -

At - AN & B 78 HY I8 B
BrEeEgEMBEEZS
BREETE Rl BAR
EEFAHEMBEZERAZ
MBEEz2HE  HEBR
WHAEBRBETBREE
BEEEER mea i
BEERAAREBENEZ
AP EREBEETSER
BE®RA -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B SRR M R

2 Summary of significant accounting policies

(Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

Changes in accounting policies and disclosures
(Continued)

(b)  New and amended standards and interpretations
not yet adopted (Continued)

U

Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (Continued)

Impact (Continued)

There will be no impact on the Group’s
accounting for financial liabilities, as the new
requirements only affect the accounting
for financial liabilities that are designated at
FVTPL and the Group does not have any
such liabilities. The derecognition rules have
been transferred from Hong Kong Accounting
Standards (“HKAS”) 39 Financial Instruments:
Recognition and Measurement and have not
been changed.

The new hedge accounting rules will align
the accounting for hedging instruments more
closely with the Group’s risk management
practices. As a general rule, more hedge
relationships might be eligible for hedge
accounting, as the standard introduces
a more principles-based approach. The
Group does not have any hedge instrument.
Therefore, the Group does not expect any
impact from the new hedge accounting rules.

BRBEERERAR

2

IRGTBREE(R)
21 REEEH)
B BEZRERHE (K
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

Changes in accounting policies and disclosures
(Continued)

(b)  New and amended standards and interpretations
not yet adopted (Continued)

(i) HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (Continued)

Impact (Continued)

The new impairment model requires the
recognition of impairment provisions based
on expected credit losses rather than only
incurred credit losses as is the case under
HKAS 39. It applies to financial assets
classified at amortised cost, debt instruments
measured at FVOCI, contract assets
under HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts
with Customers, lease receivables, loan
commitments and certain financial guarantee
contracts.

The new standard also introduces expanded
disclosure requirements and changes
in presentation. These are expected to
change the nature and extent of the Group’s
disclosures about its financial instruments
particularly in the year of the adoption of the
new standard.

Date of adoption by the Group

HKFRS 9 is mandatory for financial years
commencing on or after 1st January
2018. The Group will apply the new rules
retrospectively from 1st April 2018, with the
practical expedients permitted under the
standard. Comparative figures for the year
ended 31st March 2018 will not be restated.

e B SRR M R

TESTREBEE)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B SRR M R

2 Summary of significant accounting policies

(Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

Changes in accounting policies and disclosures

(Continued)

(b)  New and amended standards and interpretations

not yet adopted (Continued)

(i)  HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with

Customers

Nature of change

The HKICPA has issued a new standard for
the recognition of revenue. This will replace
HKAS 18 which covers contracts for goods
and services and HKAS 11 which covers
construction contracts and the related

literature.

The new standard is based on the principle
that revenue is recognised when control of a

good or service transfers to a customer.

The standard permits either a full
retrospective or a modified retrospective

approach for the adoption.

Impact

Management is currently assessing the
effects of applying the new standard on the
Group’s consolidated financial statements
and has identified the application of HKFRS
15 may result in the identification of separate
performance obligations which could affect
the timing of the recognition of revenue

generated from the provision of service.

Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B SRR M R

2 Summary of significant accounting policies

(Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

Changes in accounting policies and disclosures
(Continued)

(b)  New and amended standards and interpretations
not yet adopted (Continued)

(i)

)

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with
Customers (Continued)

Date of adoption by the Group

HKFRS 15 is mandatory for financial years
commencing on or after 1st January 2018.
At this stage, the Group intends to adopt the
standard using the modified retrospective
approach which means that the cumulative
impact of the adoption, if any, will be
recognised in retained earnings as of 1st
April 2018 and that comparatives will not be
restated.

HKFRS 16 Leases

Nature of change

HKFRS 16 will result in almost all leases being
recognised on the statement of financial
position, as the distinction between operating
and finance leases is removed. Under the
new standard, an asset (the right to use the
leased item) and a financial liability to pay
rentals are recognised. The only exceptions
are short-term and low-value leases.

The accounting for lessors will not
significantly change.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2

Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited

= B S R R M R

Summary of significant accounting policies

(Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

Changes in accounting policies and disclosures
(Continued)

(®)

New and amended standards and interpretations
not yet adopted (Continued)

)

HKFRS 16 Leases (Continued)

Impact

The standard will affect primarily the
accounting for the Group’s operating leases.
As at the reporting date, the Group has non-
cancellable operating lease commitments
of HK$81,788,000. The Group estimates
those related to payments for short-term and
low value lease which will be recognised on
straight-line basis as an expense in profit or
loss are insignificant.

The Group has not yet assessed what
other adjustments, if any, are necessary
for example because of the change in the
definition of the lease term and the different
treatment of variable lease payments and
of extension and termination options. It is
therefore not yet possible to estimate the
amount of right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities that will have to be recognised on
adoption of the new standard and how this
may affect the Group’s profit or loss and
classification of cash flows going forward.

Some of the commitments may be covered
by the exception for short-term and low value
leases and some commitments may relate to
arrangements that will not qualify as leases
under HKFRS 16.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies

(Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

Changes in accounting policies and disclosures
(Continued)

(b)

New and amended standards and interpretations

not yet adopted (Continued)
(iii)

HKFRS 16 Leases (Continued)

Date of adoption by the Group

HKFRS 16 is mandatory for financial years
commencing on or after 1st January 2019.
At this stage, the Group does not intend to
adopt the standard before its effective date.
The Group intends to apply the simplified
transition approach and will not restate
comparative amounts for the year prior to
first adoption.

2.2 Subsidiaries

(a)

Consolidation

A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured
entity) over which the Group has control. The
Group controls an entity when the Group is
exposed to, or has right to, variable returns from
its involvement with the entity and has the ability
to affect those returns through its power over the
entity. Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date
on which control is transferred to the Group. They
are deconsolidated from the date that control
ceases.

(i)

Business combinations

The Group applies the acquisition method
to account for business combinations. The
consideration transferred for the acquisition
of a subsidiary is the fair values of the
assets transferred, the liabilities incurred to
the former owners of the acquiree and the
equity interests issued by the Group. The
consideration transferred includes the fair
value of any asset or liability resulting from
a contingent consideration arrangement.
Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and
contingent liabilities assumed in a business
combination are measured initially at their fair
values at the acquisition date.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B SRR M R

TESTREBEE)

21 WEBEXE(HE)
B BRZBEBR K E ()

(b) KRN AT RAEEETER

RZFE(E)

(i) BB R EERE169
MEE)
KEFFRW . HE

& B % s R F 1657
R-_FT-—NFE-—A—-B=
Z 18 Bt 2 B IR TR 58
ER e RULER  NEE
TN E AR H 2 B %
Mz ER - NEEHER
BEAESN BEETE
BIEREMZAFEZ
BB -

22 BT
(a) &

MEAREASREHESR
RZER(BHEBEERR
EAKERZ2E -RER
MEABRBAERREIFSR
A REENEBHZER
BENRBROAZEZSTEEHE
AIREEHZEREREE
B B8 X B PR B R B R
SEzAEZAAKR L HZ
BRI 2 AR IEARR -

o
Het

: il

ol
)

it
& o

) XBav

AEBETEHAHER
REBEEAR - WiE
MERRZHEERERM
HREE HWRKREBLZ
ABEBEARELEABREAN
SEMBTRAER Z D
RnEE -MEERKESR
KAREBLRFELEZEM
BEXBBEZAREE-
REBEHEMEEZA
BABEREREZAE
RERBE BEBAZ
e R BEFE -

Annual Report 2017/18 53§

87



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B SRR M R

2

Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited

Summary of significant accounting policies

(Continued)

2.2 Subsidiaries (Continued)

(a)

Consolidation (Continued)

()

(i)

Business combinations (Continued)

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as
incurred.

The excess of the consideration transferred,
the amount of any non-controlling interest
in the acquiree and the acquisition-date fair
value of any previous equity interest in the
acquiree over the fair value of the identifiable
net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill
(Note 2.8(a)). If the total of consideration
transferred, non-controlling interest
recognised and previously held interest
measured is less than the fair value of the
net assets of the subsidiary acquired in the
case of a bargain purchase, the difference
is recognised directly in the consolidated
income statement.

Intra-group transactions, balances and
unrealised gains on transactions between
group companies are eliminated. Unrealised
losses are also eliminated unless the
transaction provides evidence of an
impairment of the transferred asset. When
necessary, amounts reported by subsidiaries
have been adjusted to conform with the
Group’s accounting policies.

Changes in ownership interests in
subsidiaries without change of control

Transactions with non-controlling interests
that do not result in a loss of control are
accounted for as equity transactions —
that is, as transactions with the owners of
the subsidiary in their capacity as owners.
The difference between fair value of any
consideration paid and the relevant share
acquired of the carrying amount of net assets
of the subsidiary is recorded in equity. Gains
or losses on disposals to non-controlling
interests are also recorded in equity.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.2 Subsidiaries (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Consolidation (Continued)
(i) Disposal of subsidiaries

When the Group ceases to have control,
any retained interest in the entity is re-
measured to its fair value at the date when
control is lost, with the change in carrying
amount recognised in profit or loss. The fair
value is the initial carrying amount for the
purposes of subsequently accounting for
the retained interest as an associate, joint
venture or financial asset. In addition, any
amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income in respect of that
entity are accounted for as if the Group had
directly disposed of the related assets or
liabilities. It means the amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income
are reclassified to profit or loss or transferred
to another category of equity as specified/
permitted by applicable HKFRSs.

Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for
at cost less impairment. Cost includes direct
attributable costs of investment. The results of
subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company on
the basis of dividend received and receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in
subsidiaries is required upon receiving a dividend
from these investments if the dividend exceeds the
total comprehensive income of the subsidiary in
the period the dividend is declared or if the carrying
amount of the investment in the separate financial
statements exceeds the carrying amount in the
consolidated financial statements of the investee’s
net assets including goodwill.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2

BB RR M

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.3 Associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group
has significant influence but not control, generally
accompanying a shareholding of between 20% and
50% of the voting rights. Investments in associates are
accounted for using the equity method of accounting.
Under the equity method, the investment is initially
recognised at cost, and the carrying amount is increased
or decreased to recognise the investor’s share of the
profit or loss of the investee after the date of acquisition.
The Group’s investments in associates include goodwill
identified on acquisition.

The Group’s share of post-acquisition profits or losses
is recognised in the consolidated income statement,
and its share of post-acquisition movements in reserves
is recognised in other comprehensive income with a
corresponding adjustment to the carrying amount of
the investment. When the Group’s share of losses in an
associate equals or exceeds its interest in the associate,
including any other unsecured receivables, the Group
does not recognise further losses, unless it has incurred
legal or constructive obligations or made payments on
behalf of the associate.

The Group determines at each reporting date whether
there is any objective evidence that the investment in
the associate is impaired. If this is the case, the Group
calculates the amount of impairment as the difference
between the recoverable amount of the associate and
its carrying value and recognises the amount adjacent to
“share of results of associates — net” in the consolidated
income statement.

Profits and losses resulting from upstream and
downstream transactions between the Group and its
associate are recognised in the Group’s consolidated
financial statements only to the extent of unrelated
investor’s interests in the associates. Unrealised losses
are also eliminated unless the transaction provides
evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred.
Accounting policies of associates have been changed
where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies
adopted by the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.4

2.5

Joint arrangements

The Group has applied HKFRS 11 — Joint Arrangements
to all joint arrangements. Under HKFRS 11, investments
in joint arrangements are classified as either joint
operations or joint ventures depending on the contractual
rights and obligations of each investor. The Group
has assessed the nature of its joint arrangements and
determined them to be joint ventures. Joint ventures are
accounted for using the equity method.

Under the equity method of accounting, interests in joint
ventures are initially recognised at cost and adjusted
thereafter to recognise the Group’s share of the post-
acquisition profits or losses and movements in other
comprehensive income. The Group‘s investments in joint
ventures include goodwill identified on acquisition. Upon
the acquisition of the ownership interest in a joint venture,
any difference between the cost of the joint venture
and the Group’s share of the net fair value of the joint
venture’s identifiable assets and liabilities is accounted
for as goodwill. When the Group’s share of losses in a
joint venture equals or exceeds its interests in the joint
ventures, including any other unsecured receivables, the
Group does not recognise further losses, unless it has
incurred obligations or made payments on behalf of the
joint ventures.

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group
and its joint ventures are eliminated to the extent of the
Group’s interest in the joint ventures. Unrealised losses
are also eliminated unless the transaction provides
evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred.
Accounting policies of the joint ventures have been
changed where necessary to ensure consistency with
the policies adopted by the Group.

Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent
with the internal reporting provided to the Chief
Operating Decision Maker (“CODM”), who is responsible
for allocating resources and assessing performance
of the operating segments, has been identified as the
executive directors that make strategic decisions.
Information relating to segment assets and liabilities is
not disclosed as such information is not reported to the
CODM.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2

Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited

= B S R R M R

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.6 Foreign currency translation

(a)

(b)

Functional and presentation currency

ltems included in the financial statements of each
of the Group’s entities are measured using the
currency of the primary economic environment
in which the entity operates (the “functional
currency”). The consolidated financial statements
are presented in HK$, which is the Company’s
functional and the Group’s presentation currency.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into
the functional currency using the exchange rates
prevailing at the dates of the transactions or
valuation where items are remeasured. Foreign
exchange gains and losses resulting from the
settlement of such transactions and from the
translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are recognised in the consolidated
income statement. All foreign exchange gains and
losses are presented in the consolidated income
statement within “other gains — net”.

Translation differences on non-monetary financial
assets and liabilities such as equities held at fair
value through profit or loss are recognised in
profit or loss as part of the fair value gain or loss.
Translation differences on non-monetary financial
assets, such as equities classified as available for
sale, are included in other comprehensive income.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.6 Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(c)

Group companies

The results and financial position of all the Group
entities (none of which has the currency of a
hyper-inflationary economy) that have a functional
currency different from the presentation currency
are translated into the presentation currency as
follows:

(i) assets and liabilities for each statement of
financial position presented are translated at
the closing rate at the date of that statement
of financial position;

(i)  income and expenses for each income
statement are translated at average exchange
rates (unless this average is not a reasonable
approximation of the cumulative effect of
the rates prevailing on the transaction dates,
in which case income and expenses are
translated at the rate on the dates of the
transactions); and

(i) all resulting currency translation differences
are recognised in other comprehensive
income.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the
acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets
and liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at
the closing rate. Currency translation differences
arising are recognised in other comprehensive
income.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2

= B S R R M R

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.6 Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(d)

Disposal of foreign operation and partial
disposal

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is, a
disposal of the Group’s entire interest in a foreign
operation, or a disposal involving loss of control
over a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation,
a disposal involving loss of joint control over a
joint venture that includes a foreign operation, or a
disposal involving loss of significant influence over
an associate that includes a foreign operation), all
of the currency translation differences accumulated
in equity in respect of that operation attributable to
the owners of the company are reclassified to profit
orloss.

In the case of a partial disposal that does not result
in the Group losing control over a subsidiary that
includes a foreign operation, the proportionate
share of accumulated currency translation
differences are re-attributed to non-controlling
interests and are not recognised in profit or loss.
For all other partial disposals (that is, reductions
in the Group’s ownership interest in associates
or joint ventures that do not result in the Group
losing significant influence or joint control), the
proportionate share of the accumulated exchange
difference is reclassified to profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B SRR M R

2 Summary of significant accounting policies 2 FESTHEMEE)
(Continued)

2.7 Property, plant and equipment 27 YE - BERRZRE

Property, plant and equipment, is stated at historical cost
less depreciation. Historical cost includes expenditure
that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s
carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset,
as appropriate, only when it is probable that future
economic benefits associated with the item will flow to
the Group and the cost of the item can be measured
reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is
derecognised. All other repairs and maintenance are
charged to the consolidated income statement during
the financial year in which they are incurred.

The depreciation of property, plant and equipment is
calculated using the straight-line method to allocate their
costs to their residual values over their estimated useful
lives, as follows:

WE - BELRERELKARTE
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— Buildings 2% t0 20% —BF 2%%E20%
— Leasehold improvements 20% to 33% —HEMERE 20%ZE33%
— Furniture and equipment 15% to 33% — R 15%%33%
— Machinery 10% t0 25% — MR 10%ZE25%
— Motor vehicles and vessels 5% to 20% — R MM 5%ZE20%

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed,
and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting
period. An asset’s carrying amount is written down
immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s
carrying amount is greater than its estimated recoverable
amount (Note 2.11).

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by
comparing proceeds with carrying amount and are
recognised within “general and administrative expenses”
in the consolidated income statement.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B SRR M R

2

Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.8

Intangible assets

(a)

(b)

Goodwill

Goodwill arises on the acquisition of subsidiaries
represents the excess of the consideration
transferred over the Group’s interest in net fair
value of the net identifiable assets, liabilities and
contingent liabilities of the acquiree and the fair
value of the non-controlling interest in the acquiree.

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill
acquired in a business combination is allocated
to each of the cash-generating units (“CGUSs”), or
groups of CGUs, that is expected to benefit from
the synergies of the combination. Each unit or
group of units to which the goodwill is allocated
represents the lowest level within the entity
at which the goodwill is monitored for internal
management purposes. Goodwill is monitored at
the operating segment level.

Goodwill impairment reviews are undertaken
annually or more frequently if events or changes
in circumstances indicate a potential impairment.
The carrying value of goodwill is compared to the
recoverable amount, which is the higher of value
in use and the fair value less costs of disposal.
Any impairment is recognised immediately as an
expense and is not subsequently reversed.

Customer contracts

Customer contracts acquired in a business
combination are recognised at fair values at the
acquisition date. Customer contracts have a finite
useful life and are carried at cost less accumulated
amortisation. Amortisation is calculated using the
utilisation method to allocate the cost of customer
contracts over their estimated useful life.

2.9 Land use rights

The up-front prepayments made for land use rights are
accounted for as operating leases. They are recognised
in the consolidated income statement on a straight-line
basis over the periods of the land use rights, or when
there is impairment, the impairment is recognised in the
consolidated income statement.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.10 Investment properties

2.11

Investment properties, principally comprising leasehold
land and buildings, are held for long-term rental yields or
for capital appreciation or both, and that is not occupied
by the companies in the Group. Land held under
operating leases are classified and accounted for as
investment properties when the rest of the definition of
investment properties is met. In such case, the operating
lease concerned is accounted for as if it were a finance
lease.

Investment properties are measured initially at its
cost, including related transaction costs. After initial
recognition, investment properties are carried at fair
value, representing open market value determined at
each reporting date by external valuers. Fair value is
based on active market prices, adjusted, if necessary,
for any difference in the nature, location or condition
of the specific asset. If the information is not available,
the Group uses alternative valuation methods such as
recent prices on less active markets or discounted cash
flow projections. Changes in fair values are recorded in
consolidated income statement as part of a valuation
gain or loss in “other gains — net”.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Assets that have an indefinite useful life — for example
goodwill, are not subject to amortisation and are tested
annually for impairment. Assets that are subject to
amortisation are reviewed for impairment whenever
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment
loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s
carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The
recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value
less costs of disposal and value in use. For the purposes
of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the
lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable
cash flows (CGUs). Non-financial assets other than
goodwill that suffered an impairment are reviewed for
possible reversal of the impairment at each reporting
date.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B SRR M R

2

Summary of significant accounting policies

(Continued)

2.12 Financial assets

(a)

Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets in the
following categories: at fair value through profit
or loss, loans and receivables and available-for-
sale. The classification depends on the purposes
for which the financial assets were acquired.
Management determines the classification of its
financial assets at initial recognition.

()

(i)

Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited

Financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss are financial assets held for trading.
A financial asset is classified in this category
if acquired principally for the purpose of
selling in the short-term. Derivatives are also
categorised as held for trading unless they
are designated as hedges. Assets in this
category are classified as current assets if
expected to be settled within 12 months;
otherwise, they are classified as non-current.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative
financial assets with fixed or determinable
payments that are not quoted in an active
market. They are included in current assets,
except for the amounts that are settled or
expected to be settled more than 12 months
after the end of the reporting period. These
are classified as non-current assets. The
Group’s loans and receivables comprise
“trade and bill receivables”, “deposits and
other receivables”, “amount due from a joint
venture”, “pledged bank deposits” and “cash
and cash equivalents” in the consolidated
statement of financial position.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.12 Financial assets (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Classification (Continued)
(i) Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-
derivatives that are either designated in this
category or not classified in any of the other
categories. They are included in non-current
assets unless the investment matures or
management intends to dispose of it within
12 months of the end of the reporting period.

Recognition and measurement

Regular way purchases and sales of financial
assets are recognised on the trade-date — the
date on which the Group commits to purchase or
sell the asset. Investments are initially recognised
at fair value plus transaction costs for all financial
assets not carried at fair value through profit or
loss. Financial assets carried at fair value through
profit or loss are initially recognised at fair value
and transaction costs are expensed in the
consolidated income statement. Financial assets
are derecognised when the rights to receive cash
flows from the investments have expired or have
been transferred and the Group has transferred
substantially all risks and rewards of ownership.
Available-for-sale financial asset and financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss are
subsequently carried at fair values. Loans and
receivables are subsequently carried at amortised
cost using the effective interest method.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair
value of the “financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss” category are recognised in the
consolidated income statement, within “other gains
— net” in the period in which they arise. Dividend
income from financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss is recognised in the income statement
as part of “other gains — net” when the Group’s
right to receive payments is established.

Changes in the fair value of monetary and non-
monetary securities classified as available-for-sale
are recognised in other comprehensive income.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B SRR M R

2

Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.12 Financial assets (Continued)

(c)

Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the
net amount reported in the statement of financial
position when there is a legally enforceable right
to offset the recognised amounts and there is an
intention to settle on a net basis or realise the asset
and settle the liability simultaneously. The legally
enforceable right must not be contingent on future
events and must be enforceable in the normal
course of business and in the event of default,
insolvency or bankruptcy of the company or the
counterparty.

2.13 Impairment of financial assets

(a)

Assets carried at amortised cost

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting
period whether there is objective evidence that
a financial asset or group of financial assets is
impaired. A financial asset or a group of financial
assets is impaired and impairment losses are
incurred only if there is objective evidence of
impairment as a result of one or more events that
occurred after the initial recognition of the asset (a
“loss event”) and that loss event (or events) has an
impact on the estimated future cash flows of the
financial asset or group of financial assets that can
be reliably estimated.

Evidence of impairment may include indications
that the debtors or a group of debtors is
experiencing significant financial difficulty, default or
delinquency in interest or principal payments, the
probability that they will enter bankruptcy or other
financial reorganisation, and where observable data
indicate that there is a measurable decrease in the
estimated future cash flows, such as changes in
arrears or economic conditions that correlate with
defaults.

For loans and receivables category, the amount of
the loss is measured as the difference between the
asset’s carrying amount and the present value of
estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit
losses that have not been incurred) discounted
at the financial asset’s original effective interest
rate. The carrying amount of the asset is reduced
and the amount of the loss is recognised in the
consolidated income statement.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.13 Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Assets carried at amortised cost (Continued)

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the
impairment loss decreases and the decrease
can be related objectively to an event occurring
after the impairment was recognised (such as an
improvement in the debtor’s credit rating), the
reversal of the previously recognised impairment
loss is recognised in the consolidated income
statement.

Assets classified as available-for-sale

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting
period whether there is objective evidence that
a financial asset or a group of financial assets
is impaired. In the case of equity investments
classified as available-for-sale, a significant or
prolonged decline in the fair value of the security
below its cost is also evidence that the assets are
impaired. If any such evidence exists for available-
for-sale financial asset, the cumulative loss —
measured as the difference between the acquisition
cost and the current fair value, less any impairment
loss on that financial asset previously recognised
in profit or loss — is reclassified from equity and
recognised in profit or loss. Impairment losses
recognised in the consolidated income statement
on equity instruments are not reversed through the
consolidated income statement.

2.14 Derivative financial instruments

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date
a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently
remeasured at their fair value. The method of recognising
the resulting gain or loss depends on whether the
derivative is designated as a hedging instrument, and
if so, the nature of the item being hedged. Since the
derivative instruments entered into by the Group do not
qualify for hedge accounting, changes in the fair value of
these derivative instruments are recognised immediately
in the consolidated income statement within “other gains
— net”.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B SRR M R

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.15 Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost is determined using the first-
in, first-out method. It excludes borrowing costs. Net
realisable value is the estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business, less applicable variable
selling expenses.

2.16 Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for
merchandise sold or services performed in the ordinary
course of business. If collection of trade and other
receivables is expected in one year or less (or in the
normal operating cycle of the business if longer), they are
classified as current assets. If not, they are presented as
non-current assets.

Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at
fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method, less provision for
impairment.

2.17 Cash and cash equivalents

In the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and
cash equivalents include cash in hand and deposits held
at call with banks with original maturities of three months
or less.

2.18 Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new
shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction,
net of tax, from the proceeds.

2.19 Trade and other payables

Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or
services that have been acquired in the ordinary course
of business from suppliers. Accounts payable are
classified as current liabilities if payment is due within
one year or less (or in the normal operating cycle of the
business if longer). If not, they are presented as non-
current liabilities.

Trade and other payables are recognised initially at fair

value and subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.20 Borrowings

2.21

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently
stated at amortised cost; any difference between the
proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption
value is recognised in the consolidated income statement
over the period of the borrowings using the effective
interest method.

Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are
recognised as transaction costs of the loan to the extent
that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be
drawn down. In this case, the fee is deferred until the
draw-down occurs. To the extent there is no evidence
that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be
drawn down, the fee is capitalised as a pre-payment for
liquidity services and amortised over the period of the
facility to which it relates.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the
Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of
the liability for at least 12 months after the end of the
reporting period.

Borrowing costs

General and specific borrowing costs directly attributable
to the acquisitions, construction or production of
qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily take
a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended
use or sale, are added to the cost of those assets, until
such time as the assets are substantially ready for their
intended use or sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in the
consolidated income statement in the period in which
they are incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B SRR M R

2

Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.22 Current and deferred income tax

The tax expense for the period comprises current
and deferred income tax. Tax is recognised in the
consolidated income statement, except to the extent
that it relates to item recognised directly in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this
case, the tax is also recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, respectively.

(a)

(b)

Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on
the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively
enacted at the reporting date in the countries
where the Company’s subsidiaries and
associates operate and generate taxable income.
Management periodically evaluates positions taken
in tax returns with respect to situations in which
applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation.
It establishes provisions where appropriate on the
basis of amounts expected to be paid to the tax
authorities.

Deferred income tax
Inside basis differences

Deferred income tax is recognised, using the
liability method, on temporary differences arising
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and
their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial
statements. However, deferred tax liabilities are not
recognised if they arise from initial recognition of
goodwill. The deferred income tax is not accounted
for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset
or liability in a transaction other than a business
combination that at the time of the transaction
affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss.
Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates
(and laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted at the reporting date and are expected to
apply when the related deferred income tax asset
is realised or the deferred income tax liability is
settled.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised to
the extent that it is probable that future taxable
profit will be available against which the temporary
differences can be utilised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.22 Current and deferred income tax (Continued)

(b)

(c)

Deferred income tax (Continued)
Outside basis differences

Deferred income tax liabilities are provided
on taxable temporary differences arising from
investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint
ventures, except for deferred income tax liability
where the timing of the reversal of the temporary
difference is controlled by the Group and it is
probable that the temporary difference will not
reverse in the foreseeable future. Generally the
Group is unable to control the reversal of the
temporary difference for associates and joint
ventures. Only when there is an agreement in
place that gives the Group the ability to control
the reversal of the temporary difference in the
foreseeable future, deferred tax liability in relation
to taxable temporary differences arising from the
associates and joint ventures’ undistributed profits
is not recognised.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised on
deductible temporary differences arising from
investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint
ventures only to the extent that it is probable the
temporary difference will reverse in the future and
there is sufficient taxable profit available against
which the temporary difference can be utilised.

Offsetting

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset
when there is a legally enforceable right to offset
current tax assets against current tax liabilities
and when the deferred income taxes assets and
liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same
taxation authority on either the taxable entity or
different taxable entities where there is an intention
to settle the balances on a net basis.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2

Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited

= B S R R M R

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.23 Employee benefits

(a)

(b)

(c)

Pension obligation

The Group operates defined contribution plan. The
schemes are generally funded through payments
to insurance companies or trustee-administered
funds.

A defined contribution plan is a pension plan
under which the Group pays fixed contributions
into a separate entity. The Group has no legal or
constructive obligations to pay further contributions
if the fund does not hold sufficient assets to pay
all employees the benefits relating to employee
service in the current and prior periods.

The Group pays contributions to publicly or
privately administered pension insurance plans on
a mandatory, contractual or voluntary basis. The
Group has no further payment obligations once the
contributions have been paid. The contributions
are recognised as employee benefit expense when
they are due. Prepaid contributions are recognised
as an asset to the extent that a cash refund or a
reduction in the future payments is available.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are payable when
employment is terminated by the Group before the
normal retirement date, or whenever an employee
accepts voluntary redundancy in exchange for
these benefits. The Group recognises termination
benefits when it is demonstrably committed to a
termination when the entity has a detailed formal
plan to terminate the employment of current
employees without possibility of withdrawal. In
the case of an offer made to encourage voluntary
redundancy, the termination benefits are measured
based on the number of employees expected to
accept the offer. Benefits falling due more than 12
months after the end of the reporting period are
discounted to their present value.

Bonus plans

The Group recognises a liability and an expense for
bonus. The Group recognises a provision where
contractually obliged or where there is a past
practice that has created a constructive obligation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.23 Employee benefits (Continued)

(d)

(e)

Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave are
recognised when they accrue to employees. A
provision is made for the estimated liability for
annual leave as a result of services rendered by
employees up to the reporting date. Employee
entitlements to sick leave and maternity leave are
not recognised until the time of leave.

Long service payments

The Group’s net obligation in respect of long
service payments to its employees upon
termination of their employment or retirement
when the employees fulfill certain circumstances
under the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance is
the amount of future benefit that employees have
earned in return for their service in the current
and prior periods. The obligation is reduced by
entitlements accrued under the Group’s retirement
plan that are attributable to contributions made by
the Group.

2.24 Share-based payments

The Group operates a number of equity-settled, share-
based compensation plans, under which the entity
receives services from employees as consideration for
equity instruments (options) of the Group. The fair value
of the employee services received in exchange for the
grant of the options is recognised as an expense. The
total amount to be expensed is determined by reference
to the fair value of the options granted:

including any market performance conditions (for
example, an entity’s share price);

excluding the impact of any service and non-market
performance vesting conditions (for example,
profitability, sales growth targets and remaining an
employee of the entity over a specified time period);
and

including the impact of any non-vesting conditions
(for example, the requirement for employees to
save).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B SRR M R

2

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.24 Share-based payments (Continued)

Non-market performance and service conditions
are included in assumptions about the number of
options that are expected to vest. The total expense is
recognised over the vesting period, which is the period
over which all of the specified vesting conditions are to
be satisfied.

In addition, in some circumstances employees may
provide services in advance of the grant date and
therefore the grant date fair value is estimated for the
purposes of recognising the expense during the period
between service commencement period and grant date.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group revises its
estimates of the number of options that are expected to
vest based on the non-market performance and service
conditions. It recognises the impact of the revision of
original estimates, if any, in the consolidated income
statement with a corresponding adjustment to equity.

When the options are exercised, the Company issues
new shares. The proceeds received net of any directly
attributable transaction costs are credited to share
capital (nominal value) and share premium.

The grant by the Company of options over its equity
instruments to the employees of subsidiary in the Group
is treated as a capital contribution. The fair value of
employee services received, measured by reference to
the grant date fair value, is recognised over the vesting
period as an increase to investment in subsidiary, with
a corresponding credit to equity in the parent entity
accounts.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B SRR M R

2 Summary of significant accounting policies 2 FESTHEMEE)
(Continued)

2.25 Provision

2.25 &5

Provisions for environment restoration, restructuring
costs and legal claims are recognised when: the Group
has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result
of past events; it is probable that an outflow of resources
will be required to settle the obligation; and the amount
has been reliably estimated. Restructuring provisions
comprise lease termination penalties and employee
termination payments. Provisions are not recognised for
future operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the
likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlement is
determined by considering the class of obligations as a
whole. A provision is recognised even if the likelihood of
an outflow with respect to any one item included in the
same class of obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the
expenditures expected to be required to settle the
obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and
the risks specific to the obligation. The increase in
the provision due to passage of time is recognised as
interest expense.

2.26 Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the
consideration received or receivable, and represents
amounts receivable for goods supplied, stated net of
discounts, returns and value added taxes. The Group
recognises revenue when the amount of revenue can
be reliably measured; when it is probable that future
economic benefits will flow to the entity; and when
specific criteria have been met for each of the Group’s
activities as described below. The Group bases its
estimates on historical results, taking into consideration
the type of customer, the type of transaction and the
specifics of each arrangement.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B SRR M R

2

Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.26 Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue is recognised as follows:

(a)

(b)

(c)

Sales of goods

Sales of goods are recognised when a group
entity has delivered products to the customer,
the customer has full discretion over channel and
price to sell the products, and there is no unfulfilled
obligation that could affect the customer’s
acceptance of the products. Delivery does not
occur until the products have been shipped to the
specified location, the risk of obsolescence and
loss have been transferred to the customer, and
either the customer has accepted the products in
accordance with sales contract, the acceptance
provisions have lapsed, or the Group has objective
evidence that all criteria for acceptance have been
satisfied.

Service income

For sales of services, revenue is recognised
in accounting period in which the services are
rendered, by reference to stage of completion of
the specific transaction and assessed on the basis
of actual services provided as a proportion of the
total service to be provided.

Rental income

Rental income from investment property is
recognised in consolidated income statement on
a straight-line basis over the period of the relevant
leases.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B SRR M R

2 Summary of significant accounting policies 2 FESTHEMEE)
(Continued)

2.27 Interest income 2.27 M E WA

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method. When a loan and receivable is impaired, the
Group reduces the carrying amount to its recoverable
amount, being the estimated future cash flow discounted
at the original effective interest rate of the instrument, and
continues unwinding the discount as interest income.
Interest income on impaired loans and receivables is
recognised using the original effective interest rate.

2.28 Dividend income

Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive
payment is established.

2.29 Operating leases

Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and
rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor are
classified as operating leases. Payments made under
operating leases (net of any incentives received from
the lessor), are charged to the consolidated income
statement on a straight-line basis over the period of the
leases.

2.30 Dividend distribution

Dividend distribution to the Company’s owners
is recognised as a liability in the Group’s and the
Company’s financial statements in the period in
which the dividends are approved by the Company’s
shareholders or directors, where appropriate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3

BB RR M

Financial risk management

3.1 Financial risk factors

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial
risks: market risk (including price risk, foreign exchange
risk, and cash flow and fair value interest rate risk),
credit risk, and liquidity risk. The Group’s overall risk
management programme focuses on the unpredictability
of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential
adverse effects on the Group’s financial performance.

Risk management is carried out by a central treasury
department (group treasury) under policies approved
by the board of directors. The Group treasury identifies,
evaluates and hedges financial risks in close co-
operation with the Group’s operating units. The board
provides written principles for overall risk management,
as well as written policies covering specific areas, such
as foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk and credit risk.

(a) Market risk
(i) Price risk

The Group is subject to commodity price risk
because certain subsidiaries of the Group
are engaged in the trading of steel products.
As at 31st March 2018, the Group had
committed sales orders for steel products of
approximately 125,000 metric tonnes (2017:
156,000 metric tonnes), for which the selling
price is fixed, which exceeded the aggregate
amount of on-hand inventories. Over the
coming year, the Group had committed sale
orders for steel product exceed the aggregate
amount of on-hand inventories. As the prices
of steel products can fluctuate materially, the
Group’s results may be affected significantly
by future fluctuations in steel prices (Note
4(b)). To manage its commodity price risk
arising from committed sales orders, the
Group is closely monitoring the market
price of steel products and adjusting its
procurement strategy accordingly.
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3 Financial risk management (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(a) Market risk (Continued)

(i)

(i)

Price risk (Continued)

The Group is exposed to price risk mainly
arising from investments held by the Group
and classified on the consolidated statement
of financial position as financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss. To manage its
price risk arising from investments, the Group
diversifies its portfolio and managed by
senior management on a case by case basis.
Diversification of the portfolio is managed in
accordance with the internal limits set by the
Group. As at 31st March 2018, if the price
of these investments increase/decrease
by 5%, loss before income tax for the year
would decrease/increase by approximately
HK$6,777,000 (2017: profit before income
tax for the year would increase/decrease
by approximately HK$775,000) mainly as
a result of a fair value gain/(loss) on these
investments.

Foreign exchange risk

The Group operates internationally and is
exposed to foreign exchange risk arising
from various currency exposures, primarily
with respect to the US dollar (“US$”) and
the Chinese Renminbi (“RMB”). Foreign
exchange risk arises from future commercial
transactions, recognised assets and liabilities
and net investments in foreign operations.

Management has set up a policy to require
group companies to manage their foreign
exchange risk against their functional
currency.

The Group has certain investments in foreign
operations, of which the net assets are
exposed to foreign currency translation risk.
Currency exposure arising from the net assets
of the Group‘s foreign operations is managed
primarily through borrowings denominated in
the relevant foreign currencies.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B SRR M R

3

Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited

Financial risk management (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(a) Market risk (Continued)

(i)

(i)

Foreign exchange risk (Continued)

At 31st March 2018, if HK$ had strengthened/
weakened by 3% against RMB with all
other variables held constant, loss before
income tax would have been approximately
HK$581,000 higher/lower (2017: profit before
income tax would have been approximately
HK$546,000 higher/lower), mainly as a
result of foreign exchange gains/(losses) on
translation of RMB-denominated monetary
assets and liabilities.

Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk

The Group’s income and operating cash
flows are substantially independent of
changes in market interest rates as the Group
has no significant interest-bearing assets
except for cash and bank deposits, which
earn low interest rate. The Group’s interest
rate risk arises mainly from borrowings.
Borrowings obtained at variable rates
expose the Group to cash flow interest rate
risk which is partially offset by cash held at
variable rates.

At 31st March 2018, if interest rates on
floating rate borrowings had been 100 basis
points higher/lower with all other variables
held constant, loss before income tax for
the year would have been approximately
HK$15,589,000 higher/lower (2017:
profit before income tax would have been
approximately HK$17,223,000 lower/higher),
mainly as a result of higher/lower interest
expenses on floating rate borrowings.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 Financial risk management (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b)

(c)

Credit risk

Credit risk is managed on a group basis, except for
credit risk relating to accounts receivable balances.
Credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalents,
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss,
amounts due from joint ventures and deposits with
banks and financial institutions, as well as credit
exposures to customers, including outstanding
receivables and committed transactions. For banks
and financial institutions, only independently rated
parties with a high credit rating are accepted.

The Group has policies in place to ensure that
sales are made to reputable and creditworthy
customers with an appropriate financial strength,
credit history and appropriate percentage of down
payments. It also has other monitoring procedures
to ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover
overdue debts.

As at 31st March 2018, the Group has a
concentration of credit risk given that the top 10
customers account for approximately 19% (2017:
24%) of the Group’s total year end trade and bill
receivables balance. Management considers that
the credit risk in respect of these customers is
currently low after considering the financial position
and past experience with these customers. The
Group’s historical experience in collection of
trade and bill receivables falls within the recorded
allowances and the directors are of the opinion that
adequate provision for uncollectible trade and bill
receivables has been made.

Liquidity risk

Cash flow forecasting is performed in the operating
entities of the Group and aggregated by group
finance. Group finance monitors rolling forecasts
of the Group's liquidity requirements to ensure it
has sufficient cash to meet operational needs while
maintaining sufficient headroom on its undrawn
committed borrowing facilities (Note 31) at all times
so that the Group does not breach borrowing limits
or covenants on any of its borrowing facilities. Such
forecasting takes into consideration the Group‘s
debt financing plans, covenant compliance and
compliance with internal ratio of the consolidated
statement of financial position targets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B SRR M R

3

Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited

Financial risk management (Continued)

(c)

3 M¥EREEGE)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 31 MEMREZEE)
Liquidity risk (Continued) (c) HEELEE(E)
Surplus cash held by the operating entities over BREERERE NGRS B
and above balance required for working capital BEEEARNEIENE RS
management are transferred to the Group treasury. eEBEAERFE A&
Group treasury invests surplus cash in time AESRHSESKRERNTESRF
deposits, marketable securities, and choosing ANEBES WHEBAEE L
instruments with appropriate maturities or sufficient MIBRE TR EE B EEEEHA
liquidity to provide sufficient head-room as SRR EZTE  BHE
determined by the above-mentioned forecasts. At BZEE  -REH  AEEES
the reporting date, the Group held cash and cash R e &IE 2 %FE4312,766,000
equivalents of approximately HK$312,766,000 B (—ZT—+ 4 628,382,000
(2017: HK$628,382,000) (Note 28) and trade ) (KtsEes) R EWER KR
and bill receivables, net, of approximately 5 )% 58 47528,238,0008 L (= &
HK$528,238,000 (2017: HK$495,033,000) (Note — £ 4 : 495,033,000 7 T ) (Bt
26) that are expected to readily generate cash 26) c EHAAIRELRE SR
inflows for managing liquidity risk. ANEBEERBE SRR
The table below analyses the Group’s financial TERHIWAKEB 2B EE -
liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on BEBIBAENBERES A
the remaining period at the reporting date to the EHEPEMBZGB NHBET
contractual maturity date. The amounts disclosed DT TRBEEZSHEAAND
in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash REFIRIBE R ©
flows.
Between Between
Less than 1 and 2 and
1 year 2 years 5 years Total
DA1E 122F 2ZE5%F B
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FAET FAET FAT FAT
At 31st March 2018 R=ZZ—N\F
=A=+—H
Trade and bill payables ERTRRRER 284,811 - - 284,811
Other payables H b FE A BRX 28,882 4,707 7,106 40,695
Borrowings B 947,948 128,562 483,580 1,560,090
Interest payable FEF B 62,744 28,298 23,984 115,026
1,324,385 161,567 514,670 2,000,622
At 31st March 2017 R-T—+t &
=A=+—H
Trade and bill payables JE R R R 2 143,604 — — 143,604
Other payables HiERBE X 103,695 1,000 6,223 110,918
Amount due to a joint B —RHEE AR
venture wIE 49,900 — — 49,900
Borrowings BE 1,213,673 60,040 450,417 1,724,130
Interest payable FET ) E 71,967 27,043 41,529 140,539
1,582,839 88,083 498,169 2,169,091
EBHEERERAR



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Financial risk management (Continued)

3.2 Capital risk management

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern in order to provide returns for shareholders
and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an
optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the
Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to
shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue new
shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

Consistent with others in the industry, the Group
monitors capital on the basis of the gearing ratio. This
ratio is calculated as net debt divided by total capital. Net
debt is calculated as total borrowings less pledged bank
deposits and cash and cash equivalents. Total capital is
calculated as equity (excluding non-controlling interests),
as shown in the consolidated statement of financial
position, plus net debt.

The gearing ratios at 31st March 2018 and at 31st March
2017 were as follows:

3

e B SRR M R

MERKRER(E)
32 EtRRERE

AEBEERES BB RRIELAEH
FEREZRN  AAKRREHRE R
RREMFHERENE LR —
BAREERRBUABRDEERLKAK -

RERLABEARE  AEEAH
MARRKNZKREEZE REER
TR - BITHRMD I EEENNR

& e

REREX - AEERBEXAAE
WRERER - ZLLERTINFRER
NERNBEAESL - FRBETINUE
ﬁ,ﬁ!%ﬁ})ﬁiaﬁ?ﬁifﬂ THERAREE R

A”*fEqu o &R A B ISR R AT

BEARBRBAER (Tﬁﬁiﬂ il
|HEE\ JInFE R ERE
RZB-NF=ZA=+—

BHEZF
—tF=A=+—RAZEREBBLE
mr

2018 2017

AL —T—tF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FAT

Borrowings (Note 31) B8 (K&E31) 1,558,857 1,722,336
Less: Cash and cash equivalents B ReMBRSFENARL

and pledged bank deposits BEHERRITER (FI5E28)

(Note 28) (370,573) (697,041)
Net debt FER 1,188,284 1,025,295
Total equity (excluding M= 4B RE

non-controlling interests) (R % FEFEHIVERE ) 1,057,703 1,109,511
Total capital N 2,245,987 2,134,806
Gearing ratio EARBERX 53% 48%

Net debt includes borrowings that were subject to
external financial covenants. As at 31st March 2017 and
2018, there was no breach in conditions as specified in
the covenants.

FEEEBRIRNINSHRE 2B

E-RZZE—+HER-_ZF-N\F=A
=+—B - EEERRER TG
i o
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3 Financial risk management (Continued) 3 HMERKREREE)
3.3 Fair value estimation 33 AAEEME

The tables below analyses the Group’s financial TRBBEERMNMEASZE 2K

instruments carried at fair value as at 31st March 2017 EER T —+t+tEE T N\EFE=A

and 2018, by level of the inputs to valuation techniques —t+t—HEAARBEAEZEZRMT
used to measure fair value. Such inputs are categorised B -hEFEHA R2ANEBESEASE
into three levels within a fair value hierarchy as follows: BULUT=E :

. Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for e HEFEBRTHBEBCRELARE)Z
identical assets or liabilities (level 1). HREESBE(E—E) -

. Inputs other than quoted prices included within e KRBEREF EUBREEHN
level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, BEZHREMNGB A FAIAEE
either directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that (BN ER) KEZEBREE
is, derived from prices) (level 2). BIEZE) -

e Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based e BENABGBIIIFKETBEM
on observable market data (that is, unobservable SHEE 2B A (RIFERTEREA)
inputs) (level 3). (F=E) -

See Note 15 for disclosures of the investment properties BARBEFEZERENEZRER

that are measured at fair value. MEE15 -

The following table presents the Group’s assets that are TERETAEER_ZE—-—N\F=A

measured at fair value at 31st March 2018. —t+—HEARBENECEE °

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
1B BB E=E #waE

HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FER FERT FERT FERT

Assets BE
Financial assets at fair value & QA EEETA
through profit or loss B BEE
— Structured bank — VR
products E 23,674 - - 23,674
— Investments in unit — BEE
trusts B 111,861 — — 111,861
Available-for-sale financial AIEHEZ
asset HIEEE
— Shares listed on the — REEWBA
Stock Exchange of R AR
Hong Kong Limited AElEmz
igh) 286 - - 286
Total 48 %8 135,821 — — 135,821

] ]8 Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited SEBESERAR AT
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Financial risk management (Continued) 3

3.3 Fair value estimation (Continued)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The following table presents the Group’s assets that are
measured at fair value at 31st March 2017.

3.3

e B SRR M R

Bt %5 L B B R ()

AREBEEMLGE(F)

TRETAEER _T—+tF=A
=t -HRAAEEAEZEE -

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
£— F= F= B
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FAT FAT FAT FAT
Assets BE
Financial assets at fair value 1Z QA EBETA
through profit or loss S MG EE
— Investments in — RABEEZ 15,600 — — 15,500
corporate notes wE
Available-for-sale financial AIEHEZHEEE
asset
— Shares listed on the — REBBERS 506 — — 506
Stock Exchange of il NG
Hong Kong Limited Wz’
Total ke 16,006 - — 16,006

There were no transfers among levels 1, 2 and 3 during
the year.

Financial instruments in level 1

The fair value of financial instruments traded in active
markets is based on quoted market prices at the
reporting date. A market is regarded as active if quoted
prices are readily and regularly available from an
exchange, dealer, broker, industry group, pricing service,
or regulatory agency, and those prices represent actual
and regularly occurring market transactions on an arm's
length basis. The quoted market price used for financial
assets held by the Group is the current bid price.
These instruments are included in level 1. Instruments
included in level 1 comprise primarily equity investment
classified as available-for-sale, investments in unit trusts,
structured bank products and corporate notes classified
as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.

f
g

RAFEE F—E F_EBLESE
2 R o o

[1]
TE]

il

RE-—EZZ@MTA

REBMBEEBEZMBTAZARE
BENERBEER 2T EREFE - i
ZHREANESZHATEHMNERS A &
HE KR TEER  BRERB X
EEHRE MxERERBEREE
HBEAFPRAET TSRS - &M
BRARAER AEEFAZMBEE
EMERZTZHRERRITEAE -
ZETHRREF B -BHEES—
BZTAXTEBRREIMBERAHLELZ
BERE  BAERERE  GBMER
TEMERDBREARBET ARS
ZMBEEZRAIRE °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Critical accounting estimates and judgements

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are
based on historical experience and other factors, including
expectations of future events that are believed to be
reasonable under the circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the
future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition,
seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and
assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year are addressed below.

(a)

(b)

Valuation of investment properties

The Group carries its investment properties at fair
value with changes in the fair value recognised in
the consolidated income statement. The fair value of
investment properties was determined by using valuation
technique and management updates their assessment
of the fair value of each property, taking into account the
key valuation assumptions, including adjusted market
yield. Details of the judgements and assumptions have
been disclosed in Note 15.

Onerous contract provision

As at 31st March 2018, the Group had committed sales
orders which exceeded the aggregate amount of on-
hand inventories and committed purchase orders. If
the cost of certain future purchases to fulfil these sales
orders exceeds the contracted selling prices of the sales
orders, a provision for onerous contracts would be made.
In estimating the amount by which the cost of purchases
are expected to exceed sales prices of committed sales
orders, management takes into account the cost of on-
hand inventory and the forecast market price of future
purchases where this can be reliably estimated.

As at 31st March 2018, provision for onerous contract
of approximately HK$40,656,000 was recognised by the
Group (2017: HK$14,000,000).

Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited SEBESERAR AT

ERESHERAE

RESAKBLEAMCAR(BERERIT
HMERRAKREHAZAEENBEUHE
KAV B 1F i wF A o

AEBEBRKELHE KRR - EREE -
BUtmEZ @5t HE ﬁdﬁﬁ@f@%
R TXwmitEE g AT —E B
ﬁifzé?&%ﬁZ%ﬁ BELEX
HEZEARAREE KRR -

() BREMENMEE

AEBZARBEREZREDE
ERARBEEINGEBRERANER
ﬂ% BREWEZAARBETIREMR
Bh%E BEEEELHEMERARE
ENFEMET  EPEEELTEMA
BERR BERLHABMESREE - H
BN BRZFIFE R EISRE

(b) BERENzHBME

RZE-N\F=A=+—H x&HE
ERECHETECEBTAETFER
ERECEEERAHE - MAKETT
WEHEHETE 2B T RREBRAL
HEEMINZEERS  Blgn
BEROELEE EHEERHRE
RABHCHEHEECEEDE
B ERERMRFEFEZIRAR
BASEHECHERB MBS EAE

f o

R=ZZE—-—NF=ZA=Z+—
REBCHERBERD 2 #
A 40,656,000 8 T(= T — &
14,000,0005 7T ) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4  Critical accounting estimates and judgements
(Continued)

(c)

(d)

(e)

Recognition of deferred income tax assets

The Group is mainly subject to income taxes in Hong
Kong and Mainland China. Significant judgement
is required in determining the worldwide provision
for income taxes. There are many transactions and
calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is
uncertain during the ordinary course of business. The
Group recognises liabilities for anticipated tax audit
issues based on estimates of whether additional taxes
will be due. Where the final tax outcome of these matters
is different from the amounts that were initially recorded,
such differences will impact the income tax and deferred
income tax provisions in the period in which such
determination is made.

Deferred income tax assets relating to certain temporary
differences and tax losses are recognised when
management considers it is likely that future taxable
profits will be available against which the temporary
differences or tax losses can be utilised. When the
expectations are different from the original estimates,
such differences will impact the recognition of deferred
income tax assets and income tax charges in the period
in which such estimates have been changed.

Estimated impairment of goodwill

The Group tests annually whether goodwill has suffered
any impairment in accordance with policy stated in
Note 2.8. The recoverable amounts of CGUs have been
determined based on value-in use calculations. These
calculations require the use of estimates (Note 17).

Net realisable value of inventories

Net realisable value of inventories is the estimated selling
price in the ordinary course of business, less estimated
costs of completion and variable selling expenses. These
estimates are based on the current market condition
and the historical experience of selling products of
similar nature. It could change significantly as a result of
changes in customer demand and competitor actions
in response to severe industry cycle. Management
reassesses the estimations at each reporting date.

e B SRR M R

4 EEETTHEERMEE)

(c)

(d)

(e)

ELEFEHEERR

AEBITEEHGNEBRTEANLZ
PRiSH -HEEEE2HRMEHBER
FEELEARHAE REABEKBIE
FoMZRIEFAEZERRBET
WAREE - AKRBERAKREEABMN
BONHLIR - 18 B RIS B AR MR
BE -MZEFEEZIRRUBAERE
RYCHZ BT WEZRBY
EZETHRANZAEREELTHMEF
T -

fidf & 32 R 7% P ) B R 2K B AR B0 A
UNEHEEZRAMAEER Al GHE
REETREZERREBEEHEZ
EREFGHREE - WEHGRERT
ZHETR  WEEZEBSHELTRR
GUHEEERALAREELREHY
AAZAEHREREBKRTE -

BEREES

NEBRBEWT28 i - 54
REEBHETRENR ReELE
ZzA KB cEEBRTEFEREA
RE - ZEHEFTEFEAHE (K=
17) °

FEZASRFE

FEZAERFERATEERBRED
Z B EERHEE TR AR N A #
EXH - ZEHETDERIRE TR
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e B SRR M R

4 Critical accounting estimates and judgements 4 EESTHHERHEE)
(Continued)
() Provision for impairment of trade and other () FEURBR FX & H 4th FE Wt BR FOR B &
receivables &
The Group’s management determines the provision for AEBEZEEBRERKERRZATK
impairment of trade and other receivables based on [B] 72 /5 7T 15 8 & FE UK BR 5% N2 E Ath B Uk
an assessment of the recoverability of the receivables. R BERE - ZE hERER
This assessment is based on the credit history of its FREMBBEAZEERS ANLIEE
customers and other debtors and the current market M- BEREERNTERSESAEHE
condition. Management reassesses the provision at each & -
reporting date.
(g) Useful lives and depreciation expenses for (9) V¥ KBERSZEZUFERFEH
property, plant and equipment RITEXH
The Group’s management determines the estimated AEECEREETHEYE BEK
useful lives, and related depreciation charges for its BBz EETAIEREE LEB@E
property, plant and equipment. This estimate is based EEBR ZWEFHBREBEEREESE
on the historical experience of the actual useful lives Uz BERIKEBEZ2ERIER
of property, plant and equipment of similar nature FHZRTKRTE BERELBEFH
and functions. Actual economic lives may differ from siEGFTAI A FTHAR - TEHBRE
estimated useful lives. Periodic review could result in a AIE R Al A R - RIREERE 2
change in useful lives and therefore depreciation expense WESHMAMmMLIREF -
in future periods.
5 Revenue and segment information 5 WARDHEHR
The Group’s revenue consists of the following: AEEBZBWABERNT :
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Sales of goods EniEE 2,938,258 2,917,768
Service income AR 7 WA 63,963 42,333
Rental income e WA 30,631 62,822
Total revenue LONL 3,032,852 3,022,923

The Group’s businesses are managed according to the nature
of their operations and the products and services they provide.

]22 Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited SEBESERAR AT
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e B SRR M R

Revenue and segment information (Continued) 5 WARDZHER(E)
Management has determined the operating segments based EREECETHEEES S HIREMA K S
on the reports reviewed by the Group’s CODM that are used Blz X EBEBEREEMEHNAUS TR
to make strategic decisions. The CODM considers the Group MARAEZLMEETE ° I g EERRERS
operates predominantly in four operating segments: AREBEFELLINEZEEDS
()  Construction materials business; () EEMBERS:
(i) Building and design solutions (“BDS”) business; iy BREEQERIFAHARED:
(i)  Engineering plastics business; and iy ITREBHER: R
(v)  Property investment and project management business. vy EHERKENREBERER -
The Group’s CODM assesses the performance of operating RNREBZFELEBREEILZBRBR A GMNZ
segments based on a measure of profit before income tax. SFEFEEESERE -
The revenue from external parties reported to the CODM is MEZLBEBRREEERFEAEHIIALTZW
measured in a manner consistent with that in the consolidated AL ETFRFEVBHRE 5 -
financial statements.
Analysis of the Group’s results by business segment for the AEERBE-_Z—N\EF=A=1+—01
year ended 31st March 2018 is as follows: FERBREBIH2EESTAET -
Property
investment
Construction Engineering  and project
materials BDS plastics management
business business business business  Unallocated Total
BE  BEEEMK I8 EHERER
MRER REHRER PREYE BEEEREER RAE nE
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TER TET TER TR TR TER
External revenue EEN N 2,231,620 330,091 378,537 63,034 29,570 3,032,852
Operating (loss)/profit L (F1]) /B (67,829) 28,096 15,231 24,551 (90,729) (90,680)
Finance income ABRA 3,951 21 158 418 462 5,010
Finance costs BHRER (31,921) (3,229) (553) (30,493) (4,512) (70,708)
Share of results of joint FEEALNRZES
ventures — net — 38 (25,069) - - 39,435 - 14,366
(Loss)/profit before BEA(EB) R
income tax (120,368) 24,888 14,836 33,911 (94,779)  (142,012)
Other (losses)/gains — net it (B18) /s —
# %ﬁ (15,575) 2,166 5,484 14,010 2,024 8,109
Fair value gain on —HRENE 2 RAE
investment properties BdE 3,671 - - 11,147 - 14,818
Depreciation and TEREH
amortisation (2,273) (808) (29) (1,270) (36,117) (40,497)
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5

Revenue and segment information (Continued) 5 IWARSEEL (EF)
Analysis of the Group’s results by business segment for the AOoBEAREBRHEEZE_ZT—+F=A1
year ended 31st March 2017 is as follows: =+—H JtiE?ﬁ%ﬂ“‘ﬁ% XEANW
™
Property
investment
Construction Engineering and project
materials BDS plastics  management
business business business business  Unallocated Total
BE RBREERR I8 RiERER
MHEE HHHRES BEEE BEEEERER RO et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FAT THET FAT FET THET
External revenue HOMNEA 2,132,550 490,653 296,786 72,929 30,005 3,022,923
Operating profit/(loss) mEET/ (BR) 32,809 41,454 3,628 408,622 (85,764) 400,749
Finance income BB 917 7 98 364 578 1,964
Finance costs HEER (22,187) (2,928) (342) (89,536) (4,092) (119,085)
Share of results of BIEAEARIZEE
joint ventures — net — 58 (22,721) - - (13,790) - (36,511)
(Loss)/profit before BE A (BR) /%5
income tax (11,182) 38,533 3,384 305,660 (89,278 247 117
Other gains/(losses) — net  Eflkz / (Bi8)
— #H 37,099 (15,439 (3,742) 200,186 (143) 217,961
Gain on disposal of HEMBRAZ
subsidiaries (Note () Yoz (MY () - - - 229,023 - 229,023
Fair value gain on an —BREMEL
investment property ARBEENE - - - 271,985 - 271,985
Depreciation and HER#H
amortisation (3,439) (2,374) (37) (2,679) (36,153) (44,682)
Note: Bt 3%
(i) The amount was included in “other gains — net”. 0] ZEHBEOE A HMlkzs — %5 o
The Company is domiciled in Hong Kong and Mainland China. RKATRNEBLRTEANMEE KEEZ
Analysis of the Group’s revenue by geographical market is as WA EmIE DM T
follows
2018 2017
—E-N\F —+4F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FAT
Hong Kong &5 1,766,988 1,666,458
Mainland China AR A 1,265,864 1,356,465
3,032,852 3,022,923

Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited
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Revenue and segment information (Continued) 5 WARSBER (&)
Non-current assets, other than financial instruments and BRemTANMELEMEHEENI &
deferred income tax assets by geographical market is as EMESDEZIERBEEMT
follows:
2018 2017
—E-NF —t
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FET
Hong Kong e 175,298 322,713
Mainland China AR A 1,399,516 1,232,306
1,574,814 1,555,019
Other gains — net 6 Hfttlhsm — F8
2018 2017
—E-NF —E—+F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FH&T
Provision for onerous contracts BEROZBE (26,656) (2,000)
Unrealised fair value loss on financial assets AR EEF AEBZPIEEE
at fair value through profit or loss Zﬂim HAnEBEEKE (2,133) —
Realised loss on financial assets at EAREBEFABZZVBEE
fair value through profit or loss 2 BEREE - (103)
Net exchange gain/(loss) BN Wz (E1E) 13,387 (42,429)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries (Note 36) & i & A 7~ Yrzs (M 3E36) - 229,023
Impairment of goodwill and intangible AMEREREEREAE (ME17)
assets (Note 17) - (14,284)
Compensation in relation to an unfulfilled EH—BAERAELHZEE
contract (Note (i) (B &%) - 38,860
Penalty income from tenants in relationto KB RIEAT KR L E W=
early termination of rental agreements U A 4,086 —
Disposal service income received from RKEAZELEZHEREWA
a joint venture (Note 39(a)) (M 7E39(a)) 11,703 -
Sundry income FMIEWA 7,722 8,894
8,109 217,961
Note: B 5F -
(i) The amount represented the compensation from a supplier for an 0] ZeHER—S2HER Y —EX Eﬁsz\ ESNomiA

unfulfilled contract in year 2017.

"HE—

ToEFFEARAIZ BEE
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7 Expenses by nature

Expenses included in “cost of sales”, “selling and distribution
expenses” and “general and administrative expenses” are

analysed as follows:

7 RMEISTzZXH

BREAMEERA] - THERDH H A
[—RETBH IR HZofmT

2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FAT
Cost of finished goods sold BUAY Th 8 & Ak A 2,765,195 2,626,722
Provision for/(write-back of provision for) FEREEE (B#ERLD)
impairment of inventories 1,007 (987)
Depreciation of property, plant and ME BMERSBZITE
equipment (Note 14) (FzE14) 39,705 42,199
Loss/(gain) on disposals of property, plant HEWSE WEMERHEZ
and equipment (Note 35(b)) B8, (U zs) (M #E35(b)) 39 (531)
Amortisation of land use rights (Note 16) T {5 R 4E (FY5E16) 202 1,522
Amortisation of intangible assets (Note 17) #EZ & E=# 8y (Fi3E17) 590 961
Employee benefit expenses (Note 8) BRE®A I H (FizEs) 113,135 145,416
Operating lease rental expenses in TEEE MAEREEEE
respect of retail outlets, offices and HoEe
warehouses 46,574 52,203
Property tax for investment properties WEYMEZMET 7,098 11,465
Provision for impairment of FEWHRFORERE — 5
trade receivables — net (Note 26) (M 7x26) 1,218 4,966
Service fee paid to a joint venture ENEECEZREBE
(Note 39(a)) (Kt 5£39(a)) 9,029 53,502
Auditor’s remuneration 1% 260 B
— Audit services — ZER 2,320 2,340
Legal and professional fees FENMBEEER 14,408 7,316
Freight charges — inbound EEES 32,583 53,219
Freight charges — outbound HEES 39,785 52,079
Storage and handling charges FREMEES 7,890 7,160
Others Hib 65,681 52,568
Total cost of sales, selling and distribution  $H&E KA - $#HE Lo HX H &
expenses and general and administrative ~ —#% 1T S H 42 58
expenses 3,146,459 3,112,120

Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited
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Employee benefit expenses (including
directors’ emoluments)

e B SRR M R

8 REEEMNZH(BEEEMS)

2018 2017

—E-NEF —E—£F

HK$°000 HK$'000

FExT FAT

Salaries and allowances e MERL 79,621 88,876
Bonus TE4T 9,871 38,043
Pension costs — defined contribution plans Rk AN — B F 4t 21 7,406 8,476
Share-based payment ARt B 2 S 1 2,859 1,060
Welfare and benefits & A & A &= 13,378 8,961
113,135 145,416

The Group maintains two defined contribution pension
schemes for its employees in Hong Kong, the ORSO Scheme
and the MPF Scheme. The assets of these schemes are held
separately from those of the Group under independently
administered funds.

Under the ORSO Scheme, each of the Group and its
employees make monthly contribution to the scheme at 5%
(2017: 5%) of the employees’ salary. The unvested benefits of
employees who have terminated employment could be utilised
by the Group to reduce its future contributions.

Under the MPF Scheme, each of the Group and its employees
make monthly contributions to the scheme at 5% (2017: 5%)
of the employee’s relevant income, as defined in the Hong
Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme Ordinance. Both
the Group’s and the employee’s contributions are subject to
a cap of HK$1,500 per month. The contributions are fully and
immediately vested for the employees.

As stipulated by rules and regulations in Mainland China, the
Group contributes to state-sponsored retirement plans for
employees of its subsidiaries established in Mainland China.
The employees are entitled to retirement pension calculated
with reference to their basic salaries on retirement and their
length of service in accordance with the relevant government
regulations. The Group has no further obligations for the actual
payment of pensions or post-retirement benefits beyond
these contributions. The state-sponsored retirement plans are
responsible for the entire pension obligations payable to retired
employees.

During the year ended 31st March 2018, the aggregate
amount of the Group’s contributions to the aforementioned
pension schemes was approximately HK$7,406,000 (2017:
HK$8,476,000), net of forfeited contributions of approximately
HK$51,000 (2017: HK$54,000). As at 31st March 2017 and
2018, there is no unutilised forfeited contribution which could
be utilised to reduce future contributions of the Group.

AEEEFHERTRKE HREFE T
REEZEE RHESFTEIRBEERE -
HMREAESCEENRAKREZEED R
A THBYESER -

REAEZTE AKEREREAS
BZEHF 2 25%(ZF—LF 5%) @&
AEIFB AR -RIEERZEERES
Z a5 i 7R SR [ AR AR OB A R SRR -

RERBEZTE  AKEREERASA
BB BB LTE S ARG AT R E R %
BEABMBAZEN(ZFE—LF :5%) M
BB AR -AKEREEER 2
KRBT 1,500 7T (4 5% 8 K& B
FETEE) -

AP B AR A EOARATARE > AR E
ARERINTEANMZHBAREER
HBEREDRAKAEEK -BEEARES
BrE 2HR2REERKBEZELRFH
ERBEFHREBBRFERAERE - K
ZEHRF AFREBASTINEFNE
FREAKREKEBRREN ZEEKEBER
Kt BIZABERERKERE XN 2HMERE -

HE-_Z-N\E=A=+—BILFE K
EEY FMRAKESTEIER 2 HRAED
/7,406,000 7T (= & — + F : 8,476,000
BIT) RS W R A51,0008 T (ZF
—+tF 1540008 7L) RZE—+tF R
E-NE=ZA=+—H0 TERXPHDR
ISR AT BER D A EB AR R 2 -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B SRR M R

9 Directors’ and senior management’s 9 EEREHREEAEM2
emoluments
(a) Directors’ emoluments (a EE#M2

The remuneration of every Director for the year ended

31st March 2018 is set out below:

BHE-F-N\E=A=+-ALL%F
B SHEFHBMT

Employer’s
contribution to
a retirement
Discretionary ~ Share-based benefit
Name Fees Salary bonusesti paymenti scheme Total
NRHA EEHEK
8 He i ML  BRzIA0 FRHEZHR B3
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TERL TEn TERL TER TERL TERL
Executive directors BTES
Mr. Yao Cho Fai Andrew,  $kii@% 4

Chairman and (XE%

Chief executive officer HERIE) - 1,950 8,000 - 18 9,968
Ms. Luk Pui Yin Grace BERALZL - 1,887 - 7 % 2,058
Mr. Lau Chi Chiu Ly b - 1,236 - 28 61 1,325
Non-executive directors % #H{TES
Mr. Tam King Ching Kenny ~ EHEx4E 225 - - - - 225
Mr. Xu Lin Bao BHELE 207 - - - - 207
Mr. Tse Lung Wa Teddy HEEns 360 - - - - 360
Mr. Yeung Wing Sun Mike & &% 4 180 - - - - 180

972 5,073 8,000 105 173 14,323
Aggregate emoluments paid
Aggregate emoluments paid to or receivable by directors
to or receivable by directors in respect of their other
in respect of their services services in connection
as directors, whether of with the management of
the Company or its the affairs of the Company or
subsidiary undertaking its subsidiary undertaking Total
REE(FERES)RUHRE RESRMUEAQNADH
(TR AARREKEAR) HftE AN EEEHEHEEN
A 2R W 2 48 555 B H 1 BR 75 BT A =% FE Wt 2 48 55 B B
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FERT FER
14,323 - 14,323

Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B SRR M R

Directors’ and senior management’s 9 EERSAEEAEMS (&)
emoluments (Continued)
(a) Directors’ emoluments (Continued) (a) E=B< (&)
The remuneration of every Director for the year ended BHE_T—+tF=ZA=Z+—8H1t#F
31st March 2017 is set out below: B BUESEFHMOT

Employer's
contribution to
a retirement

Discretionary Share-based benefit
Name Fees Salary bonuses! payment( scheme Total
R A EFHRIA
2 Me B BELAD  ERZIA0 BHEEZEX &%
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T#n TEL TEn T TEL T#n
Executive directors BTES
Mr. Yao Cho Fai Andrew, Bk 4

Chairman and (¥R%

Chief executive officer HEHTE) - 1,950 8,244 - 18 10,212
Ms. Luk Pui Yin Grace BERATL - 1,887 3,469 165 % 5,615
Mr. Lau Chi Chiu gyt - 1,236 714 54 61 2,065
Non-executive directors ¥ #H{TEE
Mr. Dong Sai Ming Fernando? Bt $4 5 40 465 - - - - 465
Mr. Tam King Ching Kenny ~ EHER4E 225 - - - - 225
Mr. Xu Lin Beo BHELE 207 - - - - 207
Mr. Tse Lung Wa Teddy HEEhs 450 - - - - 450
Mr. Yeung Wing Sun Mike & &% 4% 180 - - - - 180

1,627 5,078 12,427 219 173 19,419
Aggregate emoluments paid
Aggregate emoluments paid to or receivable by directors
to or receivable by directors in respect of their other
in respect of their services services in connection with
as directors, whether of the management of
the Company or its the affairs of the Company or
subsidiary undertaking its subsidiary undertaking Total
MEE(ERES) IRERS REFRHEARRF K
(TREARRBIHEMBEAT) HfE A RN EREHEBON
FITASY B8 8 W 2 48 555 B H th AR 75 BT <1 3k 8 Wi 2 48 35 T Gk
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000
THET TETT TETT
19,419 — 19,419
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
m = B S R R M

9 Directors’ and senior management’s 9 EERSHAEBEAEMS (&)
emoluments (Continued)

(a) Directors’ emoluments (Continued) (a) EE=B< (&)

Notes: Bt EE

0] Mr. Dong Sai Ming Fernando resigned as a non-executive director 0] RZZE—+FE=ZA=+—H FHEHL
of the Company on 31st March 2017. The amounts represent sy £ AARIFERITESTHBE - ZEX
emoluments to be paid or receivable in respect of his services as THEMREEAER R A E H R M E Rk
a director of the Company. Bl B E -

(i) The executive directors are entitled to discretionary bonuses (ii) MATEEATYWEMBIBEEL A2 ER
which are determined with reference to the financial performance EFRTRIEBEMZMBERBEETE -
of different business units of the Group.

(iii) Share-based payment represents charges to the consolidated (iif) LR AERZ I FBRENSE TR
income statement of the fair value of the share options under the EEYAHAETNEABRERIIER
share option scheme measured at the respective grant dates, Y ZEBREAABE MIAmBRER
regardless of whether the share options would be exercised or BREITE -
not.

No incentive payment (2017: Nil) as an inducement for RBEZZE—+tFRZE *)\ﬁ A

joining the Group or compensation for loss of office was =+—HLEFE  #BE (_ +5F

paid to any director during the years ended 31st March E)BNME TEMESAESE N

2017 and 2018. AREE R mME -

(b) Directors’ retirement benefits (b) ESRAKER
None of the directors received or will receive any BEEENEHEEZ2 T —tFRERZE
retirement benefits during the years ended 31st March —N\F=ZA=+—HLEFEEKEK
2017 and 2018. 1 Y B AR AT 3R AR AR F o

(c) Directors’ termination benefits (c) EEBRILEEER
None of the directors received or will receive any MEEENEHEEZE _ZE—+tEFER_-Z
termination benefits during the years ended 31st March —N\FZA=Z+—HILFEE WK
2017 and 2018. 7% W B AE fa] 42 1B (B AR ) -

(d) Consideration provided to third parties for (d MERHZESERBROE=FX
making available directors’ services FTZzRE
During the years ended 31st March 2017 and 2018, no REBEEZE_ZT—+tER-ZFT—-NF=A
consideration was paid by the Company to third parties =+—H Lt FE - BE E‘f EREZE
for making available directors’ services. ERBRABE=ZFNRE -

(e) Information about loans, quasi-loans (e) EEUNESE ZTZRZFEFEFIZ
and other dealings in favour of directors, FEABEBRZEE E ZHEBEE
controlled bodies corporate by and connected AR AZER EEXREKHAM
entities with such directors RBZEH
During the years ended 31st March 2017 and 2018, REEZE_E2—tFE_ZE—-—N\NF=A
there are no loans, quasi-loans and other dealing —+—BLtFE- *E)Eﬁﬁﬁﬁ WEE -

Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited

arrangements in favour of directors, controlled bodies
corporate by any connected entities with such directors.

BRBEERERAR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Directors’ and senior management’s
emoluments (Continued)

(f)

(9)

e B SRR M R

EEREREBRAEMS (H)

Directors’ material interests in transactions, N EETRNXS THIAEHNPZE
arrangements or contracts KRR
No significant transactions, arrangements and contracts AEBEREREERITI AR AH
in relation to the Group’s business to which the RETNARAARIEEEESEEE
Company was a party and in which a director of the BEEARBRTZIMAZ-ZE—+ER_Z
Company has a material interest, whether directly or —NFZA=+—HEREHEEZ=
indirectly, subsisted at the end of 31st March 2017 and E—+EFER_FE-N\F=A=+—H
2018 or at any time during the years ended 31st March ITEERNEMEBDATEEZE AR
2017 and 2018. 5 THREL -
Five highest paid individuals (99 EBEESFAL
The five individuals with highest emoluments in the Group AREBREZEEMNEATEEMUE
include two directors (2017: two) whose emoluments are HE(ZE—+F: WA BEZHS
reflected in the analysis presented in Note 9(a) above. 7 _E XM sE9@) T 5l 5 4T R R B o AR
The emoluments paid/payable to the remaining three FEOMN TENHEB=GM(ZZT—+
(2017: three) individuals during the year are as follows: F:=f)ATZHE0T ¢
2018 2017
—E2-N\fF —E—LF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FAET
Salaries and allowances o MoRRh 9,031 9,247
Bonus TE4L 426 9,297
9,457 18,544
The emoluments fell within the following bands: e TFIATEHER :
Number of individuals
AE
2018 2017
—E-NF —T—+tfF
— HK$1,000,001 to HK$2,000,000 — 1,000,001 7T £2,000,000/% 7T 1 —
— HK$2,000,001 to HK$3,000,000 — 2,000,001 7T £3,000,000/% 7T 1 1
— HK$4,000,001 to HK$5,000,000 — 4,000,001 7T £5,000,000/% 7T 1 —

— HK$7,000,001 to HK$8,000,000
— HK$8,000,001 to HK$9,000,000

— 7,000,001/ 7T £8,000,0007 7T -
— 8,000,001/ 7T £9,000,0007 7T -

—_

No emoluments were paid/payable to the five highest
paid individuals as an inducement to join the Group or as
compensation for loss of office during the year.

AEEIEXN A EAMETH
HAERBF AT AESE B IMA RS E K
TEBER M (E -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BB RR M

10 Finance income and costs 10 MBKAREHR
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—tF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FAT
Finance income IR ON
Interest income: FLEIA -
— short-term bank deposits — %E HIERITIF 3K 5,010 1,715
— shareholder’s loan to a joint venture — BT —RHeEhEZ
(Note 39(a)) B 3B 3k (F5E39(a)) - 249
5,010 1,964
Finance costs B%ER
Interest expenses: FEZH :
— bank borrowings — RITER (63,925) (113,021)
Bank charges RITE A (6,783) (6,064)
(70,708) (119,085)
Net finance costs FHEER (65,698) (117,121)
11 Income tax (credit)/expense 11 iR (ER), X H
Taxation on overseas profits has been calculated on the BINEMNZREERAEBRKLESAEBRR
estimated assessable profit for the year at the rates of taxation ZHRITRMERFENGERBSNETE o

prevailing in the countries in which the Group operates.

Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of 16.5% EEFNET TR I AN E E b 5 R B % A
(2017: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable profit for the year. EHR16.5% (ZZE—+F : 16.5%) £ H #&
1o
During the year, subsidiaries established in Mainland China are REE RAPBERMWKSY 2B AR IER
subject to China corporate income tax at 25% (2017: 25%). RO5% (T —+F 1 25%) Bt i B 1 2
Frig®i o
The amount of income tax (credit)/expense recorded in the SEABSRIENRER(ER) THE
consolidated income statement represents: =
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAETT
Current income tax &S
— Hong Kong profits tax — BBNER 3,706 2,248
— China corporate income tax — PR EMEH 3,025 15,307
Deferred income tax (Note 22) TEIEFTIS L (B 5222) (8,503) 65,876
Withholding tax arising on disposal of LEMRBAREE BN
subsidiaries (Note 36) (MI7£36) - 64,342
Under provision in prior years BAFEZBEDTR - 208
(1,772) 147,981

]32 Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited SEBESERAR AT
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Income tax (credit)/expense (Continued) 11

The tax on the Group’s (loss)/profit before income tax differs
from the theoretical amount that would arise using the
weighted average tax rate applicable to (loss)/profits of the

consolidated entities is as follows:

/\ﬁmn

= B FS R R M R

FrsH (%), X H (&

$’§lﬁfﬁ)“éﬁf(J’éﬂé)/iﬁTﬁUZﬁIﬁEﬁiiﬁﬁ
(B518) M8 A 2 4 F g 7
qu%Ziimi%E*ﬁﬁﬁiﬁ BT

2018 2017
—E-NF —E—+fF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FET
(Loss)/profit before income tax B AT (B518) & A (142,012) 247117
Tax calculated at domestic tax rates ZERNER 2 & FAER
applicable to profit in the respective B RAE 2 BIE
countries (27,195) 67,377
Income not subject to tax BARB 2 BA (2,003) (1,288)
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes A #1752 = 5,108 13,579
Tax losses not recognised as deferred WHRERELEMSHEE
income tax assets TIEEE 26,179 2,371
Deferred income tax liabilities in respect A E A AN IREF 2
of withholding tax on Mainland China BB EEMERAE
unremitted earnings (951) 1,769
Withholding tax arising on disposal of HEWNBRAREES ZBEMNH
subsidiaries - 64,342
Utilisation of previously unrecognised FERERARERNTHISER
tax loss (2,910) (377)
Under provision in prior years BEFECBETR - 208
Income tax (credit)/expense Frissi GE%) S H (1,772) 147,981

For the year ended 31st March 2018, the weighted average
applicable tax rate was 19.1% (2017: 27.3%). The decrease
is caused by the change in the profitability of the Group’s

subsidiaries in the respective countries.

BHE_*%

27.3%)

E—N\F=ZA=1+—HIFE - m
EYHERBRERI01I%(ZT—LF
° Bl Ty B R AN 5= [ B BB A B R 1R
HEBEBROEFEE

HEME -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

12

13

BB RR M

Dividends 12 RE
2018 2017
—E-N\EF —tF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHT FAT
Interim dividend of HK2.26 cents per —tFHHRE TR T B
ordinary share for year 2017 226781l - 14,507
Proposed final dividend of HK1.57 cents BEAARESR T BAR1.578L
(2017: HK2.49 cents) per ordinary share (ZZ=—+1F : 2.49%1L) 10,057 15,983
10,057 30,490

A final dividend for the year ended 31st March 2018 of HK1.57
cents (2017: HK2.49 cents) per ordinary share, totalling
approximately HK$10,057,000 (2017: HK$15,983,000)
has been recommended by the Board for approval at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company. The
proposed final dividend has not been dealt with as dividend
payable as at 31st March 2018.

The proposed final divided for the year ended 31st March 2018
in the amount of approximately HK$10,057,000 is calculated
on the basis of 640,546,674 ordinary shares in issue as at
22nd June 2018.

(Loss)/earnings per ordinary share
(a) Basic

Basic (loss)/earnings per ordinary share is calculated
by dividing the (loss)/profit attributable to owners of the
Company by the weighted average number of ordinary
shares in issue during the year.

13

ExeEaRNARAIZEERRBF RS
FHEEE T NF=ZA=ZF+—8ILHF
ERARESHRERB17BW(ZE—¢
F 2497 1L) - & £ 4910,057,0007% 7 (=
T — 4 115,983,000 7T) © EiE A HMK
BUYER-_FTE—N\FZA=Z+—HZKH
FIABERKRE -

HE-_Z—-\FE=A=+—HILEFEz&
AR EAR B 410,057,000 T TV ER -
—NFERNAZ+ZHD3E{TH640,546,674
fEEBRETE -

BREER(BR) BEF

(a) &R

tﬂx B E A (BB, BT EAR
NalEB ARG (EE), &R ﬁfLMS
FEB BT B 2 NEFHEG

2018 2017
—E-N\F —+4F
(Loss)/profit attributable to owners of  Z&RA B #E A AFENL (BE) %7
the Company (HK$’000) (F#&T) (147,712) 101,776
Weighted average number of EEITE @R 2 I T &
ordinary shares in issue ('000) (3( ) 641,719 641,883
Basic (loss)/earnings per FREBRERN(EEB) BEF
ordinary share (HK cents) B (23.02) 15.86
Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited SEBESERAR AT



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

13 (Loss)/earnings per ordinary share (Continued)
(b) Diluted

Diluted (loss)/earnings per ordinary share is calculated
by adjusting the weighted average number of ordinary
shares outstanding to assume conversion of all dilutive
potential ordinary shares. The Company’s dilutive
potential ordinary shares arising from share options, for
which a calculation is done to determine the number
of shares that could have been acquired at fair value
(determined as the average annual market share price
of the Company’s shares) based on the monetary value
of the subscription rights attached to outstanding share
options. The number of shares calculated as above is
compared with the number of shares that would have
been issued assuming the exercise of the share options.

e B SRR M R

13 BRTER(EE) BF(E)
(b) #8
ST EREE(ER) BN TIER

REABEHEHEE T BARELHE
%ﬁ‘ﬁ’ﬂﬁfﬂﬁ?‘ﬁﬁﬁl\ B A 2 IR
FHHEE - AR Tﬂ%&ﬁﬁ%lig
ZE ﬁﬂxl%ﬂx%ﬁﬁ?i HEBER
B ARITEBREMMRERZ &

EBEFL BABERENARALEE
(BERARABMDZEFFHME
BE)BSZBRMNEE - EXFES
HjZH%ﬁ}%(EEﬂﬁ&ﬁ%ﬂﬂéﬁéﬂﬁﬁﬁ
EBETZRNDBBEFELE -

2018 2017
—E-N\F —t
(Loss)/profit attributable to owners of &R ﬂ}fﬁ”ﬁAF{ﬁ (E518) /% 7
the Company and used to determine [ Fi LAES & & IR 4 A% 8 55
diluted (loss)/earnings per ordinary (58| & T\ (FET)
share (HK$’000) (147,712) 101,776
Weighted average number of ordinary 2 317 & A% 2 hiE T 15 81
shares in issue ('000) (FA) 641,719 641,883
Adjustment for share options ('000) TR A RE (TR (B 5EG)
(Note () - 9,371
Weighted average number of BRETBREE (BB BFz
ordinary shares for diluted (loss)/ %ﬁﬁxﬂﬂ%¥i’]§k (Fh%)
earnings per ordinary share ('000) 641,719 651,254
Diluted (loss)/earnings per ordinary FREERES (BB &
share (HK cents) B (23.02) 15.63

Note:

(i) Diluted loss per share for the year ended 31st March 2018 was [0)
the same as basic loss per share since all potential ordinary

shares are anti-dilutive.

B o
B A B 7 B 7 % B AR LI 8 R -

BE_T-N\F=ZA=1T-BLEFEHXN
BEREEHRESRAENBRMAR -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BB RR M

14 Property, plant and equipment 14 Y% BELERE

Leasehold
improvement,
furniture and Motor vehicles
Buildings equipment Machinery and vessels Total
HENE
£ B
L E EL | K& RERMM ag
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AL T AL Thx AL
1st April 2016 WZF-RE=A=T-H
Cost A 175,771 57,500 37,716 20,591 291,578
Accumulated depreciation 2ihE (9579) (44,137) (8,236) (9,090) (71,042)
Net book amount EOFE 166,192 13,363 29,480 11,501 200,536
Year ended 31st March 2017 BE-T-LFZAZT-BLER
Opening net book amount BOEETE 166,192 13,363 29,480 11,501 200,536
Transfer to inventories By - - (162) (11) (173)
Additions AE 1,001 2,067 1,431 1,082 5,581
Disposals e - (2,215) (4,329) (115) 6, 659)
Disposal of subsidiaries (Note 36) HEWBLA (K30) (11,52) (633) - - (12,185)
Depreciation nE (31,454) (5,269) (3,516) (1,960) (42,1 99)
Currency translation differences ENEREE (1,079) (244) - (89) (1412
Closing net book amount BREE A 23,108 7,069 22,904 10,408 163,489
At 31t March 2017 WZE—tE=F=1-H
Cost RA 162,159 53,599 32,759 20,902 269,419
Accumulated depreciation ZiE (39,051) (46,530) (0,855) (10,494) (105,930)
Net book amount BHYE 123,108 7,069 22,904 10,408 163,489
Year ended 31st March 2018 HEZ-Z-\F=A=t-BLEE
Opening net book amount BNERFE 123,108 7,069 22,904 10,408 163,489
Transfer to inventory LRy - - (154) 22 (176)
Transfer to investment properties (Note 15~ EZ % &4 (:15) (4,729) - - - (4,729)
Additions AE 7,000 2,628 1,107 1,098 11,833
Acquisition of a subsidiary e LENT - # - 11 152
Disposals e - (1) (122) (59) (192)
Depreciation ik (32,149) 2,117 (3,285) (1,554) (39,705)
Currency translation differences EREREE 390 97 - 160 647
Closing net book amount R EEE 93,620 7,107 20,450 10,142 131,319
At 31st March 2018 RZE-J\E=A=1-H
Cost WA 164,118 57,125 33,417 21,144 275,804
Accumulated depreciation ZirE (70,498) (50,018) (12,967) (11,002) (144,485)
Net book amount FREE 93,620 7,107 20,450 10,142 131,319
Depreciation expense of approximately HK$1,671,000 W& X H 491,671,000 T (ZF —+ F

(2017: HK$2,028,000) was charged to “cost of sales” and
approximately HK$38,034,000 (2017: HK$40,171,000) to

“general and administrative expenses”

income statement.

Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited

in the consolidated

BRBEERERAR

2,028,000 JT) & #938,034,000/8 ;L (= =
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B SRR M R

Investment properties 15 BEYE
2018 2017
—E-N\EF —E—tF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHExT FETT
At fair value BARERE
At beginning of year REH 1,222,682 1,311,600
Additions NE - 994,899
Transfer from property, BYWE BEEEEZEA
plant and equipment (Note 14) (F$5E14) 4,729 -
Capitalised subsequent expenditure B BFTER 16,170 16,990
Disposal of subsidiaries (Note 36) &M B2 E (H3E36) - (1,239,814)
Fair value gain on investment properties WEWEZ AR BAEKZE 14,818 271,985
Currency translation differences EEEN =58 130,978 (132,978)
At end of year RER 1,389,377 1,222,682

() Amount recognised in consolidated income

) RECEBERTRAZREVESH

statement for investment properties as follows: mE
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+tF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Rental income Hae A 30,631 62,822
Direct operating expenses from REELEHSWAZYEZ
properties that generated rental HELERAX
income (12,114) (18,121)
18,517 44,701

(ii) Non-current assets pledged as security

An investment property of approximately
HK$1,380,568,000 (2017: HK$1,222,682,000) was
pledged as collaterals for certain of the Group’s bank
borrowings of approximately HK$553,238,000 (2017:
HK$480,471,000) (Note 31).

(iii) Valuation technique

As at 31st March 2018, investment properties
of approximately HK$1,389,377,000 (2017:
HK$1,222,682,000) were stated at open market value
based on valuations assessed by an independent
professional qualified valuer and reviewed by the
directors.

(i) EFFERBEE
% & ) ¥ #91,380,568,0008 ;L (— Z
— -t 4 :1,222,682,000/% L) B 1A
NEBEE T RITE E 49553,238,000/8
T(ZZ—+ 4 : 480,471,000/ 7T) 2
A SEEE(EEST) -

(i) fHE M
RZZE—-NE=ZF=+—H #&EY
% 4#91,389,377,0008 7L (=T —t 4 ¢
1,222,682,000/% 7T) Jh A E 1L B 7
EELERGEMT B Z2EENARH
MEME -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B SRR M R

15 Investment properties (Continued)

(iii) Valuation technique (Continued)

The following table analyses the investment properties

carried at fair value, by valuation method.

15 REWE(E)
(i) fHE M (&)

TRUAEEZESTARRBEIIEZ

wEWE -

Fair value hierarchy

ARAEEZFR

Fair value measurement at
31st March 2018 using
R-EB-NE=A=+—H
FERATSEBETZAAREBENE

Quoted prices

in active Significant
markets for other Significant
identical observable unobservable
Description assets inputs inputs
RIER™ S BARHAM
AHEEE CIE-E S BEAARTH
ot ZHBE WMARE BREGAHE
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
(5—E) (5=FE) (5=F8)
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FTHET FET FET
Recurring fair value KEERR
measurement BEE
— Commercial units — EBEETT
— Mainland China — R A - - 1,389,377

Fair value measurement at
31st March 2017 using
RZE—+tF=A=+—H
ERATIIEBETZAAEEME

Quoted prices

in active Significant
markets for other Significant
identical observable unobservable
Description assets inputs inputs
& BT 5 BREAM
Al AIE E GIEES BRAA
E=pul 2 WE WABE BREAZE
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
(F—) (B=1E) (5=1E)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FHET FET FHET
Recurring fair value BEMERR
measurement BETE
— Commercial units — mEET
— Mainland China — A — — 1,222,682
]38 Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited SEBESERAR AT



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B SRR M R

15 REWE(A)
(iii) & {E H 7 (4)

15 Investment properties (Continued)

(iii) Valuation technique (Continued)

Fair value measurement using significant

BHAEAT JBFEBHAZALEET

unobservable inputs (Level 3) B(FE=F)
Mainland
China
N Ei g
HK$’000
FExT
As at 1st April 2017 RZE—+tFWMA—H 1,222,682
Transfer from property, plant and equipment Az BEREEZEA 4,729
Capitalised subsequent expenditure HigMZBITAER 16,170
Fair value gain on investment properties KREWMEZRAAEBEKE 14,818
Currency translation differences BE¥ENRZRE 130,978
As at 31st March 2018 R-E—NF=A=+—H 1,389,377
Total unrealised gains for the year included in the RZE—NF=ZRA=+—H
consolidated income statement for asset held at FIsEERAFETA
31st March 2018 FEBERRIAERINGEE 14,818
As at 1st April 2016 RZZE—-XRFMNHA—H 1,311,600
Additions NE 994,899
Capitalised subsequent expenditure BB BFTER 16,990
Disposal of subsidiaries (Note 36) HEWE QT (M 5E36) (1,239,814)
Fair value gain on an investment property KEYE 2 AR EERTE 271,985
Currency translation differences BEELZ% (132,978)
As at 31st March 2017 RZE—+F=HA=+—H 1,222,682
Total unrealised gains for the year included in the RZZE—tF=A=+—H
consolidated income statement for asset held at T EERANFEERTA
31st March 2017 FEBmRkZARER KA 271,985
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
m = B S R R M

15 Investment properties (Continued) 15 BREWE(E)
(ili) Valuation technique (Continued) (iii) fHEFM(E)
Fair value measurement using significant BHEATJBEEHAZ AL EMEE
unobservable inputs (Level 3) (Continued) B(E=F)(#)
Information about fair value measurements using BRAFTHERTAEHERGA(E==)
significant unobservable input (Level 3) as follows: ZAREBEFEZESNT ¢
Range of Relationship of
Valuation unobservable unobservable inputs
Description Fair value technique Unobservable inputs inputs to fair value
TABE TR AHEHE
bR AREE HERW FTHBRERARE BAZEBEHEE AREEZBE
(HK$’000)
(F#&x)
As at 31st March
2018
RZT—N\F
=ZA=+—-H
Investment properties 1,389,377  Income Adjusted market yield  4.00% to 5.00% The higher the weighted
— Mainland China capitalisation average adjusted
approach market yield, the
and direct higher the fair value
comparison
approach
REWX WaERE KEETSREE )JDT%WW RS R
— hEIR REZELEA mEHE AREE
M
As at 31st March
2017
N-F—tF
=RA=+—H
Investment property 1,222,682  Income Adjusted market yield  5.25% The higher the weighted
— Mainland China capitalisation average adjusted
approach market yield, the
and direct higher the fair value
comparison
approach
REME WaERE KEHETSREE )JDTZ%?W“?JT%“W%
— FE A REEZLEE Waxds DB
()

Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited SEBESERAR AT



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

15 Investment properties (Continued)

(iii) Valuation technique (Continued)
Valuation processes of the investment properties

The Group engages external, independent and qualified
valuer to determine the fair value of the investment
properties at the end of every financial year. As at 31st
March 2018, the fair value of the investment properties
was determined by Knight Frank Petty Limited (2017:
same).

The Group’s finance department reviews the valuations
performed by Knight Frank Petty Limited for financial
reporting purpose. These valuation results are then
reported to the Group’s management for discussions
and review in relation to the valuation processes and the
reasonableness of valuation results.

The main Level 3 input used by the Group is derived and
evaluated as follows:

Adjusted market yield

The adjusted market yield has been determined by
making reference to recent sales and rental transactions
with adjustments to reflect the differences between the
comparables and the investment properties, in terms of
location, building quality and other factors.

16 Land use rights

The Group’s interests in land use rights represent prepaid
operating lease payments and their net book amounts are
analysed as follows:

e B SRR M R

15 REWE(A)
(iii) & {E H 7 (4)

REYFEZIEEES

AEBZBEINEBE LR S EREER
BERNEMBEFERRENE 2R
BE - R-FT-NF=ZA=+—8"
REWMEZ ARBEE BRI EED
TERAREE(ZZT—+F : HA) -

AEBZMBHMERMHHREE O
PiT 7% T A & B 2R ST BIET BB 1T B R 2 A
EHZ/E - FREEEREERER
AEBEEEEER URBERRFK
HEARNGIEMEETH W MR -

AREFANTEEZESEAER
SR

RBBMSRERNES2ELHHEE
REeRZPEHBARRALEY
XEREMEMAEMLE BFEER
HARTEZER) TUERE °

16 T i fFA#E

AEBER T EREZRaBRENE?
BAOFELREREFEIFTAT ¢

2018 2017

—ZE-N\F —E—+F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FBT FET

At beginning of year REH 9,518 44,536
Amortisation B (202) (1,522)
Disposal of subsidiaries (Note 36) & B E A A (MY sE36) - (31,412)
Currency translation differences BEER E - (2,084)
At end of year RER 9,316 9,518

Amortisation of land use rights has been included in “general
and administrative expenses” in the consolidated income
statement.

THEREZBECTARABRRERZ—
fREATH ] -
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BB RR M

17 Intangible assets

17 B EE

Distribution  Favourable Customer
Goodwill rights lease terms contracts Total
AR
[EES DHE HERR EFEH “nE
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET T FTET TET FET
At 1st April 2016 RZE-R"ENA—H
Cost DN 65,016 7,939 11,997 — 84,952
Accumulated amortisation 2t - (3,388) (1,386) - (4,774)
Net book amount REFE 65,016 4,551 10,611 - 80,178
Year ended 31st March 2017 BHE_T—+F
“A=+-HLEE
Opening net book amount YRR 65,016 4,551 10,611 - 80,178
Amortisation B - (383) (578) - (961)
Impairment A (10,282) (4,002) - - (14,284)
Disposal of subsidiaries HEWB LT
(Note 36) (Kt &£36) (51,045) - (9,359) - (60,400)
Currency translation differences ARELERE (3,689) (166) (678) - (4,533)
Closing net book amount HR R BRI 5 8 - - - - -
At 31st March 2017 RZE—+F
=ZA=+—H
Cost B AR 10,664 7,939 — - 18,603
Accumulated amortisation and S EERAE
impairment (10,664) (7,939 - - (18,603)
Net book amount RmFE - — _ _ _
Year ended 31st March 2018 BHE_T-N\F
“A=+-HLEFE
Opening net book amount BOERETE - - - - -
Additions NE - - - 4,703 4,703
Amortisation B - - - (590) (590)
Acquisition of a subsidiary HERB AR
(Note 36) (Pt £36) 2,494 - - - 2,494
Closing net book amount HREmER 2,494 - - 4,113 6,607
At 31st March 2018 RZZ-N\F
=A=+-H
Cost XA 13,158 7,939 - 4,703 25,800
Accumulated amortisation and ZEEERRE
impairment (10,664) (7,939) - (590) (19,193)
Net book amount RHFE 2,494 - - 4,113 6,607
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17 Intangible assets (Continued)

(i)

(ii)

e B SRR M R

17 BREE (&)

Customer contracts i) EFE&EHXN
The customer contracts were acquired as part of a BEAEXNTERBEBE — 2 »imW
business, and are recognised at their fair value at the ﬁ% PTRWEBBRRERARBERE
date of acquisition and are subsequently amortised on a R HEBERESNBEAR S RENHE
straight-line based on the timing of projected cash flows HEtrl R FE FRINE GRS -
of the contracts over their estimate useful lives.
Amortisation expense of customer contracts has been EPAENEETHET AREERE
included in the “general and administrative expenses” in PR —RITHEEERER] -
the consolidated income statement.
Impairment tests for goodwill (i) AERENR
Goodwill is allocated to the Group’s cash-generating unit FHEOSREEAEEMNHRESELEEN
(“CGU”) as follows: (fﬁ@?i SALMT
2018 2017
—E-N\F —ZE—LF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Property investment and project EHERAREREEER
management business
— Yong Fan Investment Consulting ~— — k&% E:%H:#H (L8)
(Shanghai) Company Limited* BERAB([XE]D
CkEREERRLEBRAA)
(“Yong Fan”) 2,494 —
Notes: M 5E -

During the year ended 31st March 2018, management has performed
impairment assessments for the CGU of Yong Fan, and concluded its
value-in-use of the CGU was above its carrying amount. No impairment
indicator noted.

During the year ended 31st March 2017, management has performed
impairment assessments for the CGUs of Wuhan BDS and Changsha
BDS and concluded the value-in-use of the CGUs of Wuhan BDS
and Changsha BDS were below their carrying amounts. Accordingly,
impairment of goodwill and intangible assets of HK$10,282,000 and
HK$4,002,000 respectively were recognised in the consolidated income
statement.

On 31st March 2017, the Group completed the disposal of 100% equity
interest in Eastlink International Investment Inc. and its subsidiaries (the
“Eastlink Group”), which was principally engaged in property business in
the PRC. Accordingly, upon the completion of the disposal, goodwill of
HK$51,045,000 and intangible assets in relation to the use right of car
park of HK$9,355,000 were derecognised. See Note 36 for further details
regarding the disposal.

*

For identification only

R-E-NE=ZA=Z=+—RBALFER EEE
HXERSELEMNETRENE TRAEH
ReEEAENUZERAEESRERAEE - L&
BRRE °

R-E—tE=ZA=Z+—ALFER EEE
HRZBZEEQRIFTRRRDPEBEESR
B *ﬂ?*ziﬁﬁ@éiﬁ TR ETERA

& REBEERRRFAIERELBEEER
&uxsr??kz%ﬁiﬁiﬁusﬁ FEREBRAE
FEE Bt BEREFEEZRES A
10,282,0007% 7T F14,002,000/8 L A 4 B 1B R

R-ZT—tF=A=+—R0 FE@EEXLE
HHBEREEARARREMER A (TR E
H])2100% % - ZEBEFEZRPEKLERH
EXER - Bt £ 57K I H & % - 51,045,000
ETHEEEEFEESERARINERANEREE
9,355,000 T B 4% IE #ER - B B E R
&R M 36 -

tOEHRES
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B SRR M R

18 Financial instruments by category

18 2RI ESE

Fair value
through
Loan and profit or Available-
receivables loss for-sale Total
BEXRk FAB®RZ
PE W BR X NREE AHHE B
HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000
THER FERT FER FTER
As at 31st March 2018 RZE-NE
=A=+-H
Assets as per consolidated FEMBRARAZ
statement of financial position EE
Available-for-sale financial asset AHHECHBEE - - 286 286
Amount due from a joint venture U —MH A& QR HIE 17,593 - - 17,593
Trade and other receivables JIE Ui BR 2R % H b B UK
(excluding non-financial assets) R (T a4
FNBEE) 580,178 - - 580,178
Financial assets at fair value BAREBEFABRLZ
through profit or loss BB EE - 135,535 - 135,535
Pledged bank deposits BEIFRITER 57,807 - - 57,807
Cash and cash equivalents BehkREHE 312,766 - - 312,766
Total M 968,344 135,535 286 1,104,165

At amortised

cost
RE R
HK$’000
FET

As at 31st March 2018 R-ZE—-NE=A=+—H

Liabilities as per consolidated statement of SEMBRRRRZAER
financial position

Borrowings TENET 1,558,857
Trade and bill payables EREREEE 284,811
Other payables (excluding non-financial liabilities) HEMEMNBER(TBEIEMEERE) 40,695
Total 48 1,884,363

Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited
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e B SRR M R

18 2 I EDE (&)

18 Financial instruments by category (Continued)

Fair value
Loan and through Available-
receivables  profit or loss for-sale Total
Rk FAB®EZ
& W BR 5K NAEE At E e
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FET FET FET FET
As at 31st March 2017 R-ZEBE—+&
=A=+-—-H
Assets as per consolidated FEMBRARAZ

statement of financial position EE

Available-for-sale financial asset AHEECHBEE - - 506 506
Amount due from a joint venture W —EEE RRIHIA 34,360 — - 34,360
Trade and other receivables B U2 B 0 K% L fth FE UK

(excluding non-financial assets) ER(TBIE

FNBEE) 594,770 — - 594,770

Financial assets at fair value BRARBEFABRLZ

through profit or loss BHBEE - 15,500 - 15,500
Pledged bank deposits BEBRITER 68,659 - - 68,659
Cash and cash equivalents BehkBRELEE 628,382 — - 628,382
Total FoR ] 1,326,171 15,500 506 1,342,177

At amortised

cost
2 5 55 B AR
HK$'000
FAT

As at 31st March 2017 R=-BE—+tH&=ZHA=+-—H

Liabilities as per consolidated statement of SEMBRRRRZER
financial position

Borrowings TE 1,722,336
Trade and bill payables EREREEE 143,604
Amount due to a joint venture ER—MEEE Q8RR 49,900
Other payables (excluding non-financial liabilities) HihEMEZR (MBHEIFFEER) 110,918
Total 4 zE 2,026,758
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19 Subsidiaries

Details of the principal subsidiaries as at 31st March 2018 are

19

B B X &

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B SRR M R

R-B-NE=A=+-RAZTBWEA

Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited

ERTRELRD

BRBEERERAR

as follows: AIZHEBWOT :
Particulars of
Place of incorporation/ issued share Percentage of
establishment and capital/registered  equity interest attributable  Principal activities and
Name kind of legal entity capital to the Group (i) place of operations
ERRL/ RIBER BRTRE/ REBEELRE
8 ERERLE EMERFHE RAERE 2LL() IRERREENY
2018 2017
ZE-N\E —ZT—+F
Asia Infrastructure Resources Group Limited - Cayman Islands, HK$0.2 100% 100%  Investment holding in Hong
limited liability company Kong
oHEREREEARAA REHS ARALAR 0.287 REAREER
He Tai Steel Co., Limited Hong Kong, HK$35,000,000 100% 100%  Trading of recycling steel in
limited liability company Hong Kong
NEAZARAA % BREELA 35,000,000/ REREEDRAM
Hongkong and Shanghai Land Capital Ltd. ~ Cayman lslands, US$5 60% 60% Fund management outside
limited liability company Hong Kong and
Mainland China
EEMEERARAA REES ARALAR 5XTC RERRTFERBEID
HEEEER
Hongkong and Shanghai Land British Virgin Islands, US$1 100% 100%  Investment holding in Hong
Group Limited limited liability company Kong and Mainland China
ERBESEARAA EBERHS EREELT 1% REBRPEADREER
HSL Asset Management (HK) Limited Hong Kong, HK$1 60% 60%  Provision of management
limited liability company services in Hong Kong
EEEEER(BE)ARAA &% RRALAA 187 REARRMLER R
HSL Investment Advisory (HK) Limited Hong Kong, HK$1 60% 60%  Provision of investment advisory
limited liability company services in Hong Kong
BERELN(BR)ARLA 2% BREELA 17 REBREREH ARG
Plentiful Praise Limited British Virgin Islands, US$100 62% N/A  Investment holding
limited liability company in Hong Kong and Mainland
China
BHARRA EBRNHES EREALA 100% 7T REBRPEADRERR
Shanghai Bao Shun Chang International Mainland China, RMB55,000,000 80.9% 80.9%  Stockholding and trading of
Trading Co., Ltd.* limited liability company steel in Mainland China
FEEIREEREZERAT hENY  EREEAR A 155,000,0007T KBRS FERE BN
Van Shung Chong (B.V..) Limited (i) British Virgin Islands, US$6 100% 100%  Investment holding in Hong
limited liability company Kong
ZBRNES BREAAT 6XT REAREER
Van Shung Chong Hong Limited Hong Kong, HK$2,000 ordinary and 100% 100%  Provision of management
limited liability company HK$10,000,000 services in Hong Kong
non-voting deferred
EBETARAA % BREELA 2,008 T EBRR REBRHEERS
10,000,000 1T



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B SRR M R

19 Subsidiaries (Continued)

Place of incorporation/

19 B 2R (&)

Particulars of
issued share

Percentage of

establishment and capital/registered  equity interest attributable  Principal activities and
Name kind of legal entity capital to the Group (i) place of operations
AL/ RIBER BRTRA/ AEEER
8 EEERNLE EMERzFHE RAERE DLL() IEERREENY
2018 2017
ZE-N\fE —ZT—+F
VSC Building Products Company Macau, MOP$30,000 100% 100%  Supply and wholesale of
(Macau) Limited limited liability company construction materials in
Macau
BIEERENH (RF) ARAR 2P BREALT R F9%30,0007 REFRERENHBEREE
VSC Building Products Company Limited ~ Hong Kong, HK$2 100% 100%  Trading of sanitary wares and
limited liability company kitchen cabinets and kitchen
cabinet installation in Hong
Kong
EREREMHARAA BA BRELAA 28T REREEGARARER
WRZ %R
VSC Plastics Company Limited Hong Kong, HK$2 100% 100%  Trading of engineering plastics in
limited liability company Hong Kong
EBEZBARAA EE ARERLA 28T REBEEIREE
VSC Steel Company Limited Hong Kong, HK$38,000 ordinary 100% 100%  Stockholding and trading of
limited liability company and HK$20,000,000 steel in Hong Kong
non-voting deferred
EREHAARAA % BREELA 38000 TEER R REARHREZ RN
20,000,000/ ¢
ERERELTRN
VSC Steel Processing Holdings Limited Hong Kong, HK$1 100% 100%  Investment holding in Hong
limited liability company Kong, and provision of logistic
and management services of
steel
EES@nNIERERAR & AREMELR 1T REBREBRR AR R4
MRREERE
VSC Steel Processing Limited Hong Kong, HKS1 100% 100%  Principally engaged in the
limited liability company operation of the land situated
in Tsing Yi
BREAMMIARAR B4 BRELAA 187 FERENRERZIH
B BEXEB AR Mainland China, RMB429,130,000 100% 100%  Holding property in Mainland
limited liability company China
hERY EREEAA AR 429,130,000 RPBEAEARHE
LELBELERAT Mainland China, RMB84,480,000 100% 100%  Holding property in Mainland
limited liability company China
hERL BREEAR AR 84,480,007 RPEREEARDE
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e B SRR M R

19 Subsidiaries (Continued) 19 BT (E&)

Place of incorporation/

Particulars of
issued share

Percentage of

establishment and capital/registered  equity interest attributable  Principal activities and
Name kind of legal entity capital to the Group (i) place of operations
HRAL/ HIBER BRTRE/ AEBEELR
8 EEERUE EMER2FHE REERE L) TEEHRBERY
2018 2017
ZE-N\E —T—+F
HRBEEEEEER AR Mainland China, HK$20,000,000 60% N/A  Provision of asset and
limited liability company investment management
services in Mainland China
hEAY EREEAF 20,000,000 RPERBREAERRAER
fR#%
DB EERERAT Mainland China, RMB640,000,000 60% 60%  Provision of management
limited liability company services in Mainland China
hERY  EREELAR AR 640,000,007 ReBEREREERRE
LR ERERRER AR Mainland China, 1S$500,000 60% 100%  Property agent in Mainland
limited liability company China
mE R FREEAT 500,000% 7T RAEAANFRE
KEREFA(LE)ERLA Mainland China, RMB10,000,000 42% N/A~ Provision of investment
limited liability company consultancy services in
Mainland China
BN BREERR A& 10,000,007 R B RERE & ARE
MrRERE S (LB BB AR Mainland China, US$6,500,000 100% 100%  Trading of sanitary wares in
limited liability company Mainland China
hERY BREEAR 6,500,000% ¢ ReERBEEHARE
EIEE (LB rEERERAA Mainland China, US$7,280,000 100% 100%  Provision of management
limited liability company service and trading of sanitary
wares and kitchen cabinets in
Mainland China
hERY EREERAA 7,280,000% 7 RPERBREEEREREE
BAZARER
FEES(LE)BRAA Mainland China, RMB35,440,694 100% 100% Trading of engineering plastics in
limited liability company Mainland China
hERY  BREEAR AR 35,440,6047 RAEREETRER
Note: B 5

(i) The shares of Van Shung Chong (B.V.l.) Limited are held directly by the

Van Shung Chong (B.V.l.) LimitedZ f% 1 B3 X A 7]

BEFA  EMMERARZROARERA -

Company. The shares of other subsidiaries are held indirectly.

T ERES)

*  For identification only

]48 Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited SEBESERAR AT
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Investments in associates

Set out below are the associates of the Company as at 31st
March 2018. The associates as listed below have share capital
consisting solely of ordinary shares, which are held indirectly
by the Company.

Details of the principal investments in associates as at 31st
March 2018 are as follows:

20

e B SRR M R

REEQFZRE
AT#INARTR-_B—\FZA=+—
BZBERs - UTHIIBEAREASR
ERBZBA - mADEBERAE

RZE-NFZA=T—HZETERNHE
RAZREFBWAT :

Place of business/ Nature of the = Measurement
Name of entity country of incorporation % of ownership interest relationship method
BEREEB EENE TMRLER BEREEZRAIL BEEE FTEFE
2018 2017
—E-NE —T—+F
China Able Limited Mainland China/ 33.33% 33.33% Note i Equity method
(“China Able”) British Virgin Islands
B A, EEE RS B & BHE
Changshu Baoshunchang Mainland China 49.99% 49.99% Note ii Equity method
Steel Processing Co., Ltd.”
(‘BEREIRS")
FABESMMMIARLRA HEAM B Sl BERE
(IERBIEES])
Notes: B3 -

(0

(i

China Able was engaged in the property business. It is a contractual
joint venture which is held in equal shares among Fit Team Holdings
Limited, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, Nanyang
Industrial (China) Limited, an independent third-party and Marvel Champ
Investments Limited, another independent third-party. It remains inactive
since distribution was made to shareholders in prior years. The Group
has shared the losses of the associate to the extent of the Group’s
interest in the associate.

% #E JI8 £ is engaged in the processing of steel. It is a contractual joint
venture established in Mainland China with an operating period of 30
years to 2034. Management assessed the Group maintained significant
influence and no control over the operating activities of the entity. The
Group has shared the losses of the associate to the extent of the Group’s
interest in the associate.

* For identification only

There are no contingent liabilities relating to the Group’s
interest in the associates.

(i) China Ableft E B I E X715 - H AR Q& M E#
2 & [ff & A FIFit Team Holdings Limited * — %8 37
FE=FEAFAIEFER)ERRAARS 2B
% = HMarvel Champ Investments LimitedbA £ A
RHESHEROz —HMEERE - ARFATMK
REHDRENEEER AKBEEHRBEA
AlZE=mD BB ENE ZEE -

(i FRAEEEREMANT - RRFBEANMKZ
ZaEh%  EEHRANFE_T=MFIL -
EEEFGEASEHRERIRLEEDHERTE

FENETEEGE  AEEEHRBEERF
ZHERDBBERNRZER -

YO EREE

AERERBERRZEBTES RIREA

& -
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nj\

21

BB RR M

Investments in joint ventures and amounts

due from/(to) joint ventures

21 B

PaN N\
(=) 72\
A% ATNE

EREZREREYR (FEM)

2018 2017
—B-N\F —E—+F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FAT
Investment in HSL China Metropolitan FAHSL China Metropolitan
Fund I L.P. ( the “Partnership”) Fund ILP. (&R 21&E - 110,631
Investment in TVSC Construction Steel FATVSC Construction Steel
Solutions Limited (“TVSC”) Solutions Limited ([ TVSC )
ZIE 19,931 —
Amount due from TVSC JEWTVSCZ FIB 17,593 34,360
Amount due to the Partnership ENAEBLE ZTIA - (49,900)

The amounts due from/(to) joint ventures are unsecured,
non-interest bearing and without pre-determined repayment
terms. The carrying amounts are denominated in HK$ and

approximate their fair values.

The movements of interests in joint ventures are as follows:

TEHEMBEE AR BEMBE -

REZRAZHREZEHIMT ¢

JEY (B & & ARz @MAEER -
TEERYEREERY FESENE

2018 2017
—E-NE —E—tF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FExT FAT
At beginning of year REH 110,631 148,108
Investment in TVSC (Note (i)) RTVSCZ & & (MI7E()) - 13,784
Capital contribution to TVSC (Note (i)) MTVSC/EE (M 5E()) 45,000 -
Share of loss of TVSC for current year B5 & BATVSCHE 18 (24,420) (22,720)
Share of loss of TVSC for unrecognised B(ETVSCBEFERAEREE
losses in prior years (649) —
Share of profit/(loss) of the Partnership FBEAEBLEZ
(Note (ii)) w7 (&R ) (B E(i) 50,478 (13,791)
Realisation of currency translation STHEA BN ERINEHRE ZREIR
differences upon dissolution of
the Partnership (11,043) -
Distribution from the Partnership (Note (i) & B & B Z 7k (B 5% (i) (167,123) —
Currency translation differences of EBRCENEBELR =5
the Partnership 17,057 (14,750)
At end of year RER 19,931 110,631
Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited SEBESERAR AT
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Investments in joint ventures and amounts

due

Notes:

(i

(i

(il

from/(to) joint ventures (Continued)

During the year ended 31st March 2018, the Group has decided to
convert an amount of HK$45,000,000 due from TVSC into capital
contribution. This capital contribution forms part of the investment in
TVSC as of 31st March 2018.

On 9th May 2018, the Group and the joint venture partner subscribed for
45,000,000 shares of TVSC, respectively, and the Group satisfied this
share subscription through its capital contribution as recognised as of
31st March 2018. On the same day, the Group acquired the remaining
50% equity interest of TVSC from the joint venture partner upon the
completion of shares subscription (Note 41(b)).

During the year ended 31st March 2017, the Group advanced an
unsecured and interest-bearing shareholder’s loan of HK$11,634,000
and subsequently converted it into share capital of TVSC and further
injected capital contribution of HK$2,150,000.

On 13th September 2017, the Partnership entered into a sale and
purchase agreement with an independent third party, whereby it agreed
to sell 100% of the equity of its subsidiary, Ruskin Overseas Limited, at an
aggregate consideration of approximately RMB812,539,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$960,923,000). The disposal was completed on
28th September 2017, resulting in a gain on disposal of approximately
HK$239,980,000 in the financial statements of the Partnership.

On 28th December 2017, the general partner of the Partnership declared
the distribution of all capital and profit of the Partnership to all partners
on a pro rata basis. The Group received approximately HK$167,123,000
from the distribution. The Partnership was further dissolved on 16th
February 2018.

21

CEX

(i)

(i)

e B SRR M R

\EELARIZREREWR “(EM)
Gl

DN FRE (&)

REBEE-_Z-—NF=ZA=Z+—BLFE £&
B 3R 7 #5 FE IRTVSC 2 45,000,000/ T i A HH &
BR-R-_ZT—NE=ZA=+—8 ZHER
RIERTVSCZ DR E °

RZZ—\ERANE ALEEAEERED
#ETVSCH)45,000,0000% i 10 » 78 & E #5 2 X
BOREBRRA-_ZT-N\F=ZA=+—82H
BRA-RAB  NEBRRMDRETREKE
TVSCZ # T50%M% 4 (Kf 5E41(b)) °

REBEE-_ZT—+F-ZA=Z+—BLFE £&
B 12 4 — 18 A R T 218 B AR R B 511,634,000
B BB EIRA TVSCZ A - Wi — 4
1 &2,150,000/8 7T °

—Z—+tFNA+Z=RH ABLEEBIYFE=
FEAVEEGH BUERBELEENERR
Ruskin Overseas Limited®) 100%/& #% @ R E 4
A A R 812,539,000 7t (18 & 7 47 960,923,000
B) HEZEBEER-ZE—t+FALA-T+NHR
T BBARCEVBRERELALENRED
239,980,0005% 7T, °

RZE—+F+_A-+N\B &BLEN—
BEBABRBLAIMMBEAEBRASRABDE
EHBEARMEOE - NEBE B ZDIRKEAL
167,123,000 7T - B EE — TR T — N
FZAFNBFEH -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
= B S R R M R

21 Investments in joint ventures and amounts 21 REERRAIZREREYR (EH)
due from/(to) joint ventures (Continued) EENATRIE(E)

Set out below are the joint ventures of the Group as at 31st UWTHINAEBR -_E—NF=ZA=+—

March 2018. The joint ventures as listed below have share HrzAERal - U TIHRIEaE rEZAR

capital consisting solely of ordinary shares, which are held LBl A mAEBEBEES -

indirectly by the Group.

Details of the principal investments in joint ventures as at 31st RZE—NFZA=ZFT—HZEEREE

March 2018 are as follows: NAIZEBEFBEOAT -

Place of business/ Nature of the = Measurement
Name of entity country of incorporation % of ownership interest relationship method
331 )o A
BEREE FREBER BEEEZERASE BEMEE FFEHE
2018 2017
“E-N\F ZE—+tF
HSL China Metropolitan Mainland China/ - 29.44% Note i Equity method
Fund I L.P. Cayman Islands
RE AN, SRS e 5 - Fndr
TVSC Construction Steel Hong Kong 50.00% 50.00% Note ii Equity method
Solutions Limited
BB il REw%

Notes: B3 -

(i) The Partnership is a property investment fund, which is held by the Group 0] AERENCEALAEMEREES BAALELEAET
and certain independent third parties. The Partnership was dissolved on BYE=—FHA - B CER_Z—/\F_A
16th February 2018. +RNEFEH -

(ii) TVSC is engaged in the provision of steel processing services in Hong (i) TVSCR BB FRMME N TR - TVSCR —
Kong. TVSC is a contractual joint venture, which is held by the Group and HMAZERAR AAEER—BIYE=ZHHEHE -
an independent third party. TVSC changed its name to VSC Construction TVSC E —E-N\FRA++tHEBERBENR
Steel Solutions Limited with effect from 17th May 2018. /VSC Construction Steel Solutions Limited ©

There are no contingent liabilities relating to the Group’s REEBRELE AR ZERTE LSRR E

interests in the joint ventures. & o

]52 Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited SEBESERAR AT



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B SRR M R

21 Investments in joint ventures and amounts 21 REELTFIZREREW (ER)
due from/(to) joint ventures (Continued) EENTRE(E)
Summarised financial information for joint ventures EE AT BERHME
Set out below are the summarised financial information for joint TREBINAEZEARZEE QB 22U
ventures which are accounted for using equity method. BREE -
The Partnership TVSC Total
EBLE Mgt
2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017

ZB-N\f ZE-+t5 ZB-\f ZE-tF ZB-\F CET—+F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
TERT THT TERL TAT FEL TR

Summarised statement of A EH HEBE

financial position
Current assets RBEE
Cash and cash equivalents 4 RE4%E - 496,752 2,813 6,533 2,813 503,285
Other current assets HEtRBEE - 588,549 14,412 19,972 14,412 608,521
Total current assets TMBEERE - 1,085,301 17,225 26,505 17,225 1,111,806

Financial liabilties and total ¢ BEBER

current liabilities BRHeiE - (642,566) (96,841) (62,198) (96,841) (704,764)
Non-current assets ErRBEE - 870 29,478 34,395 29,478 35,265
Other non-current liabilities  EMIERE & & - (67,820) - - - (67,820)
Total non-current liabilities  EREBEELE - (67,820) - - - (67,820)
Net assets/(liabilities) FEE/(8F) - 375,785 (50,138) (1,298) (50,138) 374,487

Summarised statement of BB L EEXFHE
comprehensive income

Revenue WA 4,310 149,263 71,699 65,101 76,009 214,364
Gain on disposal of HEMBRE 2z ME

subsidiaries 239,980 - - - 239,980 -
Depreciation neE - (934) (3,667) (2,860) (3,667) (3,794)
Finance income A 7,175 4,969 - - 7,175 4,969
Finance cost HBER (15,456) (35,479) (264) (659) (15,720) (36,138)
Profit/(loss) before tax BRAEF,/ (BE) 273,222 124,960 (45,644) (45,901) 227,578 79,059
Income tax expense ERT ML (101,762) (171,806) (3,196) (840) (104,958) (172,646)
Profit/(loss) for the year FEEF/ (B8) 171,460 (46,846) (48,840) (46,741) 122,620 (93,587)
Currency translation EBENZE

differences 57,938 (50,095) - — 57,938 (50,095)
Total comprehensive income/ EEZEWRA/ (EE)

(loss) for the year BE 229,398 (96,941) (48,840) (46,741) 180,558 (143,682)
Unrecognised share ATBRZDHEE

of losses - - - (649) - (649)
Cumulative unrecognised ZEt R TER

share of losses AR - - - (649) - (649)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B SRR M R

21 Investments in joint ventures and amounts 21 REELQTIZREREW (FER)
due from/(to) joint ventures (Continued) SENBHRIE(E)
Summarised financial information for joint ventures EENTMBEERNEE(E)
(Continued)
The information above reflects the amounts presented in the BN RBREENRMERERENE
financial statements of the joint ventures (and not the Group’s MAEFEHASERNA@THEZERLEH
share of those amounts) adjusted for differences in accounting Bemm(WIEREEEL 2 EFE) °
policies between the Group and the joint ventures.
Reconciliation of summarised financial information BIBEREFES R
Reconciliation of the summarised financial information FTERVBERNBEERERNELS RN A
presented to the carrying amount of the Group’s interests in CHESZEASEYER
joint ventures
The Partnership TVSC Total
RBLE gt
2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017
ZE-\§ T+ ZB-N\§ C-"T-+tF ZB-N\§ C"T—+F
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
TER FEL TER FEx TR TEL
Summarised financial HBENHE
information
Net assets at beginning RENZBEFE
of year 375,785 472,726 (1,298) 17,875 374,487 490,601
Capital injection by hEzTE
shareholders - - - 27,568 - 27,568
Profit/(loss) for the year EFRH/ (B8 171,460 (46,346) (48,840) (46,741) 122,620 (93,587)
Distribution of capital injected 5 JE X AB A &
and profit (567,673) - - - (567,673) -
Currency translation ERERZESR
differences 57,938 (50,095) - - 57,938 (50,095)
Realisation of currency EREEEA
translation difference (37,510) - - - (37,510) -
Net assets/(liabilities) at REXZEE/(BF)
end of year B - 375,785 (50,138) (1,298) (50,138) 374,487
Investments in joint ventures RA& AT ZHE
— Carrying value —kREE - 110,631 19,931 - 19,931 110,631

Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

22 Deferred income tax assets/(liabilities)

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there
is a legally enforceable right to offset current income tax assets
against current income tax liabilities and when the deferred
income tax assets and liabilities relate to income tax levied
by the same taxation authority on either the taxable entity or

e B SRR M R

22 EERBHEE(AF)

ERAEKAHMEHEELARNMAENA
BERBEZEEEBHAITE  UERER—HK
BHRERAZEXRVEBLTRERNE R
MBELEMBHEEMRELEMEHABBK
S EPAHMGESRRIRFREERE

different taxable entities where there is an intention to settle B RESHEEHEBEF LT -
the balances on a net basis. The offset amounts are as follows: HESB|OAT -
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHExT FHET
Deferred income tax assets: BEILEFTISREE -
— Deferred income tax assets to be — BR+-@ABBIE
recovered after 12 months EEMSIEE 18,010 11,854
— Deferred income tax assets to be — BRt+TZEABRIRE 2
recovered within 12 months EEMSIEE 6,807 9,516
24,817 21,370
Deferred income tax liabilities: BIEFTISRAE -
— Deferred income tax liabilities to be — BRT+-EBBEEZ
settled after 12 months RIEFSTABE (71,156) (69,638)
Net deferred income tax liabilities BB ABEFE (46,339) (48,268)
The movements in net deferred income tax liabilities are as BEEFMSEHRABEFBEEHOT -
follows:
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—EF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FETT
At beginning of year REH] (48,268) (181,982)
Credited/(charged) to the consolidated EREZAEBEERP AR ()
income statement (Note 11) (MFaE11) 8,503 (65,876)
Disposal of subsidiaries (Note 36) & E A A (MYEE36) - 186,297
Currency translation differences EBENZRE (6,574) 18,293
At end of year RER (46,339) (48,268)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BB RR M

22 Deferred income tax assets/(liabilities)

(Continued)

The movements in deferred income tax assets and liabilities
during the year, without taking into consideration the offsetting [A

22 EEFBBEE (&E) (&)

AEREREMSHREERBBLE R
—BRBRAREAZEHREE BB

of balances within the same tax jurisdiction, are as follows: M
Deferred income tax assets: BEMSHREE -
Cumulative Decelerated
tax losses depreciation Total
A BIEEE BT E et
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FET FET
At 1st April 2016 RZZE—RFMA—H 25,137 248 25,385
Credited to the consolidated BEREGEEERFEA
income statement 1,887 141 2,028
Disposal of subsidiaries (Note 36) H &M E A7 (M :E36) (67) - (67)
Currency translation differences S E I, = %8 (542) — (542)
At 31st March 2017 RZZE—tF=A=+—H 26,415 389 26,804
Credited to the consolidated ERGAEEERTEA
income statement 6,511 72 6,583
Currency translation differences &8 E 3, =58 646 - 646
At 31st March 2018 RZFE-NF=ZH=+—H 33,572 461 34,033
Deferred income tax liabilities: EIEFREHEaE
Investment Withholding Accelerated
properties tax depreciation Total
REWME BIH MEFE @at
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FAT FAT FAT
At 1st April 2016 RZZE—XRFWNA—H (198,435) (812) (8,120) (207,367)
(Charged)/credited to the consolidated B R44& 1B =T
income statement (%), A (67,997) (749) 842 (67,904)
Disposal of subsidiaries (Note 36) & B8 2 =) (Bt 3E36) 186,364 — — 186,364
Currency translation differences ERERERE 13,835 - - 13,835
At 31st March 2017 RZE—LF
: A=+—H (66,233) (1,561) (7,278) (75,072)
(Charged)/credited to the consolidated REABEERS
income statement (TD B) /A (3,704) 951 4,673 1,920
Currency translation differences EEER =% (7,220) - - (7,220)
At 31st March 2018 RZE—-NF
=A=+-H (77,157) (610) (2,605) (80,372)
Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited SEBESERAR AT
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Deferred income tax assets/(liabilities)
(Continued)

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for tax loss carry-
forwards to the extent that the realisation of the related tax
benefit through the future taxable profits is probable. As at
31st March 2018, the deferred income tax assets recognised
from tax loss of approximately HK$24,861,000 (2017:
HK$22,977,000) can be carried forward indefinitely. The
remaining tax losses of approximately HK$8,713,000 (2017:
HK$3,438,000) will expire in five years from the year they were
incurred.

The Group did not recognise deferred income tax assets of
approximately HK$33,129,000 (2017: HK$5,443,000) and
approximately HK$3,899,000 (2017: HK$3,283,000) in respect
of tax losses amounting to approximately HK$200,782,000
(2017: HK$32,989,000) that can be carried forward indefinitely
and approximately HK$15,595,000 (2017: HK$13,133,000)
will be expired in five years from the year they were incurred
respectively.

Deferred income tax liabilities of approximately HK$168,000
(2017: HK$122,000) have not been recognised for the
withholding tax that would be payable on the unremitted
earnings of certain subsidiaries, as management currently has
no intention to remit those earnings.

Available-for-sale financial asset

e B SRR M R

22 EEFBBEE (BE) (&)

REMGHMEEDREMRBRENEER
RRERB AF SR MR EE L TRIAE
BIEER R_ZE—NF=ZA=+—8"
ERHEBERRCEEMSMEEY
24,861,000/8 7L(=Z & — + 4 : 22,977,000
B A AER AL E - B T 2 MIBBIELY
8,713,000 7t (= & — £ F : 3,438,000 /&
TLIBREEFEERFANRM -

K £ B I £ FE 4 200,782,000 8 L( = =
—-£4F :32,9890,000/8 70 ) 2 FHIBEIEH#R -
185 7 4933,129,0008 T (=& — £ F
54430008 L) 2 REFMSEMEE %=
R A LAEER HA 45 8 0 & 4915,595,0007%8 TT
— T+ HK$13,133,0008 7)) 2 Hi 1A
BB R - 85 5 43,899,000 L (==
— 4 132830008 L) 2 ELEFEMRE
E EBEREEFEEAFTFART -

WERE THEB AR 2 RKEDWEZ B
FEH B R 4168,0008 T(ZF —+HF -
1220008 L) 2 REFEHEE BAEE
BERANBEZELZSESN -

23 AHHEZMBEE

2018 2017

—E2-N\F —T—tF

HK$’000 HK$’000

THER FH&T

At beginning of year REA] 506 487
Change in fair value (Note 34) DREEES (MH:E34) (220) 19
At end of year RER 286 506

Available-for-sale financial asset, which is stated at fair value
and denominated in HKS$, represents shares listed on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

BARBEIBLLNETHEZAIHEE
ZHBEE BEREEBRAIZMARR
Al Lz B o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

24

25

BB RR M

Financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss

24

BAORBESARSEZMBEE

2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHE T FAET
Investments in unit trusts at quoted price B AIEFERE RE (MHEE3)
(Note (i) 111,861 _
Structured bank products at quoted price 41 48R 77 2 R R B (M E5())
(Note (i) 23,674 —
Investments in corporate notes at quoted ¥ Z4E VA R(E
price (Note (iii) (B = (i) ) - 15,500
135,535 15,500
Notes: M EE -

(i) The investments in unit trusts were denominated in HK$. Changes in fair
value were recognised in “other gains — net” in the consolidated income
statement.

(i) The investments in structured bank products were denominated in
RMB. Changes in fair value were recognised in “other gains — net” in the
consolidated income statement.

(iii) The investments in corporate notes were denominated in US$. The
investments were disposed during the year ended 31st March 2018.

() EUERBREAETAHE 2ABEEPINE
ARmRIEMKE — FEIPRER

(i %\Eﬁﬁéuuhﬁu)\ﬁ'ﬁ%*ﬂﬁ AREE
WA BRERIEMWRE — FRIPER -

(i) TEEBZREUNETHE ZRENBEZ
E-NF=ZA=t+-—BLEFELHE -

Inventories 25 FE&
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—tF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
Finished goods BIRR & 289,566 395,628

The costs of inventories recognised as expenses and included
in “cost of sales” in the consolidated income statement
amounted to approximately HK$2,765,195,000 (2017:
HK$2,626,722,000).

The Group made inventory provision for obsolete inventories
and write-down of the inventories to net realisable value. A
provision of HK$13,891,000 (2017: HK$12,329,000) was
made as at 31st March 2018. A provision for impairment of
inventories of HK$1,007,000 (2017: reversal of provision for
impairment of inventories of HK$987,000) was included in “cost
of sales” in the consolidated income statement.

Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited SEBESERAR AT

43 2,765,195,000 & (= & — + F
2,626,722,0008 L) 2T ERAEHER A X
i WEFTAGEBRRZHERA]H -

AEERBRTFTENRTERBLER
EMBR R FEE R_Z—N\F=A
=+ — H&#£13,891,000/8 T (=T —+
F 112,329,000 70) 2 Bt o 7 &R E &
#1,007,0008 L(ZE—tF : FTERE
BB R 01987,000/8 L) B RF AR A EEE
ZIHEMRAF o



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B SRR M R

26 Trade and bill receivables

26 EWERARAKZE

2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—EF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
Trade and bill receivables FEWER N EE
— from third parties — REBE=FH 504,249 488,087
— from an associate and a joint venture —RE—EHE AR
=N 41,525 21,555
Less: Provision for impairment of trade o EUAR FORE B
receivables (17,536) (14,609)
Trade and bill receivables — net FEWERNEE — 558 528,238 495,033
Sales are either covered by letters of credit or open account HEYUEZRABEXEZEH 2R ET N #E

with credit terms of 15 to 90 days.

Ageing analysis of trade and bill receivables by invoice date is

7 EEB— N FI5EORTE ¢

ERURERLREERBEEZEAH ZRESN

as follows: mE
2018 2017
—E2-N\F —E—tF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAT
0 to 60 days 0Z60H 349,681 374,036
61 to 120 days 61£120H 99,638 66,836
121 to 180 days 121£180H 12,464 17,922
181 to 365 days 1812365H 42,460 27,673
Over 365 days HB3iE365H 41,531 23,175
545,774 509,642

Less: Provision for impairment B U BR FROR(E B

of trade receivables (17,536) (14,609)
528,238 495,033

As at 31st March 2018, trade and bill receivables of
approximately HK$355,233,000 (2017: HK$371,042,000) were
fully performing and were from customers with no history of

default.

REHEZEF -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BB RR M

26 Trade and bill receivables (Continued)

Movements on the provision for impairment of trade

receivables are as follows:

26 FEWERE

AR (#)

EWBRR 2 MERBESWT

2018 2017

—E-NF —T—tF

HK$’000 HK$'000

THER FET

At beginning of year REA 14,609 14,025
Provision for impairment recognised inthe B RGEEZETRA

consolidated income statement — net BERE —F

(Note 7) (FF5E7) 1,218 4,966

Write off as uncollectible 88 AT AT e (3) (3,589)

Currency translation differences EHEN =58 1,712 (793)

At end of year RER 17,536 14,609

As at 31st March 2018, trade receivables of approximately
HK$17,536,000 (2017: HK$14,609,000) were impaired and
fully provided for. Provision for impairment of trade receivables
of approximately HK$5,808,000 (2017: HK$5,686,000) was
recognised in the consolidated income statement and the
amount of provision recovered of approximately HK$4,590,000

RZE-—NF=ZA=1+—H  EBREZY
17,536,000 7 jt (= ZF — £ & : 14,609,000
BT EERE R 2 EEE - EUERE R
15%1%%@%5,808000237%(:“ +F
5,686,000/80) DR GABERER - M #
18 $ B BR 34V 7,%4,590,000/.171(* T —+

(2017: HK$720,000) were netted off during the year. The
ageing analysis of these receivables is as follows:

& 720,000 L) REXRFE RN °

FRWEFREDITMT ¢

Z

2018 2017

—E-N\E —E—EF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FHExT FHET

181 to 365 days 181523650 1,655 287
Over 365 days #8365 H 15,881 14,322
17,536 14,609

The ageing analysis of trade receivables past due but not

EBHMERBEGRERHA) 2 BEEX

impaired (based on due date) is as follows: BREC D AMTIn T -

2018 2017

—E-N\F —T—+F

HK$°000 HK$’000

FHET TAET

0 to 60 days 0%60H 94,899 69,150
61 to 120 days 61E120H 19,014 21,335
121 to 180 days 1212180H 15,842 7,809
181 to 365 days 1812365H 33,000 23,7083
Over 365 days BiE365H 10,250 1,994
173,005 123,991
The carrying amounts of net trade and bill receivables HE L BE = &T}FZH-;@ﬁgggﬁgggA— =

approximated their fair values as at 31st March 2018.

Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited SEBESERAR AT
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

26 Trade and bill receivables (Continued)

27

The carrying amounts of net trade and bill receivables were

denominated in the following currencies:

e B SRR M R

26 BERHRAKRER(E)

R R R R RE S A TR
HEHE -

2018 2017
—F-N\#F —TEF

HK$°000 HK$'000

FExT FA&T

RMB AR 275,703 261,386
HK$ BT 218,950 214,780
Us$ e 33,585 18,867
528,238 495,033

Prepayments, deposits and other receivables

27 ANNRE REREMERERER

2018 2017

—B-NF B

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FAT

Prepayments for purchases SENREZN R 124,235 78,989
Prepayments for property, plant and FENYE - BEMEERIE

equipment 2,539 5,483

Rental and other deposits HehHEMizs 18,201 42,837

Value-added tax recoverable ] Y [o] 352 (E 7 30,016 33,932

Compensation receivable in relation to KETEHEWEERIE

an unfulfilled contract 18,944 38,860

Others Hib 14,795 18,040

208,730 218,141

Less: Non-current R 3R ER (22,628) (52,860)

Current B HR 186,102 165,281

The carrying amounts of prepayments, deposits and other
receivables approximated their fair values as at 31st March
2018. They were denominated in the following currencies:

BNRE REREMERERZEES
MEER-_ZT-NF=ZA=1t—HZAR
EBEMAE  -FBEMNKE 2 REMEKRE
FIATHNEHFHE -

2018 2017
—E2-N\F —T—+F

HK$’000 HK$’ 000

FHE T FHET

RMB N 138,155 125,166
HKS BT 69,691 91,879
Us$ ETT 884 1,096
208,730 218,141
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BB RR M

28 Pledged bank deposits/Cash and cash 28 EEABRTER REeRBELEE
equivalents

2018 2017

—Z2-N\F —T—+4F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FExT FAT

Cash on hand FERS 189 383
Cash at bank RITER 277,697 627,999
Short-term bank deposits RHRITEHAER 92,687 68,659
370,573 697,041

Less: Pledged bank deposits o BRI ER (57,807) (68,659)
Cash and cash equivalents WERREEE 312,766 628,382

Pledged bank deposits and cash and cash equivalents were
denominated in the following currencies:

EEMRTERERESRBESFENUTI
S EHE -

2018 2017

—E-N\EF —E—tF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FExT FET

RMB AR 167,300 117,089
HK$ BT 178,897 118,137
us$ ETT 24,299 461,743
Others i) 77 72
370,573 697,041

The carrying amounts of pledged bank deposits and cash
and cash equivalents approximated their fair values as at 31st
March 2018.

The effective interest rate on the bank deposit is 1.22% (2017:
2.09%) per annum. These deposits have an average maturity
of 20 days (2017: 31 days).

As at 31st March 2018, the Group’s bank deposits of
approximately HK$57,807,000 (2017: HK$67,659,000) were
pledged as collateral for the Group’s bill payables.

As at 31st March 2017, the Group’s bank deposits of
approximately HK$1,000,000 was pledged as collateral for the
Group’s long-term bank loan (Note 31).

As at 31st March 2018, pledged bank deposits and cash and
bank deposits totalling approximately HK$85,971,000 (2017:
HK$88,209,000) were denominated in RMB and kept in banks
in Mainland China. These funds are not freely convertible in
the international market with exchange rate determined by the
People’s Bank of China.

Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited SEBESERAR AT

BEERRTERERERBASFEZIKE
SHREAR-_F-N\F=ZA=+—HZA
REEMRE -

RUTFERZERNEXREBF122%(=F
—t£F 1 209%) - ZEFEFARNFHEHA
R-TH(CZCZE—tF:=+—H)-

R-ZZE—NFE=ZA=+—H NEBFMHR
1T1E B4 A57,807,0008 L ( —F —+ 4
67,659,000 L) E R IFIEAAE B EMNE
BoEEm o

RZE—+F=ZA=+—8 KEERT
T,mémoooooo,%ma%fﬁﬁ{f$%lﬁﬁﬂ
B (M 3E31) 2 R -

RZE—NF=ZA=Z+—H8 BEH
BITHERUERERBETEREEY
85,971,000/8 7T (= & — + £ : 88,209,000
BIT)UAREAESERFRAM - th5F
BRI T EEBEMSERLBREEEX
AP ARBITET °



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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29 Trade and bill payables

Payment terms with suppliers are either on letters of credit or
open account with credit period of 30 to 60 days.

Ageing analysis of trade and bill payables by invoice date is as

29

BEAERAKRRE

B ER 2 N RIERI A ERERANE

BOREEHR LR A#ET -

ENERREBERBERZAMZREDSMN

follows: mr
2018 2017
—E-N\F —T—+tF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAT
0 to 60 days 0&60H 239,723 141,931
61 to 120 days 61£120H 43,961 756
121 to 180 days 1212180H 299 94
181 to 365 days 1812365H 74 204
Over 365 days HiE365H 754 619
284,811 143,604

The carrying amounts of trade and bill payables approximated
their fair values as at 31st March 2018. They were

denominated in the following currencies:

ENERAMERZEISBEEAIR

A

—NF=ZA=+—BHBZAREBEES - &
MNERERBENU T EEFE :

2018 2017

—E-NE —ET—+F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FHE T &

RMB NG 146,265 118,169
HK$ BT 12,086 17,910
us$ ETT 126,460 7,501
EURO BT - 24
284,811 143,604
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The carrying amounts of accrued liabilities and other payables
approximated their fair values as at 31st March 2018.

Accrued liabilities and other payables were denominated in the

following currencies:

30 Accrued liabilities and other payables 30 EFEEBRAEMENSIRRDR
2018 2017
—E-N\E —tF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAET
Agency fee payables EAREE - 46,857
Accrual for employee benefit expenses FEETEERFIZ O 9,895 43,113
Accrual for operating expenses JEETAEE T H 27,526 37,640
Provision for onerous contracts BERZABERE 40,656 14,000
Adjustment to consideration (Note 36) FHEAAE (I 5E36) - 13,055
Rental deposits received BEREELRS 13,169 9,766
Payables for property, plant and equipment FEfI ¥ - BRE & %4 7518 - 3,609
Value-added tax payables JE - 12 (8 Bt 2,171 2,871
93,417 170,911
Less: Non-current A FE BN S (11,813) (7,223)
Current B EA 81,604 163,688
ErraEREMENER RO EREE

///////

RZE-NFZA=1t—RZAREEMH

4+

E o

FE R BUE N E A B A5 AR K

KA TIIEEEHE -

2018 2017
—2-N% —t%
HK$°000 HK$’000
FET AT
HK$ BT 65,443 81,524
RMB AR 27,724 76,387
US$ ETT 250 13,000
93,417 170,911
Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited SEBESERAR AT
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B SRR M R

Borrowings 31 EE
2018 2017
—E-NE —E—+F
HK$°000 HK$’000
TER FAT
Current BN ER
— Trust receipts bank loans (i) — Z R R AT R 749,879 1,058,712
— Short-term bank loans (i) — %G BRER 1T B K (i) 155,958 95,945
— Current portion of long-term bank loans, — #F{3 ENER R EASE1TE X -
secured () 5 HE () 41,728 58,489
947,565 1,213,146
Non-current JE BN EA
— Long-term bank loans, secured (i) — RHEASRITE R - BHEM() 611,292 509,190
Total borrowings BEE®EEE 1,558,857 1,722,336
Notes: Wi

(i) As at 31st March 2018, the long-term bank loans of approximately
HK$553,238,000 were secured by the pledge of the Group's investment
property of approximately HK$1,380,568,000 (Note 15) and corporate
guarantee. The remaining long-term bank loans of approximately
HK$99,782,000 were secured by corporate guarantee.

As at 31st March 2017, the long-term bank loans of approximately
HK$480,471,000 were secured by the pledge of the Group's investment
property of approximately HK$1,222,682,000 (Note 15) and corporate
guarantee. The remaining long-term bank loans of approximately
HK$87,208,000 were secured by bank deposits of approximately
HK$1,000,000 (Note 28) and corporate guarantee.

(i) As at 31st March 2018 and 2017, trust receipts bank loans and short-
term bank loans were secured by corporate guarantee.

The maturity of the Group’s borrowings in accordance with the

(i)

WZZE—-NE=ZF=+—8 " #553238,000
BLTZERURTEREAEBREMEDY
1,380,568,000/%8 7T 1EE # (M 5E15) RIS FEHE(R ©
T 4 4799,782,000/8 T 2 & SR 1T B FR i (b 1
RIEHEA o

RZZT—+F = H=+— " # 480,471,000
BLTZEHRTESNHAEEREYED
1,222,682,0007% T YEE #F (M1 5515) RIS E R o
#987,208,0007% 7T 2 Fltr R SR TE R A RTTTF
X #91,000,0007% 7T (K1 3E28) R (b ¥R IEEF o

RZE-NFR-ZE—tF=ZA=+—-H &
SEWER IR AT B R R AR HER 1T B A R A ERAE
A -

AEEEBEEERERKERZIBERD

repayment schedule: T
2018 2017
—E-NEF —T—+F
HK$’000 HK$’000
TER FET
Within one year 1F R 947,565 1,213,146
Between one and two years 15226 128,179 59,554
Between two and five years 2FE5F 483,113 449,636
1,558,857 1,722,336

Annual Report 2017/18 53§

165



166

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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31 Borrowings (Continued)

Borrowings were denominated in the following currencies:

31

B8 (&)
BEENTIEEE

2018 2017

—F-N\#F —tF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FAETT

HK$ BT 589,034 448,442
Us$ ETT 325,626 757,360
RMB AR 644,197 516,534
1,558,857 1,722,336

The effective interest rates of borrowings (per annum) at the

reporting dates are as follows:

REER BEZERNX(EF)OT :

2018 2017

—E-N\EF e

RMB AR 5.7% 6.3%
HK$ BT 2.8% 4.2%
us$ ETT 3.0% 2.7%

All the Group’s borrowings as at 31st March 2018 are on
floating rate basis and the carrying amounts of the borrowings

approximated their fair values.

The Group has the following floating rate undrawn borrowing

“E-NF=ZA=t+—H KEEZM
f%%f]&/%@ﬂfufgﬁfﬁgzﬁﬁﬁﬁ
BEENAEERE

AEBEBEUATARBRZFIEMEERE

facilities:
2018 2017
A —tF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FAT
— expiring within one year — —F AN EH 292,919 155,061
— expiring beyond one year — —F &3 H 673,511 1,016,020
966,430 1,171,081

Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited SEBESERAR AT
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32 Share capital 32 AR
Authorised Issued and fully paid
(Ordinary shares of (Ordinary shares of
HK$0.10 each) HK$0.10 each)
EE ERITRAR
(BRO.10EBTZEER) (ERO10BTZERER)
Number of Nominal Number of Nominal
shares value shares value
R &R HE RHOHE HE
’000 HK$’000 000 HK$’000
Tz FAT T i TAET
As at 31st March 2016 MNZE—RF
—A=+—8H 1,000,000 100,000 640,636 64,064
Exercise of share options TR RE R i — — 1,247 124
As at 31st March 2017 RZT—+%F
=A=+—8H 1,000,000 100,000 641,883 64,188
Shares repurchased and cancelled® j% {7 88 [2] X2 5T $50 — — (1,336) (133)
As at 31st March 2018 RZE—\F
=A=+—H 1,000,000 100,000 640,547 64,055
Note: M3E -

During the year ended 31st March 2018, pursuant to the mandate to
buy-back shares of the Company obtained from the shareholders at
the annual general meeting of the Company held on 18th August 2017,
the Company repurchased an aggregate of 1,336,000 shares on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited at an aggregate consideration
of HK$940,000 (after expenses) during the year. All these shares were
subsequently cancelled by the Company before 31st March 2018.

U

RBEE-_Z-NEF=A=+—8 BELXQF
RZZE—+tFNA+NBRTZREBFAS
EREBMEBEBEARRBRG ZEE  RAFE -
ARBIREBEBBERSMERRAAREER
1,336,000 % i% 7 + 42 X {8 /940,000 % T (31 B
FX®) BEARAR-ZE—N\FZA=1+—
BRIEHEBZERY -
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33 Share options

The Company has two share option schemes in which the
share option scheme adopted since 12th November 2001 (the
"2001 Share Option Scheme") was terminated on 11th August
2011 and the other share option scheme was adopted since
11th August 2011 (the"2011 Share Option Scheme"). Upon
termination of the 2001 Share Option Scheme, no further
options will be granted thereunder but in all other respects the
provisions of the 2001 Share Option Scheme shall remain in
force and all options granted prior to such termination shall
continue to be valid and exercisable in accordance therewith.
The 2011 Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective
for a period of ten years commencing on the adoption date
(i,e. 11th August 2011) and will expire on 10th August 2021.
The 2011 Share Option Scheme may grant options to any
person being an employee, agent, consultant or representative
(including executive directors and non-executive directors) of
the Group to subscribe for shares in the Company, subject to
a maximum of 30% of the issued share capital of the Company
from time to time, excluding for the shares issued on the
exercise of options. The exercise price will be determined by
the Board and must be at least the highest of (i) the closing
price of the Company’s shares quoted on The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited on the date of grant of the options,
which must be a business day (ii) the average closing prices
of the Company’s shares quoted on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited for the five business days immediately
preceding the date of grant of the options, and (iii) the nominal
value of the Company’s shares of HK$0.10 each.

Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited SEBESERAR AT
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33 Share options (Continued) 33 BERE(E)
Movements of share options for the year ended 31st March REE-_ET—-N\F=B=1+—BLEEZ
2018 were as follows: EREZBHOT
Adjusted
Exercise exercise As at As at
price price per 1st April Cancelled/ 31st March
Date of grant Validity period per share share (i) 2017 Granted lapsed Exercised 2018
BHRE R-B-tF RZB-NfF
EFEH BNE BRAEE SROEE() mA-H BY #38/%M B =B=1-H
HKS$ HKS$ '000 '000 '000 '000 '000
BT BT Tk Tk Tk Tk Tk
20th January 2015 20th January 2015 to
19th January 2025 0.928 0.928 10,800 - - - 10,800
—5-1fF ZZ-RnE-ACZTHE
-B-+1H “EZRE-ATAR
27th November 2013 27th November 2013 to
26th November 2023 1.300 1.043 9,474 - - - 9,474
“E-Zf ZE-ZET-AZTtAE
+-F=t++HR Y I N
16th November 2012 16th November 2012 to
15th November 2022 0.670 0.537 8,078 - - - 8,078
—5-C ZE-CZET-ATABE
T-F+7H ZEZCF+-AtER
13th October 2009 13th October 2009 to
12th October 2019 0.504 0.404 12,206 - - - 12,206
= “ETAFTATIRE
+A+=H ZE-NETATZH
18th September 2009 18th September 2009 to
17th September 2019 0.586 0.470 937 - - - 937
“3ThE “TRIAFAATEE
AATNA ZE-NENATEA
19th June 2008 19th June 2008 to
18th June 2018 0.780 0.626 1,247 - - - 1,247
—ETN\F ZEENEXATNAE
~ATHhE “E-\ERATNR
42,742 - - - 42,742
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33 Share options (Continued) 33 BEREE)
Movements of share options for the year ended 31st March REBE-_ET—+HF=A=+—BILEEZ
2017 were as follows: BEREZHHNOT
Adjusted
Exercise exercise As at As at
price price per 1st April Cancelled/ 31st March
Date of grant Validity period per share share (i) 2016 Granted lapsed Exercised 2017
LR W-F-RE RZB-tf
BEFAH XA BRAEE SRIRE() MA-H BY  2#/X% B ZA=1-H
HKS$ HKS '000 '000 '000 '000 '000
B BT Tk TH TH TH TR
20th January 2015 20th January 2015 to
19th January 2025 0.928 0.928 10,800 - - - 10,800
L $-RF-F-fAZ
-A-t8 TCEoRE-RiAR
27th November 2013 27th November 2013 to
26th November 2023 1.300 1.043 9474 - - - 9474
—F-= ZE-ZET-AZTLAE
+-A-t+H ZEIEET-AZTRR
16th November 2012 16th November 2012 to
15th November 2022 0.670 0.537 8,078 - - - 8,078
—F--f ZE-CFT-AtRAE
T-A+5H “F--Ff+-A+thH
Tth September 2012 Tth September 2012 to
h September 2022 0.490 0.393 1 - (1) - -
hﬂtﬁ :2::@1)%5
13th October 2009 13th October 2009 to
12th October 2019 0.504 0.404 12,206 - - - 12,206
= s e NiE:
tAt=8 SE-AETATIR
18th September 2009 18th September 2009 to
17th September 2019 0.586 0.470 937 - - - 937
“REINE “RIAFARTNEE
NATNH ZE-NEAATEA
19th June 2008 19th June 2008 to
18th June 2018 0.780 0.626 2,494 - - (1,247) 1,247
“ZEN\E ZEENEAATNRE
~ATHIE ZE-\ERATNA
13th September 2006 13th September 2006 to
12th September 2016 0.900 0.722 2,244 - (2,244) - -
ZEENE “EENENATZRE
jlﬂ+£ :gf/\ijlﬂﬂ’—a
46,234 - (2,245) (1,247) 42,742
Note: ffsT -
(i) The number of share options granted and the exercise prices prior to 0] BE—_ZT-—FHEREHFIIR_ZT——FH#HR

17th December 2014 under the 2001 Share Option Scheme and 2011
Share Option Scheme were adjusted for the open offer completed in
December 2014.

BABR—_Z-—MET-_AT+EANEREZ
BREHBTEEERA - ZT-—HF+ -_ATK
RABEFEHAE -

]70 Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited SEBESERAR AT
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33 Share options (Continued) 33 BERE(E)
During the year ended 31st March 2018, no options were 2T \F=ZA=Z+—BILFE  #
granted, lapsed nor exercised. BmEE  FHEKITRERERE -
During the year ended 31st March 2017, options exercised BHE-_ZT—+tHF-A=+T—RBILFE 11
resulted in approximately 1,247,000 shares of the Company F 2 BRI REE B 491,247, OOOHQ ZiNNETN - 5i)
being issued, at weighted average exercise price of HK$0.63 LA DN #E 15 1718 (B = B 3@ A% 0.6375 JT 3%
per ordinary share with total proceeds of approximately 17 B IBEEZEL 7,%780,0005%35 JT ° {TfE
HK$780,000. The related weighted average price at the time of AR NE TS E ANA R FIREEI%0.82
exercise was HK$0.82 per ordinary share of the Company. BT e
Reserves 34 #E
Cumulative
foreign
Share Capital Available-  currency
Share option redemption  Statutory Capital Other for-sale translation Retained
premium reserve  reserve (i) reserves (i) reserve reserve reserve reserve  earnings Total
gx ESE
RGEE BRERE BRORREG ZERE) EAEE  RtRRF THUERRE EREE REEN ag
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHL T FisT FHL T T T FHL T FiHT
At 1st April 2016 RZZ-RENA—H 425,697 6,979 79,684 12,644 58,355 - 2 (26,449) 438,452 995,360
Profit for the year FEER - - - - - - - - 101,776 101,776
Currency translation EBERER
differences - - - - - - - (109,868) - (109,868)
Realisation of translation HEMBRARL
reserve upon disposal of ESHEEER
subsidiaries (Note 36) (Mi3x36) - - - - - - - 87,383 - 87,383
Change in fair value of AfME HKEEL
available-for-sale financial ArEEE
asset (Note 23) (F3E23) - - - - - - 19 - - 19
Appropriation of statutory  BEETEE
reserves - - - 160 - - - - (160) -
Exercise of share options TEERE 979 (323) - - - - - - - 656
Lapse of share options KM ERIE - (349) - - - - - - 345 -
Share-based payment IR AR 2 3 - 1,080 - - - - - - - 1,060
Change in ownership interest #—fHBLRE 2
in a subsidiary without EREEZZDM
change of control (Note 37) 124 R (H5E37) - - - - - (10,137) - - - (10,137)
Dividends paid to owners of ERZARFAFEFAZRE
the Company - - - - - - - — 0926 (20,926)
At 31st March 2017 RZE-tE=A=+t—H 426676 7,371 79,684 12,804 58,355 (10,137) 17 (48,934) 519,487 1,045,323
At 1st April 2017 R-E-+ENA—A 426,676 7,371 79,684 12,804 58,355 (10,137) 17 (48,934) 519,487 1,045,323
Loss for the year FEER - - - - - - - - (147,7112) (147,712
Currency translation EMESEE
differences - - - - - - - 115,818 - 115,818
Change in fair value of AHME HEEEL
available-for-sale financial MEEEY
asset (Note 23) (GEZ)) - - - - - - (220) - - (220)
Appropriation of statutory & ETEE
reserves - - - 3,944 - - - - (3,944) -
Share-based payment R BER S - 2,861 - - - - - - - 2,861
Shares repurchased and Rin B R
cancelled (807) - 940 - - - - - (940) (807)
Change in ownership interest % —FIM B A 7 2 # A 1E#E
in subsidiaries without =EHMIELIETE
change of control (Note 37) (Fi5E37) - - - - - (5,566) - (10) (56) (5,632)
Dividends paid to owners of ERAAFEEAZRE
the Company - - - - - - - - (15,983) (15,983)
At 31st March 2018 RZZ-\E=ZA=+—H 425869 10,232 80,624 16,748 58,355 (15,703) (203) 66,874 350,852 993,648
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BB RR M

Notes:

34 Reserves (Continued) 34 f#&(4E)
MI3E -

(i) Statutory reserves represent enterprise expansion reserve fund and (i) ETEREN BB E A E T B B VAT
general reserve fund set up by certain subsidiaries in Mainland China. As EREBEES N —REBE § };z BEERA
stipulated by regulations in Mainland China, the subsidiaries established HOEBRETHA  RPBERMK I REE 2B R
and operated in Mainland China are required to appropriate a portion of AIAREBRBREEN(EEEBTFEEERE) B
their after-tax profit (after offsetting prior year losses) to the enterprise H:', NDELEEAREHFEES L —REBE ‘i\
expansion reserve fund and general reserve fund, at rates determined hERTTHEEESTEET - —RHEBFEESD
by their respective boards of directors. The general reserve fund may be EEEEE RIS MR MOOXEREF 1% % (ﬁ
used for making up losses and increasing capital, while the enterprise ] A E I HNA% X o
expansion reserve fund may be used for increasing capital.

(ii) The capital redemption reserve has been established upon repurchase of (ii) BERBEORFBDRBRROERY
shares.

35 Consolidated statement of cash flows 35 GMEBEERER

(a) Reconciliation of (loss)/profit before income tax to net (@) KA (EE) SsfEgEES (Fr

cash generated from/(used in) operations is as follows: AR FBEENT -
2018 2017
—E-N\E S S
HK$°000 HK$’000
TER TR
(Loss)/profit before income tax BEA (B8 5H (142,012) 247 117
Share of results of joint ventures — net EIEEEARIZERE — B8 (14,366) 36,511
Interest income F B A (5,010) (1,964)
Interest expenses MEZH 70,708 119,085
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment %1% - MERZEZINE 39,705 42,199
Loss/(gain) on disposals of property, plantand &M% - BiRERREZEE/ ()
equipment 39 (631)
Unrealised exchange loss SRERER 18,607 34,257
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEMBR Rz M - (229,023)
Impairment of goodwill and intangibles assets ~ HE K& EE A - 14,284
Amortisation of land use rights TR B 202 1,522
Amortisation of intangible assets BREECEH 590 961
Fair value gain on investment properties BEMEZAAEEYRS (14,818) (271,989)
Provision for impairment of MR R ER G — 38
trade receivables — net 1,218 4,966
Provision for impairment of inventories — net ~ FEMEEE — 28 1,007 (987)
Unrealised fair value loss on financial assets at EQﬁE@%A%EZM%ﬁﬁz
fair value through profit or loss AERDAEERE 2,133 -
Realised gain on financial assets at fair value 122 )LF@;‘U\T@ HeMBEEL
through profit or loss gl - 103
Share-based payment PR BER 2 17 2,859 1,060
Provision for onerous contracts EERN 7 BE 26,656 2,000
Operating loss before working capital changes 2E& ¢ & #a v KL 12 (12,482) (425)
— Inventories —FE 105,231 (219,069)
— Trade and bill receivables —RRERRRE (34,076) (38,282)
— Prepayments, deposits and other receivables — FBfTFUE « 14 B Kt e IR 9,834 (68,092)
— Amounts due from joint ventures — FEHQE\E’A Al B (78,133) 35,891
— Trade and bill payables — ERERREE 141,207 13,654
— Receipts in advance — BEE (4,522) (6,731)
— Accrued liabilities and other payables — EEERAEMENER (107,660) 28,704
Net cash generated from/(used in) operations &% zE4 /(FiA) 2 R4 54 19,399 (254,310)

Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

35 Consolidated statement of cash flows

(Continued)

(b) In the consolidated statement of cash flows, proceeds
from disposals of property, plant and equipment

e B SRR M R

35 SMEBEEREXR(E)

b)) RiEaREREBRT LHEVE K
FERBREZMEFRARRE

comprise:
2018 2017
—E-N\F —+5F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET AT
Net book amount (Note 14) BRTF A8 (MYsE14) 192 6,659
(Loss)/gain on disposals of property, HEWE  WELEZREZ
plant and equipment (Note 7) (E518) ek (P #E7) (39) 531
Sales proceeds of disposals of HEWE BMEAXBIEZ
property, plant and equipment $HE TS 3R 153 7,190
Less: Receivable from disposals of B HEME - BEMREZ
property, plant and equipment JFE U 3k 18 - (5,187)
Proceeds received from disposals of HEWE MWELEEZ
property, plant and equipment Fr{S 3K18 153 2,003

(c) Reconciliation of liabilities from financing

activities

(c) MEZBHz2AEHRK

Liabilities from financing activities

METEHEE
Borrowing Borrowing
due within due after
1 year 1 year Total
—FREH —F#HEH
PAEN PACEN R
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET FAET
Net debt as at 31st March N-_E—+F
2017 ZA=tT—BZ2FEH 1,213,146 509,190 1,722,336
Proceeds from bank IRITEEMEHIE
borrowings 197,108 134,509 331,617
Repayment of bank BRIR1TTEE
borrowings (191,027) (50,467) (241,494)
Net decrease in trust R WIRIRITE K
receipt bank loans FER A (308,833) — (308,833)
Other non-cash movements  H fth FF IR & & &) 32,450 (81,783) 667
Foreign exchange HINE 7 B
adjustments 4,721 49,843 54,564
Net debt as at 31st March RZZE—N\F
2018 ZA=t—HZ2FEH 947,565 611,292 1,558,857
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BB RR M

36 Business combination

(a)

(b)

Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited

Acquisition of a subsidiary

On 1st December 2017, the Group completed the
acquisition of 100% equity interest of Yong Fan at a
consideration of approximately HK$3,549,000.

Yong Fan is principally engaged in the provision of the
investment consultancy service in Shanghai.

The relative fair values of assets acquired and liabilities
assumed at the acquisition date is analysed as follows:

36 XBEHt
(a) WHEKE QT

NZZE—+F+-F—8  KEBR
{8 #73,549,0007% JT 5¢ AKX 7K # 100%
R% 1 U BE o

KETEREBRFRERERAMR
% o

RKRBEMKRBEERAAERAEBZ
HEAREBEITMOT

HK$°000
FERT
Consideration paid as at acquisition date RUWBEEBS G ZRE 3,549
Assets and liabilities: EENBE:
— Property and equipment — MEREZE 152
— Trade and other receivables — JEW R B b e W R IR 771
— Cash and cash equivalents — REeENREeEE 855
— Accruals and other payables — JERTRRIA K A fth JE S FRIE (723)
Total identifiable net assets acquired Fri s m B Rl B E FERE 1,055
Add: Goodwill (Note 17) A (7)) 2,494
3,549
An analysis on net cash flows arising from the disposal: HEEHEMEENBRSREFHEINNOT -
HK$’000
FERT
Net cash consideration FReNE 3,549
Less: Cash and cash equivalents acquired W FiEcRe kB2 EE (855)
Net cash outflow from acquisition of a subsidiary WENBAR 2R T FE 2,694
Disposal of subsidiaries (b) HEKERT

On 31st March 2017, the Group has completed the
disposal of 100% equity interest in Eastlink Group at a
consideration of approximately HK$712,215,000, net of
borrowings, to Lumion (B.V.l.) Limited, an independent
third party. Eastlink Group is principally engaged in the
property business in the PRC. Upon the completion of
the disposal, the Group has no interest over Eastlink
Group.

BRBEERERAR

W_ZE—+tF=ZF=+—H A&£H

B ST S RS E A 100% # T

¥ =75 » Lumion (B.V.l.) Limited -

K& 4 A& 712,215,000 7# T (30 Bk 15

B) FHEBTZRATEHENEEFH

F%ﬁ‘* LETHKE  RNEBBER
B R o



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

36 Business combination (Continued)

(b)

Disposal of subsidiaries (Continued)

An analysis on gain on disposal of subsidiaries is as
follows:

e B SRR M R

36 XK 6(HE)
(b) HEMELDR(E)
BHEMBARZKEHTMT :

HK$’000
FTHER
Consideration satisfied by: REZEATHAZN
— Net cash consideration — ReFENRE 712,215
— Adjustment to consideration (Note (i)) — FEARAE (I 5Ea) (13,055)
— Direct expenses — HERX (54,031)
Net consideration REFE 645,129
Less: Net assets disposed of: B BEREEFE:
— Building and equipment — EFREE 12,185
— Land use rights — T {FE A 31,412
— Investment property — EWE 1,239,814
— Goodwill and intangible assets — HEREREE 60,400
— Deferred income tax assets — BEMSHEE 67
— Prepayments, deposits and other receivables — BN 'E REAMEYGRIE 25,404
— Cash and cash equivalents —REeRREEFE 4,964
— Accrued liabilities and other payables — EETABERE M EMNRIE (21,973)
— Borrowings — BB (834,376)
— Deferred income tax liabilities — REMERERE (186,364)
— Income tax payable — EFFTEH (2,810)
Realisation of currency translation reserve upon HENBRA B ZERFEEZLR
disposal of subsidiaries 87,383
416,106
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries, pre-tax HEMB ARz Wa - Al 229,023
Less: Withholding tax payable upon disposal of B NENBARBERNZ
subsidiaries TEHH (64,342)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries, net of tax HEMBAR .z Was - Bk 164,681
An analysis on net cash flows arising from the disposal: FHEELEHWR S REEITWO T ¢
HK$’000
FTHER
Net cash consideration ReFERE 712,215
Less: Direct expenses paid B BENEERAX (2,741)
Less: Cash and cash equivalents disposed B EEREMBEEE (4,964)
Net proceeds received from disposal of subsidiaries Bl EMBRRMSREBEFE 704,510

Note:

(i) The adjustment was based on the net assets value of the Eastlink
Group as at the date of completion of the disposal.

CER

(i) HEERNREEEAELETKBEZEE
FEEMAE -
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37 Transactions with non-controlling interests

(a)

(b)

(c)

Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited

Deemed disposal of China Sources
Technology Limited and its subsidiaries

On 20th November 2017, VSC China Property Limited,
an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
transferred its 100% equity interest in China Sources
Technology Limited and its subsidiaries to Hongkong
and Shanghai Land Capital Ltd., an indirect 60% owned
subsidiary of the Company. As such, the Group deemed
to dispose of 40% equity interest in China Sources
Technology Limited and its subsidiaries. The Group
recorded an increase in non-controlling interest of
approximately HK$8,044,000 and a decrease in other
reserve of approximately HK$8,044,000.

Deemed disposal of Optimum Sage (HK)
Limited

On 27th December 2017, SC Renewable Resources
Holdings Limited, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company, transferred its 100% equity interest in
Optimum Sage (HK) Limited (formerly known as VSC
Engineering Products Company Limited), to Optimum
Sage Limited, an indirect 60% owned subsidiary of the
Company. As such, the Group deemed to dispose of
40% equity interest in Optimum Sage (HK) Limited. The
Group recorded an increase in non-controlling interest
of approximately HK$20,000 and a decrease in other
reserve of approximately HK$20,000.

Disposal of 30% of equity interest in Top
Praise Ventures Limited and Optimum Sage
Limited

On 2nd February 2018, Hongkong and Shanghai Land
Capital Ltd. entered into a share transfer agreement
with Alpha Knight Limited, an independent third party,
for the sale of 30% interest in Top Praise Ventures
Limited and Optimum Sage Limited at a consideration
of approximately HK$1,042,000 and HK$1,411,000
respectively. The Group recorded an increase in
non-controlling interest of approximately HK$45,000
and an increase in other reserve of approximately
HK$2,498,000.

BRBEERERAR

37

BEFEFIMERETHARS

(a)

(b)

(c)

# 18 4 H &China Sources
Technology Limited & & i B 2
=i

R_E—+F+—-—HA=Z+H AR
Az @#E 2 &M & 2R FIVSC China
Property Limited#% H 7 China Sources
Technology Limited % H it B 2 7] 2
100%REEZE T EBMEE RER
ANAl —KAR R A fEE % B 60%K
ZHBAR A AEBEHRMKR R/
£ China Sources Technology Limited }2
EH B AR Z40%# - NEEERTS
FE ¥E AR HE %5 35 hN 498,044,000 7% T K&
E A 5 R 2> 498,044,000/ 7T ©

HEAELHERE(FR)ERLT

R-ZE—+FE+=-_A=++0 &2
AzEE2ENBLATIEEBLEER
WEZERBERATDBENEE (FF)
ERAR(AIBEIEEIREREAR
NANWI00% R EEZE T EE BRA
A —RARD B E A 60%KE 2
WEBAGE -Eilt AEBEKEAELE
BE(EB)BRRAAL0%EE - NE
B £ 15 FE 72 A% # 25 15 10 920,000 7T
K B R 4R > £920,000%8 7T ©

i & M Top Praise Ventures
Limited )2 Optimum Sage Limited
HH 230%K

RZE—N\F-_A-ZB EBAHERL
K75 BR A B E Y8 37 8 = F5 Alpha Knight
Limited&] S IR (88 i ik - AN B BX
EBRFARAGARBEEARAAZ
30%HE = B 2 Bl 7 #71,042,000%
7T %1,411,0007 7T o A 5 B 8715 FE 5
R% # 25 12 Hn 4945,00078 7T o £ 15
AL L 492,498,000/ JT °



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B SRR M R

37 Transactions with non-controlling interests 37 BEFEZEHMEESETHRS (HE)

(Continued)

(d) Disposal of 19.1% of equity interest in d HELSEIEEBERESZERA
Shanghai Bao Shun Chang International B 219.1% 8% &
Trading Co., Ltd.
On 16th February 2017, Shanghai Bao Shun Chang RZE—+tF=ZA+"8B ' LEBEIB
International Trading Co., Ltd. (“Shanghai Bao Shun EBEERESARAT(LEEIEE])
Chang”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company (KRalz2BEWB ARG W&
entered into agreements, pursuant to which Shanghai LmETRERE(NEEDBEEREER
Bao Shun Chang granted the shares to certain B AR191% 2 % - 2SR 8 A
employees (the “Employees”) equivalent to 19.1% of the PEBSERESEIEEEZ L =% - H
paid up capital. The Employees shall be under full time I AR AER 2 IR ER=
employment of Shanghai Bao Shun Chang for at least 3 B EI AR -

years. Accordingly, the share based payment expenses
shall be recognised over the vesting period of 3 years.

The transaction was completed on 10th March 2017 R Y E B 8 4911,833,0007% L& * %
upon the receipt of approximately HK$11,833,000 from REHER_E—+F=ZAFTHZEK - R®
the Employees. As at 10th March 2017, the Company —EZ—+HF=ZA+H ARaEEL
disposed 19.1% of equity interest in Shanghai Bao Shun BEIBE Z19.1%L#E -
Chang.
The effect of changes in the ownership interest of L EEIRE A ERESEYNAFTE
Shanghai Bao Shun Chang on the equity attributable to HARNRBAABRGEER 2 ERi
owners of the Company during the year is summaries as mr
follows:
2017
—tF
HK$’000
FAT
Carrying amount of non-controlling interest FERERNEERHCEREAE
as at the date of disposal 21,970
Consideration received from non-controlling interest BSEE RS E (11,839)
10,137
During the year ended 31st March 2018, employee REZE_ZE—N\F=ZA=+—HItF
share based payment expenses of HK$2,276,000 (2017: E UWEERMDAEMZINEYAS
HK$124,000) was recognised in the consolidated income 2,276,000 7L (ZF — £ 4 : 124,000
statement. BILIEREEEBRRPER -
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38 Commitments

(a)

Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited

38 EiE
Commitments under operating leases (a) EHEBEYRIE
(i) Lessor (i) HH#EA
The Group leases investment properties under AREBEREBETAIRE 2 EEME
non-cancellable operating lease agreements. The HHFEREYE  -HENF1E
lease terms are between 1 and 5 years, and the 54 -« M A8 49 A] /£ 2 HA fE W 18 A
lease agreements are renewable at the end of the MISHEES -
lease period at market rate.
Total commitments receivable under various non- MEEMEMETLZZHTA
cancellable operating lease agreements in respect B ERY 2 EWAEREE
of rented premises are analysed as follows: DT -
2018 2017
—E2-N\fF —EF—tF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT AT
Not later than one year A1 F 49,247 25,603
Later than one year and not later than #8114 & K #6154
five years 72,426 40,299
121,673 65,902
(i) Lessee (i) EHEA

The Group leases various retail outlets, offices,
warehouses and site under non-cancellable
operating lease agreements. The lease terms
are between 1 and 4 years, and majority of lease
agreements are renewable at the end of the lease
period at market rate.

Total commitments payable under various non-
cancellable operating lease agreements in respect
of rented premises are analysed as follows:

AEERETAIBBEzEERA
HWERZEZSEES  HAE -
BER R - BN F1245F -
i K EB 10 A 4 m] £ F B R m &
TS HEES -

MAMMEMT L Z MDA
B2 2ROz EMNRERE
DT ¢

2018 2017

—E-NEF —E—tF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FERT FAT

Not later than one year RE14F 33,490 31,308
Later than one year and not later than #0114 2 K #8155

five years 48,298 65,005

81,788 96,313

BRBEERERAR



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B SRR M R

38 Commitments (Continued) 38 H&IE (&)
(b) Capital commitments (b) EAREE
Capital commitments at the end of the reporting period RBEHRZERNEAEDT -

are as follows:

2018 2017
—E-NF —E—+F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FAT
Contracted but not provided for: BERT#YB & R B
Renovation work for an investment —IBREMEZEEIRE
property 3,865 13,395
Leasehold improvement HEMEEE - 458
3,865 13,853
39 Related party transactions 39 EHEBKIZXRS
(@) Transactions (@ X%
The following is a summary of significant related party RAEB FEEBRBREPEFTZEKX
transactions, which were carried out in the normal BEATRSBEWNT :
course of the Group’s business:
2018 2017
—E-NE —ET—+tF
HK$°000 HK$’000
FET THT
Management fee income from RERBTELERAZ
services provided to joint BB WA
ventures (i) 60,799 40,112
Sales of goods to HEBmMT :
— a joint venture — —H&a&Rda (ii) 34,230 47,575
— an associate — —MHEtE R A (iii) 42,753 36,252
76,983 83,827
Purchase of goods from H—HEELABEER
a joint venture (iv) 1,922 41,994
Disposal service income received BWEAZ QA rHERE 2
from a joint venture PN (v) 11,703 —
Service fee paid to a joint venture {3 F& 2R a2 R1%E (Vi) 9,029 53,502
Disposal of machinery and m—AeE R FHE
equipment to a joint venture 28 MRt (vii) - 4,509
Interest income from H—MEegralz
a joint venture FE WA (viii) — 249

Annual Report 2017/18 3% 179



180

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BB RR M

39 Related party transactions (Continued)

(@) Transactions (Continued)

Notes:

U

(i)

(i)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited

Management services were provided by & % 6 5 ity & & 42
& R A 7], Hongkong and Shanghai Land Capital Ltd. and VSC
Steel Processing Holdings Limited, indirect subsidiaries of the
Company, to joint ventures at prices mutually agreed by both
parties.

Goods were sold by VSC Steel Company Limited, an indirect
subsidiary of the Company, to a joint venture at prices mutually
agreed by both parties.

Goods were sold by Shanghai Bao Shun Chang International
Trading Co., Ltd., an indirect subsidiary of the Company, to an
associate at prices mutually agreed by both parties.

VSC Steel Company Limited and He Tai Steel Co., Limited,
indirect subsidiaries of the Company, purchased goods from a
joint venture at prices mutually agreed by both parties.

Disposal service income was received by Hongkong and Shanghai
Land Capital Ltd., an indirect subsidiary of the Company, from
HSL China Metropolitan Fund I. LP. (the “Partnership”), a joint
venture of the Group, in relation to the provision of consultancy
service for the disposal of the subsidiary of the Partnership at
prices mutually agreed by both parties.

Service fee was paid by VSC China Property Limited, an indirect
subsidiary of the Company, to a joint venture for providing
consultancy and referral service at prices mutually agreed by both
parties.

VSC Steel Processing Holdings Company Limited and VSC Steel
Company Limited, indirect subsidiaries of the Company sold their
machinery and equipment to a joint venture at prices mutually
agreed by the relevant parties.

Interest income was received by VSC Steel Processing Limited,
an indirect subsidiary of the Company, for providing loan to a joint
venture and the interest rate was determined at HIBOR +2.75%
per annum.

BRBEERERAR

39 BREBL XS (&)
(@) X% (&)

BRE

(0

(i)

(i)

(iv)

(v)

(vii)

(viil)

EEK’&EE!’UF%?%WE’AEL?%&E@%M

EXLABRAR EEMEELABERA
_T&F%JHE %HMEDIT BERDAIZE

HEAAEZERAEGEARREZE
IEHEi%e

ARARMEENEARNEBIESEMEAFR
RANESTRABZEERAAERBHME
B -

RAIMEENBEAR LEEIEE HE
BHERATAE S RE 2B MBE
REHEEY -

ARNRMEENBARNZIESHEER
REAIRMEMBEARARNETRAEZ
ERAEERTABEER -

PERBKRABAQRNHEENRB AR
BAMEEARAERARBEARAR—MA
& 1> #HSL China Metropolitan Fund 1. LP.
(fé%m%J)”ﬁZHﬂ REFREZER
MHEERCEZNBRARREZAR
& o

B A QA /[ E N B A FIVSC China
Property Limited¥ # ¥ & & & T 2 iR %

CREFHEZE WE HHEAREN
Hﬁi%o

AARMEEREARNEIES fﬂfiﬁﬂDI
ERERATDRBIESHEBRA

L}Mﬁ%ﬁ%ﬁﬂ,uZﬁ%H‘?xﬁ%ﬁ&
HETFAERF -

ARNREERBRR @ BES &M
IERARMAEERAREERKRZ
FEWA  FIEZEBRITAEFES
mo75E FFKEF -



39 Related party transactions (Continued)

40

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B SRR M R

39 BREBLZXE (&)

(b) Key management compensation (b) TEEEE RN
2018 2017
—E2-N\fF —E—LF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FTAT
Salaries and allowances e MOERL 13,760 15,194
Bonus TE4T 8,426 21,775
Pension costs — defined contribution ERE KA — R EH-RETE
schemes 367 367
Share-based payment ARR 1 B E R 2 T 17 358 795
22,911 38,131
(c) Corporate guarantee (c) AREER
The Company provides corporate guarantee of KN B AITVSCHE i A B ¥E 472,806,000
HK2,806,000 (2017: HK$4,891,000) to TVSC for BT (ZF— L4 4,801,000/ 7T) A

bank facilities amounting to HK$5,611,000 (2017:
HK$9,197,000), which was fully utilised by the joint
venture. The directors are of the opinion that it is not
probable that the above guarantee will be called upon.

f£5,611,oooi%fzﬁﬁ%ﬁa>é<::= +
% 09,197,000 L) * W HEE R T
BHFER - EERE L LE IR TR
ARE W ERKET o

Statement of financial position and reserve 40 KAATHBRARRHEEES
movement of the Company
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—LF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FAT
Non-current assets ERBEE
Investments in subsidiaries KRB RRIZIEE 670,466 638,611
Current assets REEE
Prepayments, deposits and other TERRIA - 1&e R EMEIWERK
receivables 68 63
Cash and cash equivalents RehBEEE 621 2,044
689 2,107
Total assets HWEE 671,155 640,718
Equity e
Capital and reserves attributable to AATHEBEA
owners of the Company R R & E
Share capital fi% A 64,055 64,188
Reserves & 606,359 575,166
Total equity fEREEE 670,414 639,354
Liabilities aE
Current liabilities REBEE
Accrued liabilities and other payables fEitEaEREMEMER 741 1,364
Total equity and liabilities EzRaE8E 671,155 640,718
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40 Statement of financial position and reserve
movement of the Company (Continued)

40

ARFHBRRRKFEEE D (FH)

Reserve movement of the Company (a) ADBfEEEZY
Share Capital
Share option  redemption  Contributed Retained
premium reserve reserve surplus earnings Total
RORE BRERE BEr5BEERE BARE REEHN 8%
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THL THL FEL THL FAEL FHL
Note (i) Note (i
FEE() P i)
At 1st April 2016 RZZ-RF
mA—H 425,697 6,979 79,684 53,986 29,930 596,276
Loss for the year FEER - - - - (1,776) (1,776)
Exercise of share options ~ 17{F B Jii 2 979 (323) - - - 656
Lapse of share options %?ﬁlz R - (345) - - 345 -
Share-based payment ARPEER S/ - 936 - - - 936
Dividends paid EN%% - - - - (20,926) (20,926)
At 31st March 2017 RZE—+4
ZR=1+-H 426,676 7,247 79,684 53,986 7,573 575,166
Profit for the year ER&ET - - - - 47,539 47,539
Share-based payment DRHAERZ X - 444 - - - 444
Shares repurchased and k{7 218 &z i 88
cancelled (807) - 940 - (940) (807)
Dividends paid BNKE - - - - (15,983) (15,983)
At 31st March 2018 R=E-N\EZA
=t+-8 425,869 7,691 80,624 53,986 38,189 606,359
Notes: MisE -

(i)

Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited

The capital redemption reserve has been established upon
repurchase of shares.

The contributed surplus of the Company represents the difference
between the aggregate of the nominal values of the shares of the
subsidiaries acquired at the date of acquisition, over the nominal
value of the shares of the Company issued in exchange thereof.

In addition to the retained profits, under the Companies Act
1981 of Bermuda (as amended), contributed surplus is also
available for distribution to shareholders. However, the Company
cannot declare or pay a dividend, or make a distribution out
of contributed surplus if () the Company is, or would after the
payment be, unable to pay its liabilities as they become due; or
(i) the realisable value of the Company’s assets would thereby be
less than the aggregate of its liabilities and its issued share capital
and share premium account.

BRBEERERAR

(i

EABERHEHEERBLRRMDERL -

KRB AR B RSB
NFZ B EEAEEAD R E LT
AR 2 R EER & 2 Z 5 -

BREGEANSN  REBRE-AN-F

RAEDE(EAEFT) - %%M\é:ﬁ%?‘ﬁﬂ ok T
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

41 Subsequent events

(a)

Formation of co-investment venture

On 18th April 2018, the Company, Plentiful Praise Limited
(“Plentiful”, a 62% indirect subsidiary of the Company),
RECO Wisteria Private Limited (“RECO”, an independent
third party), Hongkong and Shanghai Land Capital
Ltd. (“Venture Manager”, a 60% indirect subsidiary
of the Company) and HSL Shanghai Office Partners |
Limited (the “Venture”) entered into the Subscription and
Shareholders’ Agreement, pursuant to which Plentiful will
subscribe for 0.45 shares of the Venture at US$4,500
and RECO will subscribe for 2.55 shares of the Venture
at US$25,500 (the “Transaction”). The Transaction was
completed on 1st June 2018, the Venture is owned as to
15% by Plentiful and 85% by RECO.

The Venture will focus on acquiring under-utilised office
buildings in prime locations in Shanghai with value-add
potential, and implementing value enhancement with
efficient capital expenditure and other asset management
initiatives. Following completion and upon request by the
Venture Manager, RECO and Plentiful have agreed to
contribute further capital of up to an aggregate amount of
US$350,000,000 on a pro rata basis for operation of the
Venture. The maximum commitment from Plentiful shall
be US$52,500,000, while the maximum commitment
from RECO shall be US$297,500,000.

The Venture will be accounted for in the consolidated
financial statements of the Company as an investment
in a joint venture and the amount of capital contribution
provided by the Group will be recognised in its
consolidated financial statements.

On 1st June 2018, the Venture’s indirect wholly-owned
subsidiaries entered into certain agreements with
independent third parties for the acquisition of an office
building and commercial plaza located at Shanghai,
the PRC at a consideration of RMB3,226,000,000 in
which RMB1,550,000,000 will be funded by the equity
of the Venture and the remaining will be funded by
debt financing. As such, Plentiful Praise shall contribute
RMB232,500,000 which is 15% of RMB1,550,000,000.

On 13th June 2018, the Group entered into a
5-year loan facility agreement for a loan amounting
to HK$380,000,000 for the purpose of funding the
commitment.

41
(a)

mE

e B SRR M R

B&EE
BIIHBRERE

RZZE—-—NFWHA+NH AR
Al-EBHWAERQAA(E®R] AQ
Al Z 62%fE # M & 2 \]) » RECO
Wisteria Private Limited ([RECO] -
BWYE=F) BEAHWEELAEBERA
AI(TEEER Al XRF Z260%MHE
%M B AAE) RHSL Shanghai Office
Partners | L|m|ted(fﬁ:\ ESDI R
BEBRERBE K 8 ?ﬁ H# LA
4,5003 T R E%JJ:%E’]O 45 % f% 12

MRECO#S LA 25,5003 JT 32 i 1 % &
255 (TZRB]) cZRXHR
—E-N\FRXA—HEK " EHE
B E15% MRECOH B 1 %85%

=

TEBETRRBUR EESESHE
FRAXEBEAEEBEEHINERE
WTEREREAREREMEEE
BERE  URAEE - TXNERED
EER AENK  RECONM B % It
1 # *ﬁéﬁa—yé#%o,ooo,ooo
ETTUELEEE - B Ee RER
52,500,000% JT ° ﬁﬁRECOE’%%% A
297,500,0003 T °

EEBUNELEEENRERAR
EMBHRRAR $§§lﬁ§$§§ﬁﬁ
RESAPHHRRTER -

RZZE—NEA—B t%EZM
E2EWBRARIRBIE =77
ETHEARBOLAPRE B2
—ERABREERES KERA
R #3,226,000,0007T - HH AR &
155OOOOOOO7EH#EEJJ:%Z%)\%
S MAKKEZREBLRES

At ’\E%Hﬁﬁﬁ/\ﬁm232500,000
ot A ARMEA1,550,000,00070H)15% ©

RZE-NFRAT=H TEEB
ZEAGENETEKN —BERPRAFH
EXEE & - B3R /380,000,000
BT o
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41 Subsequent events (Continued)

(b) Acquisition of 50% equity interest of TVSC

On 30th April 2018, NatSteel Holdings Pte. Ltd.
(“NatSteel”), VSC Steel Processing Limited (“VSC
Processing”, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company), VSC Steel Processing Holdings Limited
(an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company),
the Company and TVSC entered into an agreement for
certain arrangement in relation to TVSC, among others,
(i) each of NatSteel and VSC Processing has agreed to
subscribe for 45,000,000 shares, respectively, in the
share capital of TVSC (the “Share Subscriptions”); and
(i) following the completion of the Share Subscriptions,
NatSteel shall transfer to VSC Processing the legal
and beneficial interests of all its shares of TVSC held or
owned by NatSteel at a nominal consideration of HK$1
payable by VSC Processing.

The transfer of shares from NatSteel to VSC Processing
was completed on 9th May 2018, since then TVSC
has become an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company.
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